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Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 (this “Annual Report” or

» e ” o

“Report”) to “we,” “us,” “the Company,” “MetaVia” and “our” refer to MetaVia Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries.
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements that address future
operating performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future are forward-looking statements, including without limitation,
our expectations regarding our ability to execute our commercial strategy; our expectations regarding the sufficiency of our existing cash on hand to fund our
operations; the timeline for regulatory submissions, regulatory steps and potential regulatory approval of our current and future product candidates; the ability to
realize the benefits of the license agreement with Dong-A ST Co., Ltd., a related party (“Dong-A”), including the impact on our future financial and operating
results; the ability to integrate the product candidates into our business in a timely and cost-efficient manner; the cooperation of our contract manufacturers,
clinical study partners and others involved in the development of our current and future product candidates; our ability to initiate clinical trials on a timely basis;
our planned clinical trials and our ability to recruit subjects for our clinical trials; the costs related to the license agreement, known and unknown, including costs
of any litigation or regulatory actions relating to the license agreement; the changes in applicable laws or regulations; and the effects of changes to our stock price
on the terms of the license agreement and any future fundraising and other risks and uncertainties described in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”).

Forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations and assumptions about future events, which are inherently subject to uncertainties,
risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. These statements may be identified by words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “ongoing,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” or the negative of these terms or other
comparable terminology, although not all forward-looking statements contain these words. In addition, statements that “we believe,” “we expect,” “we anticipate”
and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this
Annual Report and management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable as and when made. However, you should not place undue reliance
on forward-looking statements because they speak only as of the date when made. We undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to
reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results or expectations, except as required by law.

2 .

We operate in an evolving environment. New risk factors and uncertainties may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risk factors
and uncertainties. We may not achieve the plans, projections or expectations disclosed in forward-looking statements, and actual results, developments or events
could differ materially from those disclosed in the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties,
including without limitation, the possibility that regulatory authorities do not accept our applications or approve the marketing of our products, the possibility we
may be unable to raise the funds necessary for the development and commercialization of our products, and those described in our filings with the SEC.



Summary Risk Factors

Our business is subject to a number of risks, as fully described in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report. The principal factors and uncertainties
include, among others:

We have incurred net losses since inception, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. We require additional
capital to accomplish our business plan and the failure to obtain necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay,
limit, reduce or terminate our operations.

As we do not generate any revenue, we are dependent on working capital to fund our business plan, and raising additional capital may cause dilution to
existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our securityholders could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
Adverse global economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition and liquidity.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications
that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Public opinion and scrutiny of treatments for obesity and overweight patients may impact public perception of our Company and DA-1726, or may
adversely affect our ability to conduct our business and our business plans.

We may be required to make significant payments under the 2022 License Agreement.
Even if we obtain favorable clinical results, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize DA-1241 and DA-1726.

Preliminary, interim and topline data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become
available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

Results of earlier clinical trials may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials.

Product candidates may cause undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their marketing approval, limit the commercial profile of an approved
label, or result in significant negative consequences following marketing approval, if any, including marketing withdrawal.

Our efforts to discover drug candidates beyond our current drug candidates may not succeed, and any drug candidates we recommend for clinical
development may not actually begin clinical trials.

Delays in our clinical trials may lead to a delay in the submission of marketing approval applications and jeopardize our ability to potentially receive
approvals and generate revenues from the sale of our products.

We may develop DA-1241 and DA-1726, and potentially future product candidates, in combination with other therapies, which exposes us to additional
risks.

Any collaboration arrangement that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our ability to develop and
commercialize our current and potential future drug candidates.

Enrollment and retention of patients in clinical trials is an expensive and time-consuming process and could be made more difficult or rendered
impossible by multiple factors outside our control, including difficulties in identifying patients with MASH and significant competition for recruiting
such patients in clinical trials.

We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before or more successfully than we
do.

Our commercial success depends upon attaining significant market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved, among hospitals, physicians,
patients and healthcare payors.



‘We may engage in strategic transactions that could impact on our liquidity, increase our expenses and present significant distractions to our management.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and could limit commercialization of any product candidate that we
may develop.

If we or our third-party manufacturers fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or
penalties or incur costs that could have an adverse effect on the success of our business.

We rely and will continue to rely on collaborative partners regarding the development of our research programs and product candidates.

We are subject to U.S. and certain foreign export and import controls, sanctions, embargoes, anti-corruption laws, and anti-money laundering laws and
regulations. Compliance with these legal standards could impair our ability to compete in domestic and international markets. We can face criminal
liability and other serious consequences for violations which can harm our business.

We have relied and will rely on third-party clinical research organizations (CROs) to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials. If these CROs do
not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our
product candidates and our business could be substantially harmed.

We rely on third parties to manufacture our product candidates and preclinical and clinical drug supplies.

We may engage in future acquisitions, mergers or in-licenses and out-licenses of technology that could disrupt our business, cause dilution to the
organization’s stockholders and harm our financial condition and operating results.

We may form or seek strategic alliances or enter into additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such
alliances or licensing arrangements.

If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be harmed.
‘We may not be able to protect or practice our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
‘We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

Our trade secrets are difficult to protect and if we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position
would be harmed.

We currently have a small number of employees and consultants, and our future success depends on our ability to retain our executive officers and to
attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

The price of our common stock may be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for holders of our common stock.
Our largest stockholder may use its significant interest to take actions not supported by our other stockholders.

We may fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, such that our common stock may be delisted and the price of our common
stock and our ability to access the capital markets could be negatively impacted.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that could, if not remediated, result in material misstatements in
our financial statements or impair our ability to produce accurate and timely consolidated financial statements.

Our business and operations may suffer in the event of system failures or other unplanned events.



Item 1.

Part I

Business

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company focused primarily on developing novel pharmaceuticals to treat cardiometabolic diseases. MetaVia has two
programs focused primarily on the treatment of metabolic dysfunction-associated steatohepatitis (“MASH”) and obesity.

DA-1241 is a novel G-Protein-Coupled Receptor 119 (“GPR119”) agonist with development optionality as a standalone and/or combination
therapy for both MASH and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (“T2DM”). Agonism of GPR119 in the gut promotes the release of key gut peptides,
glucagon-like peptide-1 (“GLP-17), glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (“GIP”), and peptide YY (“PYY”). These peptides play a
further role in glucose metabolism, lipid metabolism and weight loss. DA-1241 has demonstrated beneficial effects on glucose, lipid profile and
liver inflammation, as demonstrated during in-vivo preclinical studies. The therapeutic potential of DA-1241 has been demonstrated in multiple
preclinical animal models of MASH and T2DM where DA-1241 reduced hepatic steatosis, inflammation, fibrosis, and improved glucose control.

o In Phase la and 1b human trials, DA-1241 was well tolerated in both healthy volunteers and those with T2DM.

o We initiated a Phase 2a clinical trial in 2023 with the goal of establishing the mechanism of action and efficacy of DA-1241 in the
treatment of MASH and to evaluate trends for T2DM. This is the first-in-human MASH trial for DA-1241. In November 2024, we
completed the last patient last visit for the Phase 2a clinical trial.

o In December 2024, we announced positive top-line 16-week results from the two-part Phase 2a clinical trial in patients with presumed MASH.
o We are expecting to finalize the Clinical Study Report (“CSR”) of the Phase 2a clinical trial in the first half of 2025.

DA-1726 is a novel oxyntomodulin (“OXM”) analogue functioning as a GLP-1 receptor (“GLPIR”) and glucagon receptor (“GCGR”) dual
agonist for the treatment of obesity that is designed to be administered once weekly subcutaneously. With the activation of the dual agonist,
weight loss may be achieved by GLPIR reducing appetite while GCGR increases energy expenditure. DA-1726 has a well understood mechanism
and, in preclinical mice models, resulted in improved weight loss compared to semaglutide and tirzepatide.

o We initiated a Phase 1 trial in 2024 with the goal of establishing the safety and tolerability of DA-1726 while exploring the mechanism
of action and efficacy of DA-1726 in the treatment of obesity. This is the first-in-human trial for DA-1726.

o In September 2024, we announced positive top-line data from the planned single ascending dose (“SAD”) Part 1 of our Phase 1 trial
evaluating DA-1726 while an additional SAD study and multiple-ascending dose (“MAD”) study were ongoing.

o We are expecting top-line results from the MAD Part 2 study of our Phase [ trial in April 2025.

While we focus our financial resources and management’s attention on the development of DA-1241 and DA-1726, we also have four legacy therapeutic
programs designed to impact a range of indications in viral, neurodegenerative and cardiometabolic diseases which we are not planning to advance
development on and continue to consider for out-licensing and divestiture opportunities:

ANAOO1, a proprietary oral niclosamide formulation for the treatment of patients with moderate COVID-19.

NB-01 for the treatment for painful diabetic neuropathy (“PDN”). In July 2024, we entered into an exclusive out-license agreement with MThera
Pharma Co., LTD. (“MThera”) to provide MThera with the rights to NB-01 for the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy.

NB-02 for the treatment of cognitive impairment.



o  Gemcabene for the treatment of dyslipidemia.

Our operations have consisted principally of performing research and development (“R&D”) activities, preclinical developments, clinical trials, and raising
capital. Our activities are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including failing to secure additional funding before sustainable revenues and profit from
operations are achieved and other risks listed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to discover and develop novel therapeutics designed to impact a range of indications primarily in cardiometabolic diseases. The key elements of our
business strategy to achieve this goal include:

o Advance DA-1241 through the FDA regulatory process to obtain approval for the treatment of MASH. Successful completion of the Phase 2a
trial is designed to establish the mechanism of action and an early signal of efficacy in MASH and T2DM, which will allow us to seek initiation
of a Phase 2b trial as monotherapy or in combination with GLP1R or other therapeutic candidates.

o  Pursuit for DA-1241 combination therapy. The Phase 2a Part 2 trial showed DA-1241’s strong potential for monotherapy as well as the potential
for combination therapy with its strong safety signals. With the successful proof of concept demonstrated in the Phase 2a trial, we plan to explore
other combination therapies that can benefit from the mechanism of action of DA-1241 and to expand the target efficacy of DA-1241 for the
treatment of MASH.

o Advance DA-1726 through the FDA regulatory process to obtain approval for the treatment of obesity. Explore various avenues to advance
DA-1726 through the FDA approval process, including seeking ways to expedite clinical trials and conducting non-clinical studies.

®  Pursue additional pipelines and/or other business opportunities. With both DA-1241 and DA-1726 in clinical trials, we plan to explore adding
(i) clinical stage product candidates to diversify and enrich our pipeline and/or (ii) other technologies.

Our Pipeline

Our focus is on two cardiometabolic assets. Our lead asset DA-1241, is a GPR119 agonist, in Phase 2a trial for treatment of MASH. Our second asset is
DA-1726, a GLP-1 receptor and glucagon receptor dual agonist, in Phase 1 for treatment of obesity. The following illustrates the current status of our
assets as of filing date of this Annual Report.
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DA-1241 Treatment of MASH

DA-1241 is a potential first-in-class GPR119 agonist with therapeutic potential for MASH and T2DM that is designed to be orally administered once a
day. Two Phase 1 clinical trials for the treatment of T2DM have been completed and a Phase 2a trial for the treatment of MASH is ongoing in the U.S. In
November 2024, we completed the last patient last visit for Phase 2a trial. In December 2024, we announced positive top-line 16-week results from the two-part
Phase 2a clinical trial in patients with presumed MASH. We are expecting to finalize the CSR of the Phase 2a trial in the first half of 2025.

DA-1241 is a novel chemical drug candidate selectively activating GPR119 which has shown consistent target-related mechanisms and glucose-lowering
effects from nonclinical studies in Phase 1b exploratory clinical trials in patients with T2DM in the U.S. GPR119 is known to be a regulator of both blood
glucose and lipid levels. Non-clinical studies suggest DA-1241 selectively activates GPR119, stimulates the secretion of insulin and incretin hormones
such as GLP-1, and thereby reduces plasma glucose levels without hypoglycemia risk and lowers plasma lipids levels of both triglycerides and cholesterol.
Moreover, impaired insulin action and lipid metabolism which are frequently observed in T2DM patients are highly associated with the pathogenesis of
steatosis and inflammation in MASH. Extensive non-clinical studies have



shown DA-1241 has therapeutic potential for the reduction in hepatic steatosis, inflammation, fibrosis, and improved glucose control regardless of body
weight reduction.

MASH Overview

MASH is a severe form of metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease (“MASLD”) characterized by inflammation and fibrosis in the liver that
can progress to cirrhosis, liver failure, hepatocellular carcinoma and death. MASLD was formerly known as nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (“NAFLD”)
and was changed by the AASLD and its European and Latin American counterparts. Patients with MASH are at increased risk of liver damage and other
complications. Fibrosis is generally reversible in its early-to-mid stages. However, late-stage fibrosis can be irreversible in the absence of therapy and
prevents the liver from performing its natural functions.

The prevalence of MASLD, which affects approximately 30% of the global population, and MASH, which develops in approximately 12% to 14% of
MASLD patients, is growing and is driven primarily by the worldwide obesity epidemic. Over the past three decades, the global prevalence of MASLD
has grown substantially from 17.6% (1990) to 23.4% (2019), with an average increase of about 1.0% annually. The critical pathophysiologic mechanisms
underlying the development and progression of MASH include reduced ability to handle lipids, increased insulin resistance, injury to hepatocytes and liver
fibrosis in response to hepatocyte injury. Patients with MASH frequently have other significant metabolic co-morbidities such as obesity, hyperglycemia,
dyslipidemia and systemic hypertension (a constellation of which is commonly referred to as metabolic syndrome) and these further contribute to the risk
of cardiovascular disease.

DA-1241 Preclinical Development

Extensive preclinical pharmacology, Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism and Excretion (“ADME”), safety and toxicology studies have been completed
for DA-1241. The pharmacokinetic characteristics of DA-1241 were identified through the full set of preclinical ADME studies. The safety and toxicology
studies completed were: (i) central nervous system, cardiovascular, and respiratory safety in rats and dogs; (ii) a single-dose, 4-week, 13-week and 26-
week oral toxicity studies in rats; (iii) 4-week, 13-week and 39-week oral toxicity studies in dogs; (iv) pre-natal development studies in rats and rabbits;
and (v) genotoxicity tests of in vitro bacterial reverse mutation, chromosome aberration, and in-vivo micronucleus.

Comprehensive non-clinical studies demonstrated DA-1241 distinctively activates GPR119 across species, stimulates the secretion of insulin and GLP-1, a
gut peptide hormone with various metabolic benefits, from the pancreas and intestine, respectively, and thereby reduces postprandial glucose and lipid
levels after single administration to mice. The postprandial hypoglycemic response by DA-1241 observed in wild type mice disappeared in GPR119-
deficient mice, demonstrating target engagement. Notably, DA-1241 treatment did not cause hypoglycemia < 50 mg/dl in overnight fasted mice.

In diabetic mice with hypertriglyceridemia, chronic treatment with DA-1241 lowered fasting and non-fasting blood glucose levels, in which DA-1241
prevented pancreatic beta cell loss and preserved pancreatic function. Moreover, DA-1241 treatment decreased hepatic lipid accumulation in addition to
plasma triglycerides levels at the same dose levels. When a DPP4 inhibitor was cotreated with DA-1241 to prolong the biological half-life of plasma GLP-
1, plasma concentrations of active GLP-1 increased more than those due to degradation blockade with DPP4 inhibitors, and thereby potentiation of GLP-1
action further improved glucose and lipid metabolism compared to each treatment alone.

In a non-diabetic mouse model with pre-established dyslipidemia, DA-1241 completely reduced plasma and hepatic triglycerides to normal control levels
and also decreased plasma LDL-cholesterol, independent of glycemic control. Comprehensive mechanism studies have shown that the lipid-lowering
effects of DA-1241 are due in part to inhibiting lipid synthesis in the liver and interfering with dietary lipid transport in the intestine.

With regard to the MASH indication, DA-1241 has been shown to improve fatty liver in various types of mouse models with metabolic diseases.
Thereafter, therapeutic potential for treating MASH has been evaluated in several MASH mice models with different pathophysiology. Among them, the
STAM-MASH mouse model exhibits mild fatty liver and moderate liver inflammation/fibrosis and is rapidly chemically induced. DA-1241 improved
hepatic inflammation and fibrosis, showing a decrease in MASLD activity score and relative fibrotic area of the liver compared to the vehicle-treated
control. Diet-induced obesity (“DIO”)-MASH mice are chronically induced through a Western diet and are characterized by marked fatty liver and mild to
moderate hepatic inflammation/fibrosis. In DIO-MASH mice, DA-1241 improved hepatic steatosis, inflammation, and fibrosis assessed by histological
and biochemical methods regardless of body weight reduction. Of note, DA-1241 improved systemic inflammatory status with reduced plasma
inflammatory cytokines (TNFa, IL6) and chemokines (CCL2, CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL10) contributing to tissue damage. Therefore, DA-1241 treatment
reduced the levels of plasma liver enzymes (ALT, AST), which were increased due to liver tissue



damage in DIO-MASH mice. In mice with metabolic diseases, the effects of DA-1241 on the MASH phenotypes (steatosis, inflammation, and fibrosis in
the liver) are enhanced by the co-treatment with a DPP4 inhibitor compared to each treatment alone due to potentiated GLP-1 actions.

Result of Phase 1 U.S. Clinical Trial for DA-1241

Completed Phase 1a and 1b trials in the U.S. healthy subjects. The first-in-humans Phase 1a study was a double-blind, placebo controlled, SAD, single-center
study in 60 healthy male volunteers to evaluate the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics (“PK”), pharmacodynamics (“PD”), and interaction effect with
metformin. Each cohort was given a single oral dose of 12.5 mg, 25 mg, 50 mg, 100 mg, 200 mg, and 400 mg DA-1241 or placebo tablets. The dose level
of DA-1241 for the interaction effect (“IE”) assessment of metformin on the PK of DA-1241 was 100 mg. Therefore, the IE cohort had 2 separate
treatment periods. Subjects in the IE cohort received DA-1241 100 mg or placebo alone in Treatment Period 1, and DA-1241 100 mg or placebo with 500
mg metformin (IR formulation) in Treatment Period 2. DA-1241 was well tolerated over a dose range of 12.5 mg to 400 mg. There was no effect of
concomitant administration of metformin on DA-1241 PK parameters.

Phase 1b, Part 1 was a double-blind placebo-controlled, MAD, single-center study of DA-1241 in healthy subjects. Overall, 24 male subjects were blinded
and randomized to receive DA-1241: 50 mg, 100 mg or 200 mg or placebo, as single daily oral doses for 28 days. Safety data reviews and dose escalation
decisions between cohorts took place after all subjects of an ongoing cohort had completed procedures through day 14. All doses tested were well
tolerated. There were no Serious Adverse Events (“SAEs”) and no discontinuations due to Adverse Events (“AEs”).

Completed Phase 1b trial in the U.S. T2DM patients. The Phase 1b study was designed as a placebo and active comparator (sitagliptin 100 mg)-controlled,
double-blind, randomized, multi-center study with an objective of evaluating whether DA-1241 delivers improved glucose-lowering efficacy in 83 diabetic
patients. Patients were treated with placebo, sitagliptin 100 mg or DA-1241 25 mg, 50 mg and 100 mg once daily for 8 weeks, in combination with stable
doses of metformin (13~19 patients/group). In the mixed meal tolerance test to evaluate the ability to reduce postprandial glucose through GPR119
activation, the incremental AUEo-4h of plasma glucose (“iAUE”) upon nutrient ingestion was measured and compared. Eight-week treatment of DA-1241
25 mg, 50 mg and 100 mg showed the changes of +6.3%, -2.0% and -13.8% in iAUE levels from the baseline and DA-1241 100 mg showed similar blood
glucose improvement with that of sitagliptin 100 mg (-9.0%), and it outperformed placebo (+10.5%).

Exploratory P1b Study in the U.S.: Glucose-Lowering Effects
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In the parameters of glycemic variability measured with a Continuous Glucose Monitoring system and fasting plasma glucose, the glucose-lowering
efficacy by DA-1241 was similar to that of sitagliptin. Moreover, the time-in-range, the percentage of how long blood glucose value is within 70~180
mg/dL, was increased by mitigating the hypoglycemia risk and duration of hyperglycemia whereas such time-in-range was reduced in the placebo group.

Single administration or 8-week repeated administration of DA-1241 increased secretion of gut peptide hormones such as GLP-1, GIP and PYY in
gastrointestinal tracts after taking meals. The amount of secretion of such hormones increased in proportion to the extent of exposure to DA-1241.



Exploratory P1b Study in the U.S.: Target-related Biomarker Change
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In terms of safety, no clinically significant adverse events were observed following the 8-week treatment, confirming the tolerability of DA-1241, and the
bodyweight showed a tendency to decrease.

DA-1241 Phase 2a Trial

We are currently finalizing the CSR on a Phase 2a trial in the U.S. MASH Phase 2a is a 16-week, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled,
parallel arm clinical trial to establish safety and an early signal of efficacy in MASH as a next-generation competitive oral agent while we follow the trend for
T2DM. The trial completed the last patient last visit in November 2024 and topline results were disclosed in December 2024. A total of 109 patients were
randomized, while 95 patients completed the dosing. These patients were randomized into four treatment groups and dosed with: DA-1241 50 mg, DA-1241 100
mg, DA-1241 100 mg/Sitagliptin 100 mg, or Placebo in a 1:2:2:2 ratio. The primary efficacy endpoint for the study is the change from baseline in the alanine
transaminase (“ALT”) levels at week 16. The secondary efficacy endpoints evaluate changes in the following at week 16 including: proportion of subjects with
normalization of ALT level of < 30 TU/L; relative percent change liver fat fraction from baseline; absolute change in liver fat from baseline; proportion of subjects
with a 30% or more reduction in liver fat from baseline; change in aspartate transaminase (“AST”), gamma glutamyl transpeptidase, and alkaline phosphatase
from baseline; change in hemoglobin Alc (“HbAlc”) (%); change in NAFLD Fibrosis Score from baseline; liver stiffness measurement assessed by FibroScan®
from baseline; and change in FAST (FibroScan - AST) from baseline. Safety will be evaluated by monitoring AEs including determination of SAEs and AEs
leading to discontinuation and laboratory abnormalities as characterized by type, frequency, timing, severity (mild, moderate, severe), seriousness and relationship
to DA-1241, vital signs measurements, clinical laboratory tests and electrocardiogram assessments.

Topline results from the Phase 2a Study. We have reported positive top-line 16-week results from the two-part Phase 2a clinical trial in patients with presumed
MASH in December 2024. Part 1 of this Phase 2a trial is exploring DA-1241, a novel GPR119 agonist compared to placebo, while Part 2 is investigating the
efficacy of DA-1241 in combination with sitagliptin, a DPP-4 inhibitor. An overview of the top-line 16-week results from the two-part Phase 2a clinical trial is
included below:

Overview of the Topline Results

®  Achieved primary efficacy endpoint. DA-1241 100 mg showed statistically significant reductions in ALT levels at weeks 4 and 8 (p = 0.0159 and p =
0.0342, respectively) and a near statistically significant reduction (p = 0.0506) at week 16 compared to placebo.

o  Normalized ALT levels in 16 weeks. DA-1241 50 mg showed a statistically significant improvement in the normalization of ALT levels compared to
placebo, with an odds ratio of 10.500 (p = 0.0487).

o Direct hepatic effect shown by significant improvements in CAP score and FAST score. DA-1241 100 mg and DA-1241 100 mg + Sitagliptin 100 mg
showed significant improvements in the CAP score compared to placebo (p=0.0308 and p=0.0452, respectively). DA-1241 100 mg in combination with
Sitagliptin 100 mg showed a statistically significant reduction in the FAST score compared to placebo (p = 0.0416).



e Additional glycemic control with significant reduction of HbAIc in 16 weeks. DA-1241 100 mg and DA-1241 100 mg in combination with Sitagliptin 100
mg showed significant reductions in HbAlc from baseline at Week 16 compared to the placebo group (p = 0.0179 and p = 0.0050, respectively).

o  Strong safety signal compared to competition. DA-1241 was shown to be very well tolerated with mostly mild AEs and no drug related SAEs in the
treatment groups with no treatment emergent adverse events (“TEAEs”) leading to study drug discontinuation.

Primary Efficacy Endpoint

LS Mean ALT Changes from Baseline (U/L)

Placebo gﬁééﬁ?’;é 2% gl I%l ;r P value vs. D;AO_ ﬁgl P value ng(_)li‘;l P value vs.
(N=23) O PBO s vs. PBO (N PBO
Baseline Mean 68.4 63.2 65.8 57.2
Week 4 LS Mean -1.51 -8.38 -9.63 -13.44
(95% CI) (-8.23,5.21) (-13.89, -2.87)* 0-1195 (-18.90, -0.35)* 0.1622 (:20.32, -6.57)* 0.0159¢
Week 8 LS Mean 0.13 -10.27 -11.05 -12.25
(95% CI) (-7.83, 8.09) (-16.80, -3.73)* iy (-22.04, -0.05)* 0.1030 (-20.40, -4.10)* il
Week 16 LS
-4.70 -8.24 -16.81 -18.09
(91;{/’”31) (-14.05, 4.65) (-15.91,-0.57)* 0.5624 (-29.72, -3.89)* 0.1345 (-27.67, -8.52)* 0.0506
0

* Confidence interval excludes 0, suggesting a statistically meaningful difference.
T p <0.05 vs. placeboLS Mean ALT Changes from Baseline (U/L)
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Notable Secondary Endpoints

Proportion of Subjects with Normalized ALT <30 TU/L at Week 16

Placebo DA-1241 100 mg + DA-1241 DA-1241
Number of Subjects, n (N=23) Sitagliptin 100 mg 50 mg 100 mg
(N=34) (N=12) (N=22)
<30, n (%) 1 (4.3%) 3 (8.8%) 4 (33.3%) 4 (18.2%)
Odds Ratio 2.423 10.500F 5.600
(p value) (0.4576) (0.0487)1 (0.1402)
T p <0.05 vs. placebo
LS Mean CAP, VCTE, FAST score Changes from Baseline at Week 16
Placebo DA-1241 100 mg + P value vs. DA-1241 P value vs. DA-1241 P value vs.
(N=23) Sitagliptin 100 mg PBO 50 mg PBO 100 mg PBO
(N=34) (N=12) (N=22)
Baseline Mean (dB/m) 3474 344.1 347.3 336.0
Week 16 LS Mean
-2.32 -20.62 . -8.94 -24.32
CAp(ggf,’/rec(f)B/m) (-16.17, 11.52) (-31.99, -9.26)* 0.04521 (-28.08, 10.20) 0.5787 (38.54,-1010)% | 00308F
0
Baseline Mean (kPa) 10.00 9.89 10.71 10.32
Week 16 LS Mean
0.29 -1.45 -1.40 0.00
VCT(Eg SS(;‘“CCI)(kPa) (-1.31, 1.89) (-2.77,-0.13)* 0.0997 (-3.62,0.83) 0.2257 (-1.64, 1.64) 08051
0
Baseline Mean 0.555 0.564 0.604 0.538
Week 16 LS Mean
-0.09 -0.19 -0.17 -0.19
FAST score (-0.17, -0.01)* (:0.26, -0.13)* 0.04167F (0.28, -0.06)* 0.2429 (027, 0.11)* 0.0704
(95% CI)
* Confidence interval excludes 0, suggesting a statistically meaningful difference.
T p <0.05 vs. placebo
LS Mean HbA I1¢ Changes from Baseline at Week 16 (%),
Placebo D.A_12.4 ! 100 mg + P value vs. DA-1241 P value vs. DA-1241 P value vs.
(N=23) Sitagliptin 100 mg PBO 50 mg PBO 100 mg PBO
(N=34) (N=12) (N=22)
Baseline Mean 6.78 6.51 6.58 7.01
Week 16 LS Mean -0.10 -0.52 -0.24 -0.48
(95% CI) (-0.23, 0.44) (-0.80, -0.25)* 0.0050¢ (-0.70, 0.22) 0.2357 (-0.82,-0.13) * 0.0179¢

* Confidence interval excludes 0, suggesting a statistically meaningful difference.

T p <0.05 vs. placebo
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LS Mean CAP, FAST, HbA lc score Changes from Baseline at Week 16

CAP Score CFB (dB/m) VCTE Score CFB (kPa) FAST Score CFB
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Overall TEAE Summary
DA-1241 100 mg
+Sigliptin 1001 b 1og) DA-1241
Placebo (N:§ 6) 50 mg 100 mg
N (%) (N=32) (N=14) (N=26)
Subjects with any Treatment Related AE 9 (28.1%) 10 ( 27.8%) 4 (28.6%) 9 (34.6%)
Mild 8 (25.0%) 9 (25.0%) 4 (28.6%) 8 (30.8%)
Moderate 1(3.1%) 1(2.8%) 0 1(3.8%)
Severe 0 0 0 0
Subjects with any Treatment related SAE 0 0 0 0
Subjects with any TEAE leading to o
study discontinuation * 0 (2l 0 0
Subjects with any TEAE leading to o
study drug discontinuation 1(3.1%) 0 0 0

DA-1726 Treatment of Obesity

DA-1726 is a novel OXM analogue functioning as a GLPIR and GCGR dual agonist. It is a long-acting, novel peptide drug candidate, with a Phase 1
investigational new drug (“IND”) approved by the FDA with therapeutic potential for obesity. Activation of GLPIR contributes to central anorexic effect
(appetite suppression) and activation of GCGR peripherally enhances basal metabolic rate. Accordingly, non-clinical studies have shown that DA-1726 not
only reduces food intake but also increases energy expenditure even at the basal resting state, leading to persistent weight loss in diet-induced obese mice
and rats. DA-1726 directly lowers blood glucose and lipid levels in addition to the accompanying metabolic improvement by weight loss. Weight

reduction is closely related to the alleviation of fatty liver. Having
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stabilized the fragile peptide through several unique modifications, DA-1726 is predicted to be available as a once-weekly regimen to humans.
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Physiological effects of oxyntomodulin

Background

Obesity is a disease caused by abnormal or excessive fat accumulation due to an imbalance in energy intake and consumption over a long period of time.
According to the World Health Organization (“WHO?”), in 2022, there were 2.5 billion adults (18 years and older), and approximately 43% of all adults
were overweight and 890 million, or approximately 16%, were living with obesity. In 2024, the NCD Risk Factor Collaboration published findings that
estimate that more than one billion people in the world are now living with obesity and nearly 3 billion people are living with either overweight or obesity.
The comorbidities of obesity include T2DM, cardiovascular disease, hypertension and MASH, and the risk of these diseases is higher in obese people than
in non-obese people.

The treatment of obesity can be divided into three mechanisms: (i) appetite control, (ii) absorption inhibition, and (iii) increase of energy expenditure.
Currently, there are a total of eight approved anti-obesity medications on the market, of which the most notable are Novo Nordisk semaglutide
(WEGOVYw®) and Eli Lilly tirzepatid (Zepbound®). However, there is still an unmet need in the market as there are no agents with a mechanism to reduce
body weight by increasing energy expenditure in peripheral tissue.

Oxyntomodulin is a gut hormone released from intestinal L-cells after meal ingestion and represents dual agonism of the GLP-1 receptor and glucagon
receptor. It increases energy expenditure through glucagon receptors and increases appetite suppression and insulin secretion through GLP-1 receptor
activation, ultimately inducing weight loss and glycemic control. The furthest stage of development of any oxyntomodulin analogue are survudutide and
mazdutide in Phase 3 trials in the U.S., mazdutide which is approved in China, and in Phase 2 trial in the U.S. for the treatment of obesity and MASH.

DA-1726 Preclinical Development

Animal toxicity studies of DA-1726 for the Phase 1 clinical trial have been completed. The toxicity studies included safety pharmacology studies and
general toxicity studies.

The mode of action and pharmacological effects of DA-1726 were evaluated in various disease models. In high-fat diet-induced obese (“HF-DIO”) mice,
DA-1726 showed more body weight loss and increasing energy expenditure than a pair-fed group.
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Mean energy expenditure:
DA-1726*# 16.6 kcal/kg/hr
Pair-Fed 12.4 kcal/kg/hr
HF Control 12.6 kcal/kg/hr

Mechanism of action

In comparison with GLP-1 analogue, DA-1726 represented superior body weight loss compared to semaglutide in HF-DIO obese mice. At the end of the
study, DA-1726 significantly increased the expression of thermogenic genes (Ucp-1 and Ppargcla) in epididymal fat and increased white adipose tissue
browning was histologically confirmed. In addition, DA-1726 inhibited adipocyte differentiation in vitro. Taken together, it suggests the GCGR action of
DA-1726 contributes to reduced adiposity by enhancing fat burning and inhibiting adipogenesis. DA-1726 effectively reduced postprandial glucose
excursion in acute oral glucose tolerance test in normal mice. Notably, DA-1726 showed similar glycemic control and excellent weight loss to semaglutide
in obese mice with hyperglycemia. Simultaneously, DA-1726 enhanced insulin sensitivity by significantly reducing fasting plasma insulin and glucose
levels. Meanwhile, DA-1726 showed no hypoglycemia risk in overnight fasted normal mice, unlike semaglutide.

In comparison with GLP-1 receptor and GIP dual agonist tirzepatide in HF-DIO obese MASH mice, DA-1726 showed similar body weight while
consuming significantly more food. In addition, DA-1726 reduced plasma clinical chemistry parameters (ALT, AST, ALP, T-BIL, glucose, and cholesterol)
and hepatic fat accumulation.

BWL in HF-DIO Obese Mice Cumulative Food intake in HF-DIO Plasma Biochemistry Analysis
Obese Mice DA-1726 vs Tirzepatide (12 DA-1726 vs Tirzepatide (.2)

6 4 & B 12 14 18 W 2 26

reatment Dcr
e High Fat Contrel
Tizepatide (50 nmolkgl®
= Tiezepatide (100 nmolfig)*
== DA 1726 (100 nmolkg)®
—8—DA- 1726200 nmol/ka}*

Notes: HF-DIO (High Fat-Diet Induced Obesity); BWL (Body Weight Loss)

1. Dong-A Study Report 105497. All treatments given as twice weekly injections.

2. JungI-H et al. 83rd Meeting of the American Diabetes Association. 2023; Abstract 1668-P.
Weight loss and plasma biochemistry analysis
DA-1726 Phase 1 Trial

We are currently conducting a Phase 1 trial in the U.S. The Phase 1 trial, a first-in-human trial, is a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, two-part
study to investigate the safety, tolerability, PK, and PD of single and multiple ascending doses of DA-1726 in obese, otherwise healthy subjects. In September
2024, we announced positive top-line data from the
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planned SAD Part 1 of our Phase 1 trial evaluating DA-1726. Thereafter, we completed enrollment in the SAD Part 1 additional cohort. In the SAD Part 1 study,
the patients were enrolled into one of six cohorts and each cohort was randomized in a 6:3 ratio of DA-1726 or placebo. Part 2 is a MAD study, with the first
patient dosed in June 2024 and is expected to enroll approximately 36 participants, who will be enrolled into four cohorts, each to receive 4 weekly
administrations of DA-1726 or placebo. We are expecting top-line results from the MAD Part 2 study of our Phase 1 trial in April 2025.

The primary endpoint for SAD Part 1 and MAD Part 2 of our Phase 1 trial is to assess the safety and tolerability of DA-1726 by monitoring AEs, SAEs, TEAEs
and AEs leading to treatment discontinuation. Secondary endpoints include the PK of DA-1726, assessed via serum concentrations over time and metabolite
profiling at the highest doses of DA-1726. Exploratory endpoints will include the effect of DA-1726 on metabolic parameters, cardiac parameters, fasting lipid
levels, body weight, waist circumference and body mass index, among others.

Other Product Candidates

We are focusing our financial resources and management’s attention on the development of DA-1241 for MASH and DA-1726 for obesity. We also have four
legacy therapeutic programs, ANA0OOI, NB-01, NB-02 and Gemcabene, that we are not planning to advance development on. We continue to consider out-
licensing and divestiture opportunities with respect to the following legacy programs.

ANAO001 Treatment of COVID-19 Symptoms

ANAOOL1 is a proprietary oral niclosamide formulation that was developed as a treatment for patients with moderate COVID-19 (patients not requiring
ventilators). Niclosamide is a potential oral antiviral and anti-inflammatory agent with a long history of use and documented safety in humans.
Niclosamide has demonstrated both antiviral and immunomodulatory activity with possible downstream effects on coagulation abnormalities observed in
COVID-19. In preclinical research by an independent academic group published in Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, niclosamide inhibited viral
replication in vitro and was more potent than remdesivir and chloroquine in the same assay.

We believe ANAOOI has the potential to reduce the viral load and inflammation associated with cytokine dysregulation, acute respiratory distress
syndrome, and coagulation abnormalities and thus improve time to clinical improvement as defined as hospital discharge recorded using the WHO
Ordinal Scale for Clinical Improvement.

NB-01

NB-01 addresses a range of mechanisms that contribute to neuropathic pain and nerve degeneration in diabetic and other peripheral neuropathies. These
include a decrease in key inflammatory markers, restoration of nerve growth factor (“NGF”) to normal levels, and reduction of advanced glycation end
products (“AGEs”). Inflammation is a central factor in pain generation and other peripheral neurodegenerative diseases. NB-01 reduces levels of TNF-
o and IL-6, both of which are markers of inflammation. NB-01 also reduces AGEs, which are implicated in diabetes-related complications. AGE
inhibitors have been clinically tested as potential treatments for these complications. NB-01 also restores the neurotrophin NGF, which is involved in
nerve growth, maintenance and repair. NB-01 has been shown in animal models to alleviate symptoms of PDN.

In July 2024, we entered into an exclusive out-license agreement with MThera to provide MThera with the rights to NB-01 for the treatment of
painful diabetic neuropathy.

NB-02

NB-02 was being developed for the symptomatic and disease modifying treatment of neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease
and tauopathies. In preclinical studies, we have observed the mechanisms of action of NB-02 to include inhibition of tau phosphorylation,
acetylcholinesterase (“AChE”) inhibition, inhibition of Ab toxicity and amyloid plaque formation, and anti-inflammatory effects. Specifically, in
both in-vitro and in-vivo models, NB-02 has demonstrated inhibition of AChE, as is the case with three of the current products on the market to treat the
symptoms of Alzheimer's disease. It has also demonstrated inhibition of tau phosphorylation and of amyloid plaque formation, both mechanisms believed
to contribute to the progression of neurodegenerative diseases.

Gemcabene

Gemcabene is a novel, once-daily, oral therapy designed to target known lipid metabolic pathways to lower levels of LDL-C, hsCRP and triglycerides.
Gemcabene shares many of the attributes of statin therapy, including broad therapeutic applications, convenient route of administration and cost-effective
manufacturing process, but does not appear to increase the reporting of myalgia when added to statin therapy. Gemcabene has also shown additive LDL-
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C lowering in combination with stable low, moderate or high-intensity statin therapy. As described below, we licensed global rights to Gemcabene from
Pfizer in April 2011. Under the terms of the amended and restated license agreement with Pfizer, Pfizer may terminate the license if we have not made a
commercial sale by April 2024.

License Agreements
License Agreement with Dong-A for DA-1241 and DA-1726

In September 2022, we entered into an exclusive license agreement (the “2022 License Agreement”) and a Securities Purchase Agreement with Dong-A (the
“Securities Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2022 License Agreement and subject to the conditions set forth therein, we received an exclusive global license
(excluding the Republic of Korea) to two proprietary compounds for specified indications. The 2022 License Agreement covers the rights to a compound referred
to as DA-1241 for treatment of MASH and T2DM and a compound referred to as DA-1726 for treatment of obesity and MASH. The 2022 License Agreement
became effective in November 2022.

Under the terms of the 2022 License Agreement, Dong-A (i) received an upfront payment which was settled in 2,200 shares of preferred stock of MetaVia
designated as “Series A Convertible Preferred Stock”, par value $0.001 per share (which was subsequently converted into shares of our common stock), under the
terms of the Securities Purchase Agreement; (ii) is eligible to receive single digit royalties on net sales received by us from the commercial sale of products
covering DA-1241 or DA-1726; (iii) is eligible to receive commercial-based milestone payments, dependent upon the achievement of specific commercial
developments; and (iv) is eligible to receive regulatory milestone payments of up to $178.0 million for DA-1726 and $138.0 million for DA-1241, dependent
upon the achievement of specific regulatory developments.

Our obligation to pay royalties to Dong-A under the 2022 License Agreement continues on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis until the
later of (i) the fifth anniversary of the first commercial sale of such product in such country, (ii) the expiration or termination of the last valid patent claim
that covers a product in such country and (iii) the loss of regulatory exclusivity for such product in such jurisdiction. Either we or Dong-A may terminate
the 2022 License Agreement (i) if the other party is in material breach of the agreement and has not cured or started to cure the breach within 60 days of
notice of such breach; provided that if the breach cannot be cured within the 60-day period and the breaching party started to remedy the breach, if such
breach is not cured within 90 days of receipt of written notice or (ii) if the other party is subject to a bankruptcy or insolvency event (subject to a 30-day
cure period in the case of a petition for bankruptcy).

License Agreement with Dong-A for NB-01

In January 2018, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Dong-A (the “2018 License Agreement”), which agreement was amended in April 2018 and
July 2019. Under the terms of the 2018 License Agreement, we obtained an exclusive, royalty-bearing, worldwide (except for the Republic of Korea) license to
make, use, offer to sell, sell and import products covered by certain Dong-A intellectual property rights in its proprietary compound designated as DA-9801 (NB-
01). Our license rights cover any and all applications and markets for the therapeutic, health, nutrition or well-being of humans. We may grant sublicenses to any
affiliate or third party. We are responsible for all future patent prosecution costs.

We are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop products for use in each of the U.S., the European Union, Japan and the People's Republic of
China. If we terminate, discontinue or suspend, for longer than 12 months, the development of any product listed as a product under development in any
development plan provided to Dong-A (other than for reasons of force majeure or requirements of applicable law), then we are deemed in breach of this
development obligation, and Dong-A may terminate the 2018 License Agreement for cause after a 60-day cure period.

The term of the 2018 License Agreement continues on a country-by country and product-by-product basis until the later of the 12th anniversary of the first
commercial sale of such product in such country or expiration or termination of the last valid claim within the patent rights covering the product. Either Dong-A
or we may terminate the 2018 License Agreement if the other party is in material breach of the 2018 License Agreement and has not cured or started to cure the
breach within 60 days of notice of such breach, or is subject to a bankruptcy or insolvency event. We may terminate the 2018 License Agreement at any time upon
90 days’ written notice.

Pfizer License Agreement

In August 2018, an Amended and Restated License Agreement with Pfizer (the “Pfizer Agreement”) for the research, development, manufacture and
commercialization of Gemcabene went into effect. The Pfizer Agreement amended and restated the prior license agreement with Pfizer dated April 16, 2011. The
Pfizer Agreement includes milestone payments to Pfizer and tiered royalties on a country-by-country basis based upon the annual amount of net sales as specified
in the Pfizer Agreement.
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The Pfizer Agreement will expire upon expiration of the last royalty term. Either party may terminate the Pfizer Agreement for the other party's material breach
following a cure period or immediately upon certain insolvency events relating to the other party. Pfizer may immediately terminate the Pfizer Agreement in the
event that (i) we or any of our affiliates or sublicenses contests or challenges, or supports or assists any third party to contest or challenge, Pfizer's ownership of or
rights in, or the validity, enforceability or scope of any of the patents licensed under the Pfizer Agreement or (ii) we or any of our affiliates or sublicensees fails to
achieve the first commercial sale in at least one country by April 16, 2024.

License Agreement with Beijing SL

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of a License and Collaboration Agreement dated July 23, 2019 (the “Beijing SL License Agreement”), Beijing SL has an
exclusive royalty-bearing license to research, develop, manufacture and commercialize pharmaceutical products comprising, as an active ingredient, Gemcabene
in the territory comprised of mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. We retain all rights to Gemcabene outside of the territory. The parties have agreed
to collaborate with respect to development and commercialization activities under the Beijing SL License Agreement through a joint steering committee
composed of an equal number of representatives of Beijing SL and us.

Pursuant to the Beijing SL License Agreement, Beijing SL made an upfront gross payment of $2.5 million. Additionally, with respect to each licensed
product, Beijing SL will make payments for specified developmental and regulatory milestones and payments for specified global net sales milestones.
Beijing SL will also be obligated to pay tiered royalties ranging from the mid-teens to twenty percent on the net sales of all licensed products in the
territory until the latest of (a) the date on which any applicable regulatory exclusivity with respect to such Licensed Product expires in such region, (b) the
expiration or abandonment of the last valid patent claim or joint patent claim covering such Licensed Product in each region and (c) the fifth anniversary
of the first commercial sale of such Licensed Product in such region.

Either party may terminate the Beijing SL License Agreement (x) with written notice for the other party's material breach following a cure period or (y) if the
other party becomes subject to certain insolvency proceedings. In addition, we may terminate the Beijing SL License Agreement in its entirety if Beijing SL or its
affiliates or sublicensees commence a proceeding challenging the validity, enforceability or scope of any of our patents.

Manufacturing

Dong-A manufactures clinical quantities of DA-1241 and DA-1726 in accordance with the 2022 License Agreement and the Shared Services Agreement.
As MetaVia advances the product candidates through clinical development our current plans are to continue to use third parties including Dong-A to
manufacture drug products for our trials.

Among the conditions for FDA approval of a pharmaceutical product is the requirement that the manufacturer’s quality control and manufacturing
procedures conform to cGMP. The FDA typically inspects manufacturing facilities every two years. In complying with cGMP regulations, pharmaceutical
manufacturers must expend resources and time to ensure compliance with product specifications as well as production, record keeping, quality control,
reporting and other requirements.

Competition

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary
products. We face potential competition from many different sources, including major pharmaceutical, specialty pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies,
academic institutions, governmental agencies and public and private research institutions. Any product candidates that we successfully develop and
commercialize will compete with existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future.

Some of our competitors may have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in R&D, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials,
obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Other firms may also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific
and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and patient enrollment for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or
necessary for our programs. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic industries may result in even more resources being
concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors with us, particularly
through collaborative arrangements with large established companies.

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize therapeutics that are safer, more effective, have fewer
or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we may develop. Our competitors also may obtain marketing
approvals for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval for our products, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market
position before we are able to
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enter the market. In addition, our ability to compete may be affected because in some cases insurers or other third-party payors, including government programs,
seek to encourage the use of generic products. This may have the effect of making branded products less attractive from a cost perspective to buyers.

DA-1241 MASH

There is only one approved treatment of MASH, Madrigal Pharmaceuticals’ thyroid hormone receptor beta agonist. However, various therapeutics are
used off-label for the treatment of MASH, including vitamin E (an antioxidant), insulin sensitizers (e.g., metformin, pioglitazone), antihyperlipidemic
agents (e.g., gemfibrozil), pentoxifylline and ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA). There are several product candidates in Phase 3 or earlier clinical or
preclinical development for the treatment of MASH, including Novo Nordisk’s GLPIR agonist semaglutide, Eli Lilly’s GLP1R and GIP dual agonist
tirzepatide, Akero Therapeutics’s FGF21 analog efruxifermin, 89 Bio’s FGF21 analog pegaozafermin, Inventiva’s pan-peroxisome proliferator-activated
receptor agonist, Boston Pharmaceuticals and Roche’s fibroblast growth factor 21 analogs, and farnesoid X receptor agonists from Intercept
Pharmaceuticals Inc., among others. Additional pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies with product candidates in development for the treatment of
MASH include AstraZeneca plc, Altimmune Inc., Boehringer Ingelheim GmbH, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Durect Corporation, Galectin
Therapeutics Inc., Galmed Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Immuron Ltd., Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Islet Sciences, Inc., MediciNova, Inc., NGM
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., NuSirt Sciences Inc., Pfizer Inc., Viking Therapeutics, Inc. and Zydus Pharmaceuticals (USA) Inc. MASH is a complex disease
and we believe that it is unlikely that any one therapeutic option will be optimal for every MASH patient.

DA-1726-Obesity

Due to the growing overweight and obesity epidemic and consumer demand, there are many competitors in the field of obesity treatment. Obesity
treatments range from behavioral modification to drugs, medical devices and surgery, generally as a last resort. If DA-1726 were approved for obesity, our
primary competition in the obesity treatment market would currently be from approved and marketed products, including semaglutide (WEGOVY®) and
tirzepatide (Zepbound®). Further competition could arise from products currently in development, including among others, with GLP1R/GCGR dual
agonists, Boehringer Ingelheim, Merck/Hanmi Pharmaceutical, AstraZeneca, Altimmune, Innovent Biologics/Eli Lilly, Carmot and D&D Pharma; with
GLP1R/GCGR/GIP triple agonists, Hanmi Pharmaceutical and Eli Lilly; Amgen with its GLP-1R agonist/GIP antagonist antibody; and Novo Nordisk with
Amylin and Amylin-GLP-1 combination. To the extent our product candidate is approved for obesity, the commercial success of our product will also
depend on our ability to demonstrate benefits over the then-prevailing standard of care. Finally, morbidly obese patients sometimes undergo a gastric
bypass procedure, with salutary effects on the many co-morbid conditions of obesity.

DA-1241 T2DM

There are a number of large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that currently market and sell products or are pursuing the development of
products for T2DM. Some of these competitive products and therapies are based on scientific approaches that are the same as or similar to our approach
and others are based on entirely different approaches. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public and
private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development,
manufacturing and commercialization.

Intellectual Property

The term of individual patents depends upon the legal term of the patents in the countries in which they are obtained. In most countries, including the U.S., the
patent term is 20 years from the earliest filing date of a non-provisional patent application or a Patent Cooperation Treaty (“PCT”) application to which a U.S.
application claims priority. In the U.S., a patent's term may be lengthened by patent term adjustment, which compensates a patentee for administrative delays by
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) in examining and granting a patent, or may be shortened if a patent is terminally disclaimed over an earlier filed
patent. The term of a U.S. patent that covers a drug or biological product may also be eligible for patent term extension when approval from the FDA is granted,
provided statutory and regulatory requirements are met. In the future, if our product candidates receive approval from the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities,
we expect to apply for patent term extensions on issued patents covering those products, depending upon the length of the clinical trials for each drug and/or other
factors. There can be no assurance that any of our pending patent applications will be issued or that we will benefit from any patent term extension or other
favorable adjustment to the term of any patents.
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As with other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, our ability to maintain and solidify our proprietary and intellectual property position for our product
candidates, preclinical compounds, and core technologies will depend on our success in obtaining effective patent claims and enforcing those claims if granted.
However, patent applications that we may file or license from third parties may not result in the issuance of patents. We also cannot predict the breadth of claims
that may be allowed or enforced in our patents. Any issued patents that we may receive in the future may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. For
example, prior to March 16, 2013, in the U.S., patent applications were subject to a “first to invent” rule of law. Applications effectively filed on or after March
16, 2013, are subject to a “first to file” rule of law.

Discoveries reported in the scientific literature often lag the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the U.S. and other jurisdictions are typically not
published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. We cannot be certain that any existing application will be subject to the “first to file” or “first to
invent” rule of law, that we or our licensor were the first to make the inventions claimed in our existing patent portfolio subject to the prior laws, or that we or our
licensor were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions subject to the new laws. If third parties prepare and file patent applications in the U.S. that
also claim technology we have claimed in our patents or patent applications, we may have to participate in interference or derivation proceedings and/or
invalidation proceedings in the USPTO, which could result in substantial costs to us, even if the eventual outcome is favorable. In addition, because of the
extensive time required for clinical development and regulatory review of a product candidate we may develop, it is possible that, before any of our product
candidates can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period following commercialization, thereby reducing any
advantage of any such patent.

In addition to patents, we rely upon unpatented trade secrets, know-how, and continuing technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive
position. We seek to protect our proprietary information, in part, by using confidentiality agreements with our collaborators, scientific advisors, employees and
consultants, and invention assignment agreements with our employees. We also have agreements requiring assignment of inventions with selected consultants,
scientific advisors and collaborators. Confidentiality agreements are designed to protect our proprietary information and, in the case of agreements or clauses
requiring invention assignment, to grant us ownership of technologies that are developed under those agreements.

Our ability to commercialize product candidates depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our product
candidates. Our policy is to seek to protect our intellectual property position by, among other methods, filing U.S. and foreign patent applications related to the
technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development and implementation of our business strategy. We also rely on trade secrets, know-
how and continuing technological innovation to develop and maintain our proprietary position.

DA-1241

As of December 31, 2024, our exclusively licensed intellectual property portfolio for DA-1241 includes one U.S. patent directed to both composition of
matter and a process of making the composition, one U.S. non-provisional patent directed to both composition of matter and use of the composition and
two U.S. non-provisional patent applications directed to both composition of matter and use of the composition. The two issued U.S. patents are expected
to expire in July 2035, excluding any additional term for patent term adjustments or patent term extensions. MetaVia’s intellectual property portfolio for
DA-1241 also includes 28 non-U.S. patents and 33 non-U.S. patent applications directed to composition of matter and/or use of the composition. The
issued non-U.S. patents are expected to expire between 2035 and 2041, excluding any additional term for patent term adjustments or patent term
extensions. The jurisdictions for the non-U.S. patents and applications include: Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, the European Patent Convention, Hong
Kong, India, Israel, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, Philippines, Republic of Korea, Russia, Saudi Arabia, and Singapore.

DA-1726

As of December 31, 2024, our exclusively licensed intellectual property portfolio for DA-1726 includes two U.S. patents directed to both composition of
matter and use of the composition and one U.S. non-provisional patent application directed to both composition of matter and use of the composition. The
issued U.S. patent is expected to expire in 2041, excluding any additional term for patent term adjustments or patent term extensions. Our intellectual
property portfolio for DA-1726 also includes 19 non-U.S. patents and 16 non-U.S. patent applications directed to composition of matter and/or use of the
composition. The issued non-U.S. patents is expected to expire between 2038 and 2041, excluding any additional term for patent term adjustments or
patent term extensions. The jurisdictions for the non-U.S. patents and applications include: Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, the European Patent
Convention, Hong Kong, India, Israel, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, Philippines, Republic of Korea, Russia, Saudi Arabia and Singapore.
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NB-01 and NB-02

As of December 31, 2024, our intellectual property portfolio for NB-01 included four issued U.S. patents, comprised of one patent directed to composition of
matter and three patents directed to use, and 66 granted foreign patents, all related to our NB-01 programs in peripheral neuropathy and neurological conditions.
The issued patents have expiration dates ranging between October 2026 and July 2038. The jurisdictions for the foreign patents and application include: Brazil,
China, the European Patent Convention (including Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania,
Spain, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United Kingdom), India, Japan, the Republic of Korea, and Russia.

As of December 31, 2024, our intellectual property portfolio for NB-02 included three issued U.S. patents, 74 foreign granted patents, and 1 foreign patent
application. The issued patents have an expiration date between December 2035 and March 2040. The jurisdictions for the foreign patents and applications
include: Brazil, Canada, China, the European Patent Convention (including Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Netherlands,
Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United Kingdom), India, Japan, Mexico, the Republic of Korea, and Russia. All of the above
patents and patent applications for NB-02 were assigned to us.

Gemcabene

As of December 31, 2024, our intellectual property portfolio relating to Gemcabene included six issued U.S. patents, two pending U.S. patent applications, and
two foreign-granted patents directed to formulations, compositions, methods of use and methods of manufacturing. The Gemcabene intellectual property are
MTVA owned for the issued and pending patents in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. The issued patents in the U.S. and foreign countries have expiration dates
between December 2031 and November 2040.

Government Regulation

Government authorities at the federal, state and local level in the U.S. and in other countries extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development,
testing, manufacture (including any manufacturing changes), packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution, marketing, post-
approval monitoring and reporting, import and export of pharmaceutical products, such as those we are developing.

U.S. FDA Regulation

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products are subject to regulation by the FDA. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) and other federal and state
statutes and regulations, govern, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, storage, recordkeeping, approval, labeling, promotion and
marketing, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting, sampling, and import and export of pharmaceutical products. Failure to comply with applicable
U.S. requirements may subject a company to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, such as imposition of clinical holds, refusal by the FDA to approve
pending new drug applications (“NDAs”), warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions,
fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement, civil penalties and criminal prosecution.

Pharmaceutical product development in the U.S. typically involves preclinical or other nonclinical laboratory and animal tests and the submission to the FDA of
an IND application, which must become effective before clinical testing may commence. For commercial approval, the sponsor must submit adequate tests by all
methods reasonably applicable to show that the drug is safe for use under the conditions prescribed, recommended or suggested in the proposed labeling. The
sponsor must also submit substantial evidence, generally consisting of adequate, well-controlled clinical trials to establish that the drug will have the effect it
purports or is represented to have under the conditions of use prescribed, recommended or suggested in the proposed labeling. Satisfaction of the FDA pre-market
approval requirements typically takes many years and the actual time required may vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product
or disease.

Nonclinical tests include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry, formulation and toxicity, as well as animal studies to assess the characteristics and potential
safety and efficacy of the product. The conduct of the nonclinical tests must comply with federal requirements, including the FDA's good laboratory practice
regulations and the regulations of the U.S. Department of Agriculture implementing the Animal Welfare Act. The results of nonclinical testing are submitted to
the FDA as part of an IND along with other information, including information about product chemistry, manufacturing and controls, and a proposed clinical trial
protocol. Long-term nonclinical tests, such as animal studies of reproductive toxicity and carcinogenicity, may continue after the IND is submitted.

A 30-day waiting period after the submission of each IND is required prior to the commencement of clinical testing in humans. If the FDA has not imposed a
clinical hold on the IND or otherwise commented or questioned the IND within this 30-day period, the clinical trial proposed in the IND may begin.
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Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of a qualified investigator. Clinical
trials must be conducted: (i) in compliance with federal regulations, (ii) in compliance with good clinical practice (“GCP”), an international standard meant to
protect the rights and health of patients and to define the roles of clinical trial sponsors, administrators and monitors (some of which have been codified into U.S.
federal regulations), and (iii) under protocols detailing the objectives of the trial, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be
evaluated. Each protocol involving testing on U.S. patients and subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.

The FDA may order the temporary, or permanent, discontinuation of a clinical trial at any time or impose other sanctions if it believes that the clinical trial either
is not being conducted in accordance with the FDA requirements or presents an unacceptable risk to the clinical trial patients. The trial protocol and informed
consent information for patients in clinical trials must also be submitted to an institutional review board (“IRB”) at each site where a trial will be conducted for
approval. An IRB may also require the clinical trial at the site to be halted, either temporarily or permanently, for failure to comply with the IRB's requirements or
may impose other conditions. Clinical trials to support NDAs for marketing approval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may
overlap. In general, in Phase 1, the initial introduction of the drug into healthy human volunteers or, in some cases, patients, the drug is tested to assess
metabolism, pharmacokinetics, pharmacological actions, side effects associated with increasing doses and, if possible, early evidence of effectiveness. Phase 2
usually involves trials in a limited patient population to determine the effectiveness of the drug for a particular indication, dosage tolerance and optimum dosage,
and to identify common adverse effects and safety risks. If a compound demonstrates evidence of effectiveness and an acceptable safety profile in Phase 2
evaluations, Phase 3 trials are undertaken to obtain additional information about clinical efficacy and safety in a larger number of patients, typically at
geographically dispersed clinical trial sites, to permit the FDA to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the drug and to provide adequate information for
the labeling of the drug. In most cases, the FDA requires two adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 clinical trials to demonstrate the efficacy of the drug. The FDA
may, however, determine that a drug is effective based on one clinical trial plus confirmatory evidence. Only a small percentage of investigational drugs complete
all three phases and obtain marketing approval. In some cases, the FDA may require post-market studies, known as Phase 4 studies, to be conducted as a condition
of approval to gather additional information on the drug's effect in various populations and any side effects associated with long-term use. Depending on the risks
posed by the drugs, other post-market requirements may be imposed.

After completion of the required clinical testing, an NDA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDA approval of the NDA is required before marketing of the
product may begin in the U.S. The NDA must include the results of all preclinical, clinical, and other testing and a compilation of data relating to the product's
pharmacology, chemistry, manufacture, and controls. The cost of preparing and submitting an NDA is substantial. Under federal law, the submission of most
NDAs is additionally subject to a substantial application user fee.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of an NDA to determine whether the application will be accepted for filing based on the agency's threshold determination
that it is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review. Under the statute and
implementing regulations, the FDA has 180 days (the initial review cycle) from the date of filing to issue either an approval letter or a complete response letter,
unless the review period is adjusted by mutual agreement between the FDA and the applicant or as a result of the applicant submitting a major amendment. In
practice, the performance goals established pursuant to the Prescription Drug User Fee Act have effectively extended the initial review cycle beyond 180 days.
The FDA's current performance goals call for the FDA to complete review of 90% of standard (non-priority) NDAs within 10 months of receipt and within six
months for priority NDAs, but two additional months are added to standard and priority NDAs for a new molecular entity (“NME”) such that the 10-month and 6-
month action goals for NME applications begin to run from the 60-day filing date rather than from receipt of the original NDA submission.

The FDA may also refer applications for novel drug products, or drug products that present difficult questions of safety or efficacy, to an advisory committee,
which is typically a panel that includes clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be
approved. The FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory committee, but it generally follows such recommendations. Before approving an NDA,
the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP. Additionally, the FDA will inspect the facility or the facilities at which
the drug is manufactured. The FDA will not approve the product unless compliance with current good manufacturing practice (GMP) regulations is satisfactory,
and the NDA contains data that provides substantial evidence that the drug is safe and effective in the indication studied.

After the FDA evaluates the NDA and the manufacturing facilities, it issues either an approval letter or a complete response letter. A complete response letter
(CRL) generally outlines the deficiencies in the submission and may require substantial additional testing or information, in order for the FDA to reconsider the
application. If, or when, those deficiencies have been addressed to the FDA's satisfaction in a resubmission of the NDA, the FDA will issue an approval letter. The
FDA has
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committed to reviewing 90% of NDA resubmissions within two to six months depending on the type of information included in response to the deficiencies
identified in the CRL.

An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing information for specific indications. As a condition of NDA approval,
the FDA may require a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS”) to help ensure that the benefits of the drug outweigh the potential risks. REMS can
include medication guides, communication plans for health care professionals, and/or elements to assure safe use (“ETASU”). ETASU can include, but is not
limited to, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only under certain circumstances, special monitoring, and the use of patient
registries. The requirement for a REMS can materially affect the potential market and profitability of the drug. Moreover, product approval may require
substantial post-approval testing and surveillance to monitor the drug's safety or efficacy. Once granted, product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with
regulatory standards is not maintained, or problems are identified following initial marketing.

Fast Track Designation and Accelerated Approval

The FDA is authorized to facilitate the development, and expedite the review, of drugs that are intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening disease or
condition for which there is no effective treatment, and which demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition. These programs include
Fast Track designation, breakthrough therapy designation, priority review designation and other accelerated approvals.

Under the Fast Track Program, the sponsor of a new drug candidate that is intended to treat a serious condition may request that the FDA designate the drug
candidate for a specific indication as a Fast Track drug concurrent with, or after, the filing of the IND for the drug candidate. The FDA must determine if the drug
candidate qualifies for Fast Track designation within 60 days of receipt of the sponsor's request. In addition to other benefits such as the ability to engage in more
frequent interactions with the FDA, the FDA may initiate review of sections of a Fast Track drug's NDA before the application is complete. This rolling review is
available if the applicant provides, and the FDA approves, a schedule for the submission of the remaining information and the applicant pays applicable user fees.
However, the FDA's time period goal for reviewing an application does not begin until the last section of the NDA is submitted. Additionally, the Fast Track
designation may be withdrawn by the FDA if the FDA believes that the designation is no longer supported by data emerging in the clinical trial process.

In 2012, Congress enacted the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act. This law established a new regulatory program for products designated
as “breakthrough therapies.” A product may be designated as a breakthrough therapy if it is intended, either alone or in combination with one or more other drugs,
to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product may demonstrate substantial improvement
over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. The FDA may
take certain actions with respect to designated breakthrough therapies, including: holding meetings with the sponsor throughout the development process;
providing timely advice to the product sponsor regarding development and approval; involving more senior staff in the review process; assigning a cross-
disciplinary project lead for the review team; and taking other steps to design the clinical trials in an efficient manner.

The FDA may also designate a product for priority review if it is a drug that treats a serious condition and, if approved, would provide a significant improvement
in safety or effectiveness. The FDA determines at the time that the marketing application is submitted, on a case- by-case basis, whether the proposed drug
represents a significant improvement when compared with other available therapies. Significant improvement may be illustrated by evidence of increased
effectiveness in the treatment of a condition, elimination or substantial reduction of a treatment-limiting drug reaction, documented enhancement of patient
compliance that may lead to improvement in serious outcomes, or evidence of safety and effectiveness in a new subpopulation. A priority review designation is
intended to direct overall attention and resources to the evaluation of such applications, and to shorten the FDA's goal for taking action on a marketing application
from ten months to six months.

Under the FDA’s accelerated approval regulations, the FDA may approve a drug for a serious or life-threatening illness that provides meaningful therapeutic
benefit to patients over existing treatments based upon a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint that can be
measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical
benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity or prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. The accelerated approval
regulations are codified within Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations, as Subpart H under Part 314, the part of the FDA regulations covering applications for
FDA approval to market a new drug, and as such the accelerated approval pathway is sometimes referred to as approval under “Subpart H.”

In clinical trials, a surrogate endpoint is a measurement of laboratory or clinical signs of a disease or condition that substitutes for a direct measurement of how a
patient feels, functions or survives. Surrogate endpoints can often be measured more easily or more rapidly than clinical endpoints. A drug candidate approved
under Subpart H is subject to rigorous post-marketing
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compliance requirements, including the completion of Phase 4 or post-approval clinical trials to confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure to conduct
required post-approval studies, or confirm a clinical benefit during post-marketing studies, will allow the FDA to withdraw the drug from the market on an
expedited basis. Unless otherwise informed by the FDA, for an accelerated approval product an applicant must submit to the FDA for consideration during the
pre-approval review period copies of all promotional materials, including promotional labeling as well as advertisements, intended for dissemination or
publication within 120 days following marketing approval. After 120 days following marketing approval, unless otherwise informed by the FDA, the applicant
must submit promotional materials at least 30 days prior to the intended time of initial dissemination of the labeling or initial publication of the advertisement.
The accelerated approval pathway is most often used in settings in which the course of a disease is long, and an extended period of time is required to measure the
intended clinical benefit of a drug, even if the effect on the surrogate or intermediate clinical endpoint occurs rapidly. For example, accelerated approval has been
used extensively in the development and approval of drugs for treatment of a variety of cancers in which the goal of therapy is generally to improve survival or
decrease morbidity and the duration of the typical disease course requires lengthy and sometimes large clinical trials to demonstrate a clinical or survival benefit.

Orphan Drugs

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition generally a disease or condition that
affects fewer than 200,000 individuals. The U.S. Orphan Drug Designation must be requested before submitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orphan drug
designation, the generic identity and trade name, if any, of the drug and its designated use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug designation does not
convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process. The first NDA applicant to receive FDA approval for a particular
active ingredient to treat a particular disease with FDA orphan drug designation is entitled to a seven-year exclusive marketing period in the U.S. for that product,
for that indication. During the seven-year exclusivity period, the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug for the same disease,
except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity. Orphan drug exclusivity does not prevent
the FDA from approving a different drug for the same disease or condition, or the same drug for a different disease or condition. Among the other benefits of
orphan drug designation are tax credits for certain research and a waiver of the NDA application user fee.

Pediatric Information

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act (“PREA”), NDAs or supplements to NDAs must contain data to assess the safety and effectiveness of the drug for the
claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safe
and effective. The FDA may grant full or partial waivers for submission of data, as well as deferrals for several reasons, including a finding that the drug is ready
for approval for use in adults before pediatric studies are complete or that additional safety or effectiveness data needs to be collected before the pediatric studies
begin. Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA does not apply to any drug for an indication for which orphan designation has been granted.

The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act (“BPCA”) provides NDA holders a six-month extension of any exclusivity-patent or non-patent-for a drug if certain
conditions are met. Conditions for exclusivity include the FDA's determination that information relating to the use of a new drug in the pediatric population may
produce health benefits in that population, the FDA making a written request for pediatric studies, and the applicant agreeing to perform, and reporting on, the
requested studies within the statutory timeframe. Applications under the BPCA are treated as priority applications, with all of the benefits that designation confers.

Special Protocol Assessment

A company may reach an agreement with the FDA under the Special Protocol Assessment (“SPA”) process as to the required design and size of clinical trials
intended to form the primary basis of an efficacy claim for a new drug product. According to its performance goals, the FDA seeks to evaluate the protocol within
45 days of the request to assess whether the proposed trial is adequate, and that evaluation may result in discussions and a request for additional information. An
SPA request must be made before the proposed trial begins, and all open issues must be resolved before the trial begins. If a written agreement is reached, it will
be documented and made part of the administrative record. Under the FDCA and FDA guidance implementing the statutory requirement, an SPA is generally
binding on the FDA except in limited circumstances, such as if the FDA identifies a substantial scientific issue essential to determining safety or efficacy after the
study begins, public health concerns emerge that were unrecognized at the time of the protocol assessment, the sponsor and the FDA agree to the change in
writing, or if the study sponsor fails to follow the protocol that was agreed upon with the FDA.
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Disclosure of Clinical Trial Information

Sponsors of clinical trials of certain FDA-regulated products, including prescription drugs, are required to register and disclose certain clinical trial information on
a public website maintained by the U.S. National Institutes of Health (“NIH”). Information related to the product, patient population, phase of investigation, study
sites and investigator, and other aspects of the clinical trial is made public as part of the registration. Sponsors are also obligated to disclose the results of these
trials after completion. Disclosure of the results of these trials can be delayed for up to two years if the sponsor certifies that it is seeking approval of an
unapproved product or that it will file an application for approval of a new indication for an approved product within one year. Competitors may use this publicly
available information to gain knowledge regarding the design and progress of the development programs. Failure to timely register a covered clinical study or to
submit study results as provided for in the law can give rise to civil monetary penalties and also prevent the non-compliant party from receiving future grant funds
from the federal government. Since the NIH's Final Rule on ClinicalTrials.gov registration and reporting requirements became effective in 2017, both NIH and
FDA have signaled the government's willingness to begin enforcing those requirements against clinical trial sponsors who fail to meet those legal obligations,
with FDA releasing a guidance document in August 2020 for certain procedural steps it intends to take when determining whether and how to assess civil
monetary penalties against a non-compliant party.

Post-Approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured, marketed or distributed pursuant to FDA approval decisions are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA, including,
among other things, requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, advertising and promotion, and reporting of
adverse experiences with the product. After approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject
to FDA review and approval before they can be implemented. There also are continuing, annual user fee requirements for any marketed products and related
manufacturing facilities, as well as new application fees for supplemental applications.

In addition, drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture of approved drugs are required to register their facilities with the FDA and state
agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA for compliance with GMP requirements. Prescription drug distribution facilities are
also subject to state licensure, including inspections, by the relevant local regulatory authority. Changes to the manufacturing process, specifications or container
closure system for an approved drug are strictly regulated and often require prior FDA approval before being implemented. FDA regulations also require
investigation and correction of any deviations from GMP and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon the sponsor and others involved in the drug
manufacturing process. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain
GMP compliance and ensure ongoing compliance with other statutory requirements the FDCA, such as the requirements for making manufacturing changes to an
approved NDA.

Thus, even after new drug approval is granted, Regulatory authorities may withdraw that approval or request product recalls if compliance with regulatory
requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a
product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may
result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or
imposition of distribution or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences of regulatory non-compliance include, among other things:

e restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls;

e fines, warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs or supplements to approved NDAs, or suspension or revocation of product license approvals;
e product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or
e injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

As described below, the FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of prescription drug products that are placed on the market. Drugs
may be promoted only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the
laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to
significant penalties.
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The Hatch-Waxman Amendments
Orange Book Listing

In 1984, with passage of the Hatch-Waxman Amendments to the FDCA, Congress authorized the FDA to approve generic drugs that are the same as drugs
previously approved by the FDA under the NDA provisions of the statute. As part of the marketing application process when seeking approval for a new drug
through an NDA, applicants are required to list with the FDA every patent of which claims cover the applicant's product or an approved method of using the
product. Upon approval of a drug, approval information about the drug along with each of the applicant's listed patents is then published in the FDA's Approved
Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, commonly known as the "Orange Book." Pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, drugs listed in
the Orange Book can, in turn, be cited by potential generic competitors in support of approval of an abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”). An ANDA
provides for marketing of a drug product that has the same active ingredients in the same strengths and dosage form as the reference license drug (“RLD”) and has
been shown through bioequivalence testing to be bioequivalent to the RLD. The FDA is responsible for determining that the generic drug is "bioequivalent" to the
innovator drug, although under the statute, a generic drug is bioequivalent to a RLD if "the rate and extent of absorption of the drug do not show a significant
difference from the rate and extent of absorption of the listed drug."

Other than the requirement for bioequivalence testing, ANDA applicants are not required to conduct, or submit results of, preclinical or clinical tests to prove the
safety or effectiveness of their drug product. Drugs approved in this way are most often considered to be therapeutically equivalent to the RLD, are commonly
referred to as "generic equivalents" to the RLD, and can often be substituted by pharmacists under prescriptions written for the original RLD in accordance with
state law. Specifically, upon approval of an ANDA, the FDA indicates whether the generic product is "therapeutically equivalent" to the RLD in the Orange Book.
By operation of certain state laws and numerous health insurance programs, the FDA's designation of therapeutic equivalence in the Orange Book often results in
substitution of the generic drug without the knowledge or consent of either the prescribing physician or the patient.

The Hatch-Waxman Amendments also amended the FDCA to enact Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA, which permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of
the information required for approval comes from studies not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference. A
Section 505(b)(2) applicant may eliminate the need to conduct certain preclinical or clinical studies, if it can establish that reliance on studies conducted for a
previously approved product is scientifically appropriate. The FDA may also require companies to perform additional trials or measurements to support the
change from the approved product. The FDA may then approve the new product for all or some of the label indications for which the referenced product has been
approved, as well as for any new indication sought by the Section 505(b)(2) applicant. With respect to listed patents, patent certification requirements, and the
blocking of follow-on marketing applications for the drug product previously approved under an NDA and listed in the Orange Book-known as the RLD-505(b)
(2) NDA applications and ANDAs are required under the statute and FDA's implementing regulations to follow similar procedures and are subject to similar
conditions. However, only in some cases is a 505(b)(2) NDA-approved drug product determined by FDA to be therapeutically equivalent to the original innovator
RLD.

As part of our own marketing application process, the ANDA/505(b)(2) applicant is required to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listed for the relevant
RLD in the FDA's Orange Book. Specifically, the applicant must certify either that: (i) the required patent information has not been filed; (ii) the listed patent has
expired; (iii) the listed patent has not expired but will expire on a particular date and approval is sought after patent expiration; or (iv) the listed patent is invalid or
will not be infringed by the generic product. The ANDA applicant may also elect to submit a Section VIII statement, certifying that our proposed ANDA or
505(b)(2) labeling does not contain (or carves out) any language regarding the patented method-of-use, rather than certify to a listed method-of-use patent.

If the ANDA/505(b)(2) applicant does not challenge the innovator's listed patents or indicates that it is not seeking approval of a patented method of use, the
ANDA/505(b)(2) application will not be approved by the FDA until all the listed patents claiming the referenced product have expired.

A certification that the new product will not infringe the already approved product's listed patents, or that such patents are invalid, is called a Paragraph IV
certification. If the ANDA/505(b)(2) applicant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant must also send notice of that Paragraph IV
certification to the NDA sponsor and patent holders once FDA accepts the ANDA/505(b)(2) application for filing. The NDA and patent holders may then initiate
a patent infringement lawsuit in response to the notice of the Paragraph IV certification, as provided for in the statute. The filing of a patent infringement lawsuit
within 45 days of receipt of a Paragraph IV certification automatically prevents the FDA from approving the ANDA/505(b)(2) NDA until the earlier of 30
months, expiration of the patent, settlement of the lawsuit, or a decision in the infringement case that is favorable to the ANDA/505(b)(2) applicant.
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Non-Patent Exclusivity

Under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, the FDA also may not approve an ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA until any applicable period of non-patent exclusivity for the
RLD has expired. The FDCA provides a period of five years of non-patent exclusivity for a new drug containing a new chemical entity (“NCE”) which is a drug
that contains no active moiety that has been approved by the FDA in any other NDA. During these five years of marketing exclusivity, the FDA cannot receive
any ANDA or 505(b)(2) application seeking approval of a drug that references a version of the NCE drug.

The FDCA also provides for a period of three years of exclusivity if the NDA includes reports of one or more new clinical investigations, other than
bioavailability or bioequivalence studies, that were conducted by or for the applicant and are essential to the approval of the application. This three-year
exclusivity period often protects changes to a previously approved drug product, such as a new dosage form, route of administration, combination or the addition
of a new indication. During this three-year period of exclusivity, the FDA cannot approve an ANDA or 505(b)(2) application that includes the change.

An ANDA or 505(b)(2) application may be submitted one year before NCE exclusivity expires if a Paragraph IV certification is filed. If there is no listed patent in
the Orange Book, there may not be a Paragraph IV certification requirement, and in such situations, no ANDA or 505(b)(2) application may be filed before the
expiration of the exclusivity period.

Patent Term Extension

After NDA approval, owners of relevant drug patents may apply for up to a five-year patent extension. The allowable patent term extension is calculated as half of
the drug's testing phase—the time between IND submission and NDA submission—and all of the review phase—the time between NDA submission and approval
up to a maximum of five years. The time can be shortened if the FDA determines that the applicant did not pursue approval with due diligence. The total patent
term after the extension may not exceed 14 years from market approval.

For patents that might expire during the application phase, the patent owner may request an interim patent extension. An interim patent extension increases the
patent term by one year and may be renewed up to four times. For each interim patent extension granted, the post-approval patent extension is reduced by one
year. The director of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office must determine that approval of the drug covered by the patent for which a patent extension is being
sought is likely. Interim patent extensions are not available for a drug for which an NDA has not been submitted.

Prescription Drug Marketing Act

As part of the sales and marketing process, pharmaceutical companies frequently provide samples of approved drugs to physicians. The Prescription Drug
Marketing Act (“PDMA”) imposes requirements and limitations upon the provision of drug samples to physicians, as well as prohibits states from licensing
distributors of prescription drugs unless the state licensing program meets certain federal guidelines that include minimum standards for storage, handling and
record keeping. In addition, the PDMA sets forth civil and criminal penalties for violations.

New Legislation and Regulations

From time to time, legislation is drafted, introduced and passed in Congress that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the testing,
approval, manufacturing and marketing of products regulated by the FDA and relevant regulatory authorities outside the U.S. In addition to new legislation,
regulations and policies are often revised or interpreted by regulatory authorities in ways that may significantly affect our business and our product candidates. It
is impossible to predict whether further legislative changes will be enacted or whether regulations, guidance, policies or interpretations will be changed or what
the effect of such changes, if any, may be.

Other U.S. Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

If we obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates and launch them commercially in the U.S., we may be subject to various federal and state laws
targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing and education programs. In
addition, we may be subject to patient privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business. Some of the laws that
may affect our future ability to operate include:

e the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce, or in return for, the purchase or recommendation of an item or service reimbursable under a federal
healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;
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e federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payers that are false or fraudulent;

e the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit executing a
scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program and making false statements relating to healthcare matters;

e HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology and Clinical Health Act and its implementing regulations, which imposes certain
requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

e the federal transparency requirements under the Physician Payments Sunshine Act require manufacturers of FDA-approved drugs, devices, biologics and
medical supplies covered by Medicare or Medicaid to report, on an annual basis, to the Department of Health and Human Services information related to
payments and other transfers of value to physicians, teaching hospitals, and certain advanced non-physician health care practitioners and physician
ownership and investment interests; and

e state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to items or services reimbursed by
any third-party payer, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances,
many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts. Moreover, some state
laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry's voluntary compliance guidelines, or the relevant compliance
guidance promulgated by the federal government, in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians
and other health care providers or marketing expenditures to the extent that those laws impose requirements that are more stringent than the Physician
Payments Sunshine Act.

Europe/Rest of World Government Regulation

In addition to regulations in the U.S., we are and will be subject, either directly or through our potential partners, to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions
governing, among other things, clinical trials and any commercial sales and distribution of our products, if approved.

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain the requisite approvals from regulatory authorities in non-U.S. countries prior to the
commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries.

The approval process varies from country to country and can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to
obtain approval in other countries might differ from and be longer than that required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure
regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

In the European Union, medicinal products are subject to extensive pre- and post-marketing regulation by regulatory authorities at both the European Union and
national levels. Additional rules also apply at the national level to the manufacture, import, export, storage, distribution and sale of controlled substances. In many
European Union. member states the regulatory authority responsible for medicinal products is also responsible for controlled substances. Responsibility is,
however, split in some member states. Generally, any company manufacturing or distributing a medicinal product containing a controlled substance in the
European Union will need to hold a controlled substances license from the competent national authority and will be subject to specific record-keeping and security
obligations. Separate import or export certificates are required for each shipment into or out of the member state.

Clinical Trials and Marketing Approval

Certain countries outside of the U.S. have a process that requires the submission of a clinical trial application much like an IND prior to the commencement of
human clinical trials. In Europe, for example, a clinical trial application (“CTA”) must be submitted to the competent national health authority and to independent
ethics committees in each country in which a company intends to conduct clinical trials. Once the CTA is approved in accordance with a country's requirements
and a company has received favorable ethics committee approval, clinical trial development may proceed in that country.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary from country to country, even though
there is some degree of legal harmonization in the European Union member states resulting from the national implementation of the underlying European Union.
legislation. In all cases, the clinical trials must be
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conducted in accordance with the International Conference on Harmonization guidelines on GCP and other applicable regulatory requirements.

To obtain regulatory approval to place a drug on the market in the European Union, we must submit a marketing authorization application. This application is
similar to the NDA in the U.S., with the exception of, among other things, country-specific document requirements. All application procedures require an
application in the common technical document format, which includes the submission of detailed information about the manufacturing and quality of the product,
and non-clinical and clinical trial information. Drugs can be authorized in the European Union by using (i) the centralized authorization procedure, (ii) the mutual
recognition procedure, (iii) the decentralized procedure or (iv) national authorization procedures.

The European Commission created the centralized procedure for the approval of human drugs to facilitate marketing authorizations that are valid throughout the
European Union and, by extension (after national implementing decisions) in Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway, which, together with European Union member
states, comprise the European Economic Area. Applicants file marketing authorization applications with the EMA, where a relevant scientific committee reviews
them, in most cases the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (“CHMP”). The EMA forwards CHMP opinions to the European Commission, which
uses them as the basis for deciding whether to grant a marketing authorization. This procedure results in a single marketing authorization granted by the European
Commission that is valid across the European Union, as well as in Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway. The centralized procedure is compulsory for human drugs
that: (i) are derived from biotechnology processes, such as genetic engineering, (ii) contain a new active substance indicated for the treatment of certain diseases,
such as HIV/AIDS, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, autoimmune and other immune dysfunctions and viral diseases, (iii) are officially designated
"orphan drugs" (drugs used for rare human diseases) and (iv) are advanced-therapy medicines, such as gene-therapy, somatic cell-therapy or tissue-engineered
medicines. The centralized procedure may, at the voluntary request of the applicant, also be used for human drugs which do not fall within the above-mentioned
categories if the CHMP agrees that (a) the human drug contains a new active substance not yet approved as of November 20, 2005; (b) it constitutes a significant
therapeutic, scientific or technical innovation or (c) authorization under the centralized procedure is in the interests of patients at the European Union level.

Under the centralized procedure in the European Union, the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of a marketing authorization application by the EMA is 210
days (excluding clock stops, when additional written or oral information is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions asked by the CHMP), with
adoption of the actual marketing authorization by the European Commission thereafter. Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional
cases, when a medicinal product is expected to be of major public health interest from the point of view of therapeutic innovation, defined by three cumulative
criteria: the seriousness of the disease to be treated, the absence of an appropriate alternative therapeutic approach, and anticipation of exceptional high
therapeutic benefit. In this circumstance, the EMA ensures that the evaluation for the opinion of the CHMP is completed within 150 days and the opinion is issued
thereafter.

For those medicinal products for which the centralized procedure is not available, the applicant must submit marketing authorization applications to the national
medicines regulators through one of three procedures: (i) the mutual recognition procedure (which must be used if the product has already been authorized in at
least one other European Union member state, and in which the European Union member states are required to grant an authorization recognizing the existing
authorization in the other European Union member state, unless they identify a serious risk to public health), (ii) the decentralized procedure (in which
applications are submitted simultaneously in two or more European Union member states) or (iii) national authorization procedures (which results in a marketing
authorization in a single European Union member state).

Mutual Recognition Procedure

The mutual recognition procedure (“MRP”) for the approval of human drugs is an alternative approach to facilitate individual national marketing authorizations
within the European Union. Basically, the MRP may be applied for all human drugs for which the centralized procedure is not obligatory. The MRP is applicable
to the majority of conventional medicinal products and must be used if the product has already been authorized in one or more member states.

The characteristic of the MRP is that the procedure builds on a pre-existing marketing authorization in a member state of the European Union that is used as a
reference in order to obtain marketing authorizations in other European Union member states. In the MRP, a marketing authorization for a drug already exists in
one or more member states of the European Union and subsequently marketing authorization applications are made in other European Union member states by
referring to the initial marketing authorization. The member state in which the marketing authorization was first granted will then act as the reference member
state. The member states where the marketing authorization is subsequently applied for act as concerned member states. The concerned member states are
required to grant an authorization recognizing the existing authorization in the reference member state unless they identify a serious risk to public health.
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The MRP is based on the principle of mutual recognition by the European Union member states of their respective national marketing authorizations. Based on a
marketing authorization in the reference member state, the applicant may apply for marketing authorizations in other member states. In such cases, the reference
member state shall update its existing assessment report about the drug in 90 days. After the assessment is completed, copies of the report are sent to all member
states, together with the approved summary of product characteristics, labeling and package leaflet. The concerned member states then have 90 days to recognize
the decision of the reference member state and the summary of product characteristics, labeling and package leaflet. National marketing authorizations shall be
granted within 30 days of acknowledgement of the agreement.

If any European Union member state refuses to recognize the marketing authorization by the reference member state, on the grounds of potential serious risk to
public health, the issue will be referred to a coordination group. Within a timeframe of 60 days, member states shall, within the coordination group, make all
efforts to reach a consensus. If this fails, the procedure is submitted to an EMA scientific committee for arbitration. The opinion of this EMA Committee is then
forwarded to the European Commission for the start of the decision-making process. As in the centralized procedure, this process entails consulting various
European Commission Directorates General and the Standing Committee on Human Medicinal Products.

Data and Market Exclusivity in the European Union

In the European Union, NCEs qualify for eight years of data exclusivity upon marketing authorization and an additional two years of market exclusivity. This data
exclusivity, if granted, prevents regulatory authorities in the European Union from referencing the innovator's data to assess a generic (abbreviated) application for
eight years, after which generic marketing authorization can be submitted, and the innovator's data may be referenced, but not approved for two years. The overall
ten-year period will be extended to a maximum of eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing authorization holder obtains an
authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior to their authorization, are held to bring a significant clinical
benefit in comparison with existing therapies. Even if a compound is considered to be a NCE and the sponsor is able to gain the prescribed period of data
exclusivity, another company nevertheless could also market another version of the drug if such company can complete a full marketing authorization application
(“MAA”) with a complete database of pharmaceutical test, preclinical studies and clinical trials and obtain marketing approval of its product.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Sales of pharmaceutical products approved for marketing in the U.S. by the FDA will depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of the products will be
covered by third-party payers, such as government health programs, and commercial insurance and managed health care organizations. These third-party payers
are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. Additionally, the containment of health care costs has become a priority of
federal and state governments, and the prices of drugs have been a focus in this effort. The U.S. government, state legislatures and foreign governments have
shown significant interest in implementing cost-containment programs, including price controls, utilization management and requirements for substitution of
generic products. Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and
measures, could further limit our operating results. If these third-party payers do not consider our products to be cost-effective compared to other available
therapies, they may not cover our products after approval as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell
our products on a profitable basis.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (“MMA”) imposed requirements for the distribution and pricing of prescription
drugs for Medicare beneficiaries and included a major expansion of the prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D. Under Part D, Medicare beneficiaries
may enroll in prescription drug plans offered by private entities that provide coverage of outpatient prescription drugs. Part D is available through both stand-
alone prescription drug benefit plans and prescription drug coverage as a supplement to Medicare Advantage plans. Unlike Medicare Parts A and B, Part D
coverage is not standardized. Part D prescription drug plan sponsors are not required to pay for all covered Part D drugs, and each drug plan can develop its own
drug formulary that identifies which drugs it will cover and at what tier or level. However, Part D prescription drug formularies must include drugs within each
therapeutic category and class of covered Part D drugs, though not necessarily all the drugs in each category or class. Any formulary used by a Part D prescription
drug plan must be developed and reviewed by a pharmacy and therapeutic committee.

Government payment for some of the costs of prescription drugs may increase demand for products for which we receive marketing approval in the U.S.
However, any negotiated prices for our products covered by a Part D prescription drug plan will likely be lower than the prices we might otherwise obtain.
Moreover, while the MMA applies only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payers often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations
in setting their own payment rates. Any reduction in payment that results from the MMA may result in a similar reduction in payments from non-governmental
payers.
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The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the
“ACA”), was enacted with the goal of expanding coverage for the uninsured while at the same time containing overall health care costs. With regard to
pharmaceutical products, among other things, the ACA expanded and increased industry rebates for drugs covered under Medicaid programs and made changes to
the coverage requirements under the Medicare Part D program.

Individual states in the U.S. have also become increasingly active in implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing, including price
or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some
cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are
increasingly using bidding procedures to determine which drugs and suppliers will be included in their healthcare programs. Furthermore, there has been
increased interest by third party payors and governmental authorities in reference pricing systems and publication of discounts and list prices.

In the U.S., Medicare covers certain drug purchases by the elderly and eligible disabled people and introduced a reimbursement methodology based on average
sales prices for physician-administered drugs. In addition, Medicare may limit the number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. Ongoing cost
reduction initiatives and future laws could decrease the coverage and price that we will receive for any approved products. While Medicare beneficiaries are
limited to most elderly and certain disabled individuals, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own
payment rates.

Among the provisions of the ACA of importance or potential importance to our product candidates are the following:
e an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded prescription drugs and biologic products;
e anincrease in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program;

e expansion of healthcare fraud and abuse laws, including the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute, new government investigative powers, and
enhanced penalties for noncompliance;

e anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices;
e extension of manufacturers' Medicaid rebate liability;

e expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs;

e expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public Health Service Act's pharmaceutical pricing program;

® new requirements to report financial arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals (i.e., the Federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, which has
since been expanded to cover additional specified healthcare providers);

e anew requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers and distributors provide to physicians; and

e a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along
with funding for such research.

We expect that the ACA, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in
additional downward pressure on the price that we will receive for any approved product. Any reduction in payments from Medicare or other government
programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may
prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our products.

There remain judicial and political challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. In June 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed the most recent judicial challenge to
the ACA without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the Supreme Court’s decision, President Biden issued an executive order to
initiate a special enrollment period from February 2021 to August 2021 for purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The
executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to health care, including
among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements, and policies that create unnecessary barriers to
obtaining access to health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA.
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. These changes included aggregate reductions to Medicare
payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in April 2013 and, due to subsequent legislative amendments to the statute, including the
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, will remain in effect through 2030, with the exception of a temporary suspension from May 2020 through March 2022, unless
additional Congressional action is taken. In addition, in January 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law, which, among other things,
reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments
to providers from three to five years.

Moreover, there has recently been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has
resulted in several Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to
product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for
pharmaceutical products. The likelihood of success of these and other measures is uncertain.

In addition, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug
pricing vary widely from country to country. For example, some European Union jurisdictions operate positive and negative list systems under which products
may only be marketed once a reimbursement price has been agreed. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these countries may require the
completion of clinical trials that compare the cost-effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently available therapies. Other member states allow
companies to fix their own prices for medicines but monitor and control company profits. Such differences in national pricing regimes may create price
differentials between European Union member states. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for
pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our products. Historically, products launched in the European
Union do not follow price structures of the U.S. In the European Union, the downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription medicines,
has become intense. As a result, barriers to entry of new products are becoming increasingly high and patients are unlikely to use a drug product that is not
reimbursed by their government.

Human Capital

As of March 17, 2025, we had nine full-time (and total) employees, of which five were engaged in R&D functions, three were engaged in general and
administrative (“G&A”) functions, and one was engaged in both R&D and G&A functions. We have no collective bargaining agreements with our employees and
have not experienced any work stoppages. We consider our relationships with our employees to be good.

Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and new full-time
employees. The principal purposes of our equity and cash incentive plans are to attract, retain and reward personnel through the granting of stock-based and cash-
based compensation awards, in order to increase stockholder value and the success of our Company by motivating such individuals to perform to the best of their
abilities and achieve our objectives.

Corporate Information

MetaVia was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in October 2014. Our principal executive offices are located at 545 Concord Avenue, Suite 210,
Cambridge, Massachusetts, 02138. Our website address is www.metaviatx.com. The information contained on or that can be accessed through our website is not a
part of this report.

Additional Information

On our website, we make available, free of charge, our annual, quarterly and current reports, including amendments to such reports, as soon as reasonably
practicable after the Company electronically files such material with, or furnishes such material to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website at www.sec.gov that
contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding us and other companies that file materials with the SEC electronically.

Also available on our website is information relating to our corporate governance and our board of directors, including our corporate governance guidelines; our
code of business conduct; and our board committee charters. We will provide any of the foregoing information without charge upon written request to our
Secretary, MetaVia Inc., 545 Concord Avenue, Suite 210, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before making your decision to invest in shares of our common stock, you should carefully consider
the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this Annual
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Report, including in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. We cannot assure you that any of the events discussed below will not occur.
These events could have a material and adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. If that were to happen, the
trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks related to our financial position and need for capital

We have incurred net losses since inception, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. We require additional
capital to accomplish our business plan and the failure to obtain necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit,
reduce or terminate our operations.

We have experienced net losses and negative cash flows from operating activities since our inception, and we have a net loss of $27.6 million and an accumulated
deficit of $135.9 million as of December 31, 2024. We have concluded that there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
within twelve months from the date the consolidated financial statements were issued. Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an opinion on
our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report that also states that there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. applicable for a going
concern, which assume that we will realize our assets and satisfy our liabilities in the normal course of business. Our consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments to the amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that may be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern.

We expect to incur increasing levels of losses from operating activities for the foreseeable future, particularly as we advance our product candidates through
clinical development. Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity
and working capital. We expect our R&D expenses to increase in connection with our additional planned clinical trials for our product candidates and the
development of other future product candidates we may choose to pursue. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we will
incur significant sales, marketing and outsourced manufacturing expenses in connection with the commercialization of our product candidates. As a result, we
expect to continue to incur significant and increasing losses from operating activities for the foreseeable future. To-date, we have not generated any revenue and
we do not know when, or if, we will generate any revenue. Even if we do become profitable, we may not be able to sustain or increase our profitability on a
quarterly or annual basis. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we obtain marketing approval for, and begin to sell, one or more of our
product candidates. It is possible we will never generate revenue or profit.

Although we are exploring financing opportunities and carefully monitoring the capital markets, we do not yet have any commitments for additional financing and
may not be successful in our efforts to raise additional funds. There can be no assurances that additional financing will be available to us on satisfactory terms, or
at all. If we are unable to raise sufficient additional capital (which is not assured at this time), our business plan may not be accomplished, and we may be forced
to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our operations. For more information about our liquidity and capital resources, see “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Part
11, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

As we do no generate any revenue, we are dependent on working capital to fund our business plan, and raising additional capital may cause dilution to
existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies.

We believe that our existing cash will be sufficient to fund our operations into the third quarter of 2025. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate revenue, we
expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt financing, collaborations, strategic alliances, and marketing, distribution or
licensing arrangements with third parties. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we
believe we have sufficient funds from our current or future expected business plans. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or
convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of current stockholders may be materially diluted, and the terms of such securities could include liquidation
preferences or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our current stockholders. The terms of debt and/or equity financings, if available, may provide
rights senior to those of our common stock and could contain covenants or protective rights that would restrict our operations and potentially impair our
competitiveness, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other
operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing,
distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs
or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financing or
other
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arrangements when needed, we may be required to delay, scale back or discontinue the development and commercialization of one or more of our product
candidates or delay our pursuit of potential in-licenses, out-licenses or acquisitions. If we need to secure additional financing, such additional fundraising efforts
may divert our management and research efforts from our day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our product
candidates.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our securityholders could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

The sale of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could harm the prevailing market price of shares of our
common stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and
at a price that we deem appropriate.

For example, on January 23, 2024, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 relating to the reoffer and resale from time to time of up to 22,629,907 shares of
our common stock by the selling stockholders named therein, and such registration statement was declared effective on January 31, 2024. Additionally, on July
18, 2024, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 relating to the reoffer and resale from time to time of up to 17,175,579 shares of our common stock by the
selling securityholders named therein, and such registration statement was declared effective on July 24, 2024. By exercising their registration rights and selling a
large number of shares of our common stock in reliance on these and other existing registration statements, these securityholders could cause the prevailing
market price of our common stock to decline.

As of December 31, 2024, we had outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 14,483,792 shares of our common stock. Each warrant entitles the holder
thereof to purchase one share of our common stock. To the extent such warrants are exercised, additional shares of our common stock will be issued, which will
result in dilution to the then existing holders of shares our common stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market.

In addition, the shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans will become eligible for sale in the public market once
those shares are issued, subject to provisions relating to various vesting agreements and, in some cases, limitations on volume and manner of sale applicable to
affiliates under Rule 144, as applicable. We have filed registration statements on Form S-8 to register shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of our common stock issued pursuant to our equity incentive plans. We expect to file additional registration statements on Form S-8 in the
future to register additional shares reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans, and Form S-8 registration statements automatically become
effective upon filing. Accordingly, shares registered under such registration statements will be available for sale in the open market.

In the future, we may also issue our securities in connection with investments or acquisitions. The number of shares of our common stock issued in connection
with an investment or acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then-outstanding shares of common stock. Any issuance of additional securities in
connection with investments or acquisitions may result in additional dilution to our stockholders.

Adverse global economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition and liquidity.

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global economy and in the global
financial markets. A severe or prolonged economic downturn could result in a variety of risks to our business, including our ability to raise additional capital when
needed on acceptable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy could also strain our suppliers, service providers or other partners and there is a risk that one
or more would not survive or be able to meet their commitments to us under such circumstances. As widely reported, global credit and financial markets have
experienced volatility and disruptions in the past several years due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and, more recently, the ongoing conflicts in
Ukraine and Israel, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, inflation, rising
interest rates, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about tariffs and economic stability. There can be no assurances that further deterioration in credit
and financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. Any of the foregoing could harm our business and we cannot anticipate all of the
ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact our business.

Conditions in the banking system and financial markets, including the failure of banks and financial institutions, could have an adverse effect on our
operations and financial results.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or
other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other
similar risks, have in the past and may in the future
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lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, in 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon
Valley Bank, Signature Bank and Silvergate Capital Corp, respectively, after each bank was unable to continue their operations. Since then, additional financial
institutions have experienced similar failures and have been placed into receivership. It is possible that other banks will face similar difficulties in the future.

Although we do not maintain any deposit accounts, credit agreements or letters of credit with any financial institution currently in receivership, we are unable to
predict the extent or nature of the impacts of these evolving circumstances at this time. If, for example, other banks and financial institutions enter receivership or
become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and financial markets, our ability to access our existing cash, cash
equivalents and investments may be threatened. While it is not possible at this time to predict the extent of the impact that the failure of these financial institutions
or the high market volatility and instability of the banking sector could have on economic activity and our business in particular, the failure of other banks and
financial institutions and the measures taken by governments, businesses and other organizations in response to these events could adversely impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks related to our operations and to the development, marketing, commercialization and regulation of our product candidates

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candid or indications that

may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we focus on research programs and product candidates that we identify for specific indications. As a
result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential.
Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and
future research and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable products. If we do not
accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate
through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and
commercialization rights to such product candidate.

Additionally, our R&D efforts are focused, in part, on developing DA-1241 for the treatment of MASH, an indication for which there is only one approved
product. The regulatory approval process for novel product candidates, such as DA-1241 for MASH, can be more expensive and take longer than for other, better
known or extensively studied product candidates. In addition to Madrigal Pharmaceuticals’ approved product, other companies are in later stages of clinical trials
for their potential MASH therapies, and we expect that the path for regulatory approval for MASH therapies may continue to evolve in the near term as these
other companies refine their regulatory approval strategies and interact with regulatory authorities. Such evolution may impact our future clinical trial designs,
including trial size and endpoints, in ways that we cannot predict today. Our anticipated development costs would likely increase if development of DA-1241 or
any future product candidate is delayed because the FDA requires us to perform studies or trials in addition to, or different from, those that we currently
anticipate. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of
any increase in our anticipated development costs.

Public opinion and scrutiny of treatments for obesity and overweight patients may impact public perception of our Company and DA-1726, or may adversely
affect our ability to conduct our business and our business plans.

Public perception may be influenced by claims, such as claims that DA-1726 is unsafe, unethical or immoral and, consequently, our approach may not gain the
acceptance of the public or the medical community. Negative public reaction to treatments for obesity and overweight patients in general could result in greater
government regulation and stricter labeling requirements of products to treat these chronic conditions, including DA-1726, if approved, and could cause a
decrease in the demand for DA-1726 or any product candidates we may develop. For example, severe adverse events observed with GLP-1 receptor agonists
include, but are not limited to, acute pancreatitis, acute gallbladder disease, acute kidney injury and worsening of diabetic retinopathy. Such side effects associated
with GLP-1 receptor or GLP-1/GIP receptor targeting treatments may negatively impact public perception of us, DA-1726 or any product candidates we develop.
Adverse public attitudes may also adversely impact our ability to enroll clinical trials. Moreover, our success will depend upon physicians and their patients being
willing to receive treatments that involve the use of DA-1726 or any product candidates we develop, in lieu of or in addition to, existing treatments that such
physicians and their patients are already familiar with and for which greater clinical data may be available. Adverse events in our clinical trials, even if not
ultimately attributable to our DA-1726 or any product candidates we develop, and the resulting publicity could result in withdrawal of clinical trial participants,
increased governmental regulation, unfavorable public perception, potential regulatory delays in the testing or approval of DA-1726 or any product candidates we
develop, stricter labeling requirements for those product candidates that are approved and a decrease in demand for any such
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product candidates. More restrictive government regulations or negative public opinion could have a material and adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects, and may delay or impair the development, commercialization (if approved) or demand for DA-1726 or any product
candidates we develop.

We may be required to make significant payments under the 2022 License Agreement.

We have exclusive rights (other than in the Republic of Korea) to DA-1241 and DA-1726 for the specific indications provided in the 2022 License Agreement.
Under the 2022 License Agreement, in consideration for the license, we made an upfront payment of 2,200 shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. As
additional consideration for the license, we are required to pay Dong-A milestone payments upon the achievement of specified regulatory milestones and
milestone payments upon the achievement of specified commercial milestones. Commencing on the first commercial sale of licensed products, we are obligated to
pay royalties of single-digit percentages on annual net sales of the products covered by the license. If the milestone is reached or the other non-royalty obligations
become due, we may not have sufficient funds available to meet our obligations, which may materially adversely affect our business operations and financial
condition.

Even if we obtain favorable clinical results, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize DA-1241 and DA-1726.

Of the large number of drugs in development in the U.S., only a small percentage receive FDA regulatory approval and are commercialized in the U.S. We are not
permitted to market DA-1241 or DA-1726 in the U.S. until we receive approval of a New Drug Application (“NDA”) from the FDA, or in any foreign countries
until we receive the requisite approval from such countries or jurisdictions, such as the MAA in the European Union from the European Medicines Agency
(“EMA™).

As a condition to submitting an NDA to the FDA for DA-1241 or DA-1726, we must successfully complete several clinical trials demonstrating efficacy and
safety. For example, we must successfully meet a number of critical developmental milestones, including: (i) developing dosages that will be well-tolerated, safe
and effective; (ii) completing the development and scale-up to permit manufacture of our product candidates in commercial quantities and at acceptable costs; (iii)
demonstrating through pivotal clinical trials that the product candidate is safe and effective in patients for the intended indication; (iv) establishing commercial
manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers; and (v) obtaining and maintaining exclusive rights, including patent and trade
secret protection and non-patent exclusivity for our product candidates. The time necessary to achieve these developmental milestones for any individual product
candidate is long and uncertain, and we may not successfully complete these milestones for any product candidates that we may develop. We are continuing to test
and develop our product candidates and may explore possible design or formulation changes to address safety, dosage, efficacy, manufacturing efficiency and
performance issues to the extent any arise. The design of a clinical trial may be able to determine whether its results will support approval of a product, and flaws
in the design of a clinical trial may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well advanced or completed. There is no assurance that we will be able to design
and complete a clinical trial to support marketing approval. Moreover, nonclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to multiple interpretations and analyses.
A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have experienced significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after achieving
promising results in earlier trials.

Successfully completing clinical trials and obtaining approval of an NDA is a complex, lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, and the FDA, or a comparable
foreign regulatory authority, may delay, limit or deny approval of an NDA for many reasons, including, among others: (i) disagreement with the design or
implementation of our clinical trials; (ii) disagreement with the sufficiency of our clinical trials; (iii) failure to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product
candidate for the proposed indications; (iv) failure to demonstrate that any clinical and other benefits of the product candidate outweigh their safety risks; (v) a
negative interpretation of the data from our nonclinical studies or clinical trials; (vi) insufficient data collected from clinical trials or changes in the approval
requirements that render our nonclinical and clinical data insufficient to support the filing of an NDA or to obtain regulatory approval; or (vii) changes in clinical
practice in our approved products available for the treatment of the target patient population that could have an impact on the indications that we are pursuing for
our product candidates. Any of these factors, many of which are beyond our control, could jeopardize our ability to obtain regulatory approval for and
successfully market DA-1241 and DA-1726.

DA-1241 and DA-1726 may not be successful in clinical trials or receive regulatory approval. Further, DA-1241 and DA-1726 may not receive regulatory
approval even if they are successful in clinical trials, or these product candidates may be approved for fewer or more limited indications than we request, such
approval may be contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials or we may not be allowed to include the labeling claims necessary or
desirable for the successful commercialization of such product candidate. In addition, the policies or regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary
to gain approval, may change during a product candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions. Our development activities could be harmed
or delayed by a partial shutdown of the U.S. government, including the FDA. We
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have not obtained regulatory approval for any product candidate, and it is possible that DA-1241 and DA-1726 will never obtain regulatory approval.

Alternatively, even if we obtain regulatory approval, that approval may be for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as we intend or desire or may
require labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings. We may also be required to perform additional, unanticipated clinical
trials to obtain approval or be subject to additional post marketing testing requirements to maintain regulatory approval. In addition, regulatory authorities may
withdraw their approval of a product, or the FDA may require a REMS for a product, which could impose restrictions on our distribution. Any of the foregoing
scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects for our product candidates.

Preliminary, interim and topline data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become
available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

From time to time, we may publicly disclose preliminary, interim or topline data from our clinical trials. These updates are based on a preliminary analysis of
then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the
particular study or trial. Additionally, interim data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may
materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Therefore, positive interim results in any ongoing clinical trial may not
be predictive of similarly positive results in the completed study or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our
analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the topline results that we report may
differ from future results of the same studies, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results once additional data have been received and fully
evaluated. Topline data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary
data we previously published. As a result, topline data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. In addition, we may report interim analyses
of only certain endpoints rather than all endpoints. Adverse changes between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business and
prospects. Further, additional disclosure of interim data by us or by our competitors in the future could result in volatility in the price of our shares of common
stock.

Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions or analyses or may interpret or
weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the approvability or commercialization of the particular product
candidate or product and our Company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is
typically selected from a more extensive amount of available information. You or others may not agree with what we determine is the material, or otherwise
appropriate, information to include in our disclosure, and any information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to
future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular product, product candidate or our business. If the preliminary or topline data
that we report differ from late, final or actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to obtain
approval for, and commercialize any product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Results of earlier clinical trials may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials.

The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Product candidates
in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy results despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical
trials. Many companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to adverse safety profiles or lack of
efficacy, notwithstanding promising results in earlier studies. Similarly, our future clinical trial results may not be successful for these or other reasons.

This drug candidate development risk is heightened by any changes in the planned clinical trials compared to the completed clinical trials. As product candidates
are developed through preclinical to early to late-stage clinical trials towards approval and commercialization, it is customary that various aspects of the
development program, such as manufacturing and methods of administration, are altered along the way to optimize processes and results. While these types of
changes are common and are intended to optimize the product candidates for late-stage clinical trials, approval and commercialization, such changes carry the risk
that they will not achieve these intended objectives.
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Any of these changes could make the results of our planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials we may initiate less predictable and could cause our
product candidates to perform differently, including causing toxicities, which could delay the completion of our clinical trials, delay the approval of our product
candidates and/or jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues.

Product candidates may cause undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their marketing approval, limit the commercial profile of an approved label,
or result in significant negative consequences following marketing approval, if any, including marketing withdrawal.

Undesirable side effects caused by any of our product candidates that we may develop or acquire could cause us or the FDA or other regulatory authorities to
interrupt, delay or halt our clinical trials and could result in more restrictive labels or the delay or denial of marketing approval by the FDA or other regulatory
authorities of such product candidates. Results of our clinical trials could reveal high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of these or other side effects. In
such an event, our trials could be suspended or terminated, and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order us to cease further development
of or deny approval of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications. In addition, any drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the
ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition
and prospects significantly.

Further, clinical trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of patients, rare and severe side effects of our
product candidates may only be uncovered with a significantly larger number of patients exposed to the product candidate. If our product candidates receive
marketing approval and we or others identify undesirable side effects caused by such product candidates (or any other similar drugs) after such approval, a
number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

e regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit their approval of such product candidates;
e regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “boxed” warning or a contraindication;

e we may be required to recall the product, change the way such product candidates are distributed or administered, conduct additional clinical trials or
change the labeling of the product candidates;

e regulatory authorities may require a REMS plan to mitigate risks, which could include medication guides to be distributed to patients, physician
communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools;

e we may be subject to regulatory investigations and government enforcement actions;

e we may be subject to fines, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties;

e we may decide to remove such product candidates from the marketplace after they are approved;

e the product may be rendered less competitive, and sales may decrease;

e we could be sued and held liable for injury caused to individuals exposed to or taking our product candidates; and
e  our reputation may suffer.

We believe that any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidates and could substantially
increase the costs of commercializing our product candidates, if approved, and significantly impact our ability to successfully commercialize our product
candidates and generate revenues.

Our efforts to discover drug candidates beyond our current drug candidates may not succeed, and any drug candidates we recommend for clinical
development may not actually begin clinical trials.

We intend to continue to use our technology, including our licensed technology, knowledge and expertise to develop novel drugs to address some of the world’s
most widespread and costly chronic diseases. We intend to expand our existing pipeline of core assets by advancing drug compounds from current ongoing
discovery programs into clinical development. However, the process of researching and discovering drug compounds is expensive, time-consuming and
unpredictable. Data from our current preclinical programs may not support the clinical development of our lead compounds or other compounds from these
programs, and we may not identify any additional drug compounds suitable for recommendation for clinical development. Moreover, any drug compounds we
recommend for clinical development may not demonstrate, through preclinical studies, indications of safety and potential efficacy that would support
advancement into clinical trials. Such findings would potentially
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impede our ability to maintain or expand our clinical development pipeline. Our ability to identify new drug compounds and advance them into clinical
development also depends upon our ability to fund our research and development operations, and we cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on
acceptable terms, or at all.

Delays in our clinical trials may lead to a delay in the submission of marketing approval applications and jeopardize our ability to potentially receive
approvals and generate revenues from the sale of our products.

We may experience delays in ongoing and planned clinical trials. We do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin or enroll subjects on time, need to be
redesigned or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials may be delayed, suspended or terminated for a variety of reasons, such as:

e delay or failure in reaching an agreement with the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority on a trial design that we are able to execute;

e delay or failure in obtaining authorization to commence a trial or inability to comply with conditions imposed by a regulatory authority regarding the
scope or design of a clinical trial;

e inability, delay or failure in identifying and maintaining a sufficient number of trial sites, many of which may already be engaged in competing clinical
trial programs;

e issues with the manufacture of drug substance for use in clinical trials;
e delay or failure in recruiting and enrolling suitable subjects to participate in a trial;
e delay or failure in having subjects complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

e clinical sites and investigators deviating from trial protocol, failing to conduct the trial in accordance with regulatory requirements, or dropping out of a
trial;

e delay or failure in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive
negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

e delay or failure in obtaining IRB approval to conduct a clinical trial at each site;
e delays resulting from negative or equivocal findings of the Data Safety Monitoring Board (“DSMB”), if any;
e ambiguous or negative results;

e decision by the FDA, a comparable foreign regulatory authority, or recommendation by a DSMB to suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time for
safety issues or for any other reason;

e conflicts affecting clinical trial sites and regions where clinical trials are being completed;
e lack of adequate funding to continue the product development program; or
e changes in governmental regulations or requirements.

Any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and approval process and jeopardize our ability
to commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects. In addition,
many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory
approval of our product candidates.

We may develop DA-1241 and DA-1726, and potentially future product candidates, in combination with other therapies, which exposes us to additional risks.

We may develop DA-1241 and DA-1726 and future product candidates in combination with one or more currently approved therapies. Even if any product
candidate we develop were to receive marketing approval or be commercialized for use in combination with other existing therapies, we would continue to be
subject to the risks that the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside of the U.S. could revoke approval of the therapy used in combination with our product
candidate or that safety, dosage, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues could arise with these existing therapies. This could result in our own products being
removed from the market or being less successful commercially.
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We may also evaluate DA-1241 and DA-1726 or any other future product candidates in combination with one or more other therapies that have not yet been
approved for marketing by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside of the U.S. We will not be able to market and sell DA-1241 and DA-1726 or any
product candidate we develop in combination with any such unapproved therapies that do not ultimately obtain marketing approval. If the FDA or similar
regulatory authorities outside of the U.S. do not approve these other drugs or revoke their approval of, or if safety, efficacy, manufacturing, or supply issues arise
with, the drugs we choose to evaluate in combination with DA-1241 and DA-1726 or any other product candidate we develop, we may be unable to obtain
approval of or market DA-1241 and DA-1726 or any other product candidate we develop.

Any collaboration arrangement that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our ability to develop and
commercialize our current and potential future drug candidates.

We may seek collaboration arrangements with biopharmaceutical companies for the development or commercialization of our current and potential future drug
candidates. To the extent that we decide to enter into collaboration agreements, we will face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators.
Moreover, collaboration arrangements are complex and time-consuming to negotiate, execute and implement. We may not be successful in our efforts to establish
and implement collaborations, or other alternative arrangements should we choose to enter into such arrangements, and the terms of the arrangements may not be
favorable to us. If, and when we collaborate with a third party for development and commercialization of a drug candidate, we can expect to relinquish some or all
of the control over the future success of that drug candidate to the third party. The success of our collaboration arrangements will depend heavily on the efforts
and activities of our collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these
collaborations.

Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement can lead to delays in developing or commercializing the applicable drug candidate and can be
difficult to resolve in a mutually beneficial manner. In some cases, collaborations with biopharmaceutical companies and other third parties are terminated or
allowed to expire by the other party. Any such termination or expiration would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Enrollment and retention of patients in clinical trials is an expensive and time-consuming process and could be made more difficult or rendered impossible by
multiple factors outside our control, including difficulties in identifying patients with MASH and significant competition for recruiting such patients in
clinical trials.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in our clinical trials is critical to our success. We may encounter delays in enrolling, or be unable to enroll, a
sufficient number of patients to complete any of our clinical trials, and even once enrolled we may be unable to retain a sufficient number of patients to complete
any of our trials. In particular, as a result of the inherent difficulties in diagnosing MASH and the significant competition for recruiting patients with MASH in
clinical trials, there may be delays in enrolling the patients we need to complete clinical trials on a timely basis, or at all. This risk may be more significant for us
than other companies conducting clinical trials for the treatment of patients with MASH because we are enrolling only patients with a biopsy-confirmed diagnosis
of MASH in our clinical trials.

Factors that may generally affect patient enrollment include:
e the size and nature of the patient population;
e the number and location of clinical sites we enroll;
e  competition with other companies for clinical sites or patients;
e the eligibility and exclusion criteria for the trial;
e the design of the clinical trial;
e inability to obtain and maintain patient consents;
e risk that enrolled participants will drop out before completion; and

e competing clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the drug being studied in relation to other available
therapies, including any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating.

In addition, if any significant adverse events or other side effects are observed in any of our future clinical trials, it may make it more difficult for us to recruit
patients to our clinical trials and patients may drop out of our trials, or we may be required to abandon the trials or our development efforts of one or more product
candidates altogether. Our inability to enroll a sufficient
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number of patients for our clinical trials would result in significant delays, which would increase our costs and have an adverse effect on our Company.
We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before or more successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization of new products is highly competitive. Our future success depends on our ability to demonstrate and maintain a
competitive advantage with respect to the development and commercialization of our product candidates. Our objective is to develop and commercialize new
products with superior efficacy, convenience, tolerability and safety. In many cases, the products that we commercialize will compete with existing, market-
leading products.

Many of our potential competitors have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing, drug development, technical and human resources than we do.
Large pharmaceutical companies, in particular, have extensive experience in clinical testing, obtaining regulatory approvals, recruiting patients and manufacturing
pharmaceutical products. In particular, these companies have greater experience and expertise in securing government contracts and grants to support their R&D
efforts, conducting testing and clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals to market products, manufacturing such products on a broad scale and marketing
approved products. These companies also have significantly greater research and marketing capabilities than we do and may also have products that have been
approved or are in late stages of development and have collaborative arrangements in our target markets with leading companies and research institutions.
Established pharmaceutical companies may also invest heavily to accelerate discovery and development of novel compounds or to in-license novel compounds
that could make the product that we develop obsolete. As a result of all of these factors, our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent protection and/or FDA
approval or discovering, developing and commercializing products before, or more effectively than, we do. In addition, any new product that competes with an
approved product must demonstrate compelling advantages in efficacy, convenience, tolerability and safety in order to overcome price competition and to be
commercially successful. If we are not able to compete effectively against potential competitors, our business will not grow, and our financial condition and
operations will suffer.

MASH

There is only one approved treatment of MASH, Madrigal Pharmaceuticals’ thyroid hormone receptor beta agonist. However, various therapeutics are
used off-label for the treatment of MASH, including vitamin E (an antioxidant), insulin sensitizers (e.g., metformin, pioglitazone), antihyperlipidemic
agents (e.g., gemfibrozil), pentoxifylline and ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA). There are several product candidates in Phase 3 or earlier clinical or
preclinical development for the treatment of MASH, including Novo Nordisk’s GLP1 agonist semaglutide, Eli Lilly’s GLPIR and GIP dual agonist
tirzepatide, Akero Therapeutics’s FGF21 analog efruxifermin, 89 Bio’s FGF21 analog pegaozafermin, Inventiva’s pan-peroxisome proliferator-activated
receptor agonist, Boston Pharmaceuticals and Roche’s fibroblast growth factor 21 analogs, and farnesoid X receptor agonists from Intercept
Pharmaceuticals Inc., among others. Additional pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies with product candidates in development for the treatment of
MASH include AstraZeneca plc, Altimmune Inc., Boehringer Ingelheim GmbH, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Durect Corporation, Galectin
Therapeutics Inc., Galmed Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Immuron Ltd., Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Islet Sciences, Inc., MediciNova, Inc., NGM
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., NuSirt Sciences Inc., Pfizer Inc., Viking Therapeutics, Inc. and Zydus Pharmaceuticals (USA) Inc. MASH is a complex disease
and we believe that it is unlikely that any one therapeutic option will be optimal for every MASH patient.

Obesity

Due to the growing overweight and obesity epidemic and consumer demand, there are many competitors in the field of obesity treatment. Obesity
treatments range from behavioral modification to drugs and medical devices, and surgery, generally as a last resort. If DA-1726 were approved for obesity,
our primary competition in the obesity treatment market would currently be from approved and marketed products, including semaglutide (WEGOVY®)
and tirzepatide (Zepbound®). Further competition could arise from products currently in development, including among others, with GLPIR/GCGR dual
agonists, Boehringer Ingelheim, Merck/Hanmi Pharmaceutical, AstraZeneca, Altimmune, Innovent Biologics/Eli Lilly, Carmot and D&D Pharma; with
GLP1R/GCGR/GIP triple agonists, Hanmi Pharmaceutical and Eli Lilly; Amgen with its GLP-1R agonist/GIP antagonist antibody; and Novo Nordisk with
Amylin and Amylin-GLP-1 combination. To the extent any of our product candidates are approved for obesity, the commercial success of our product will
also depend on our ability to demonstrate benefits over the then-prevailing standard of care. Finally, morbidly obese
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patients sometimes undergo a gastric bypass procedure, with salutary effects on the many co-morbid conditions of obesity.

T2DM

There are a number of large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that currently market and sell products or are pursuing the development of
products for T2DM. Some of these competitive products and therapies are based on scientific approaches that are the same as or similar to our approach
and others are based on entirely different approaches. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public and
private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development,
manufacturing and commercialization.

Our commercial success depends upon attaining significant market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved, among hospitals, physicians, patients
and healthcare payors.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates that we may develop or acquire in the future, the product may not gain market acceptance
among hospitals, physicians, health care payors, patients, and the medical community. Market acceptance of any of our product candidates for which we receive
regulatory approval depends on a number of factors, including:

the clinical indications for which the product candidate is approved;

acceptance by major operators of hospitals, physicians and patients of the product candidate as a safe and effective treatment, particularly the ability of
our product candidates to establish themselves as a new standard of care in the treatment paradigm for the indications that we are pursuing;

the potential and perceived advantages of our product candidates over alternative treatments as compared to the relative costs of the product candidates
and alternative treatments;

the willingness of physicians to prescribe, and patients to take, a product candidate that is based on a botanical source;

the prevalence and severity of any side effects with respect to our product candidates, and any elements that may be imposed by the FDA under a REMS
program that could discourage market uptake of the products;

the availability of adequate reimbursement and pricing for any approved products by third party payors and government authorities;
inability of certain types of patients to take our product;

demonstrated ability to treat patients and, if required by any applicable regulatory authority in connection with the approval for target indications, to
provide patients with incremental cardiovascular disease benefits, as compared with other available therapies;

the relative convenience and ease of administration of our product candidates, including as compared with other treatments available for approved
indications;

limitations or warnings contained in the labeling approved by the FDA;
availability of alternative treatments already approved or expected to be commercially launched in the near future;
the effectiveness of our sales and marketing strategies;

guidelines and recommendations of organizations involved in research, treatment and prevention of various diseases that may advocate for alternative
therapies;

the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of third-party coverage;
physicians or patients may be reluctant to switch from existing therapies even if potentially more effective, safe or convenient;
efficacy, safety, and potential advantages compared to alternative treatments;

the ability to offer our product for sale at competitive prices;
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e the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;
e any restrictions on the use of our product together with other medications;

e interactions of our product with other medicines patients are taking; and

e the timing of market introduction of our products as well as competitive products.

There may be delays in getting our product candidates, if approved, on hospital or insurance formularies or limitations on coverages that may be available in the
early stages of commercialization for newly approved drugs. If any of our product candidates are approved but fail to achieve market acceptance among hospitals,
physicians, patients or health care payors, we will not be able to generate significant revenues, which would have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Even if we are able to commercialize a future pharmaceutical drug candidate, the profitability of such product candidate will likely depend in significant part
on third-party reimbursement practices, which, if unfavorable, would harm our business.

Our ability to commercialize a drug successfully will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and adequate reimbursement will be available from
government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other organizations. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private
health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. Government authorities and
third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. Increasingly, third-party
payors are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products.
We cannot be sure that coverage will be available for any product candidate that we commercialize and, if coverage is available, whether the level of
reimbursement will be adequate. Assuming we obtain coverage for our product candidates, if approved, by a third-party payor, the resulting reimbursement
payment rates may not be adequate or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Patients who are prescribed medications for the treatment of
their conditions, and their prescribing physicians, generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with their prescription drugs.
Patients are unlikely to use a product candidate, if approved, unless coverage is provided, and reimbursement is adequate to cover all or a significant portion of the
cost of our products. Therefore, coverage and adequate reimbursement are critical to new product acceptance. If reimbursement is not available or is available
only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.

There may be significant delays in obtaining reimbursement for newly approved drugs, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which a product
candidate is approved by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the U.S. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any product will
be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and distribution. Interim reimbursement levels for a
new product, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of
the product and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost medicines and may be incorporated into
existing payments for other services. Net prices for products may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or
private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of medicines from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the
U.S. Third-party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement policies. However, no uniform
policy requirement for coverage and reimbursement for drug products exists among third-party payors in the U.S. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for
drug products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will
require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each payor separately with no assurance that coverage and adequate
reimbursement will be applied consistently or obtained in the first instance.

Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable payment rates from both government-funded and private payors for any approved products that we
develop could have an adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and our overall financial condition.

We may engage in strategic transactions that could impact on our liquidity, increase our expenses and present significant distractions to our management.

From time to time, we may consider strategic transactions, such as acquisitions of companies, asset purchases and out-licensing or in-licensing of products, drug
candidates or technologies. Additional potential transactions that we may consider include a variety of different business arrangements, including spin-offs,
strategic partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings,

42



divestitures, business combinations and investments. Any such transaction may require us to incur non-recurring or other charges, may increase our near- and
long-term expenditures and may pose significant integration challenges or disrupt our management or business, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. For example, these transactions may entail numerous operational and financial risks, including:

e exposure to unknown liabilities;

e disruption of our business and diversion of our management’s time and attention in order to develop acquired products, drug candidates, technologies or
businesses;

e incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of equity securities to pay for any of these transactions;

e  higher-than-expected transaction and integration costs;

e write-downs of assets or goodwill or impairment charges;

e increased amortization expenses;

e difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses or product lines with our operations and personnel; and
e inability to retain key employees of any acquired business.

Accordingly, although there can be no assurance that we will undertake or successfully complete any transactions of the nature described above, any transactions
that we complete may be subject to the foregoing risk or other risks and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and could limit commercialization of any product candidate that we may
develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical trials and will face an even greater risk if
we commercially sell any product that we may develop. Product liability claims might be brought against us by patients, healthcare providers or others selling or
otherwise coming into contact with any of our products or future product candidates during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. For example, we
may be sued on allegations that a product candidate caused injury or that the product is otherwise unsuitable. Any such product liability claims may include
allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, including as a result of interactions with alcohol or
other drugs, negligence, strict liability, and a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts.

If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that our product caused injuries, we could incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual
outcome, liability claims may result in:

e decreased demand for any product candidate that we are developing;

e injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

e withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

e increased FDA warnings on product labels;

e significant costs to defend the related litigation;

e substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

e distraction of management’s attention from our primary business;

e loss of revenue;

e the inability to commercialize any product candidate that we may develop;
e the removal of a product from the market; and

e increased insurance costs.
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If we or our third-party manufacturers fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or
penalties or incur costs that could have an adverse effect on the success of our business.

Our R&D activities involve the controlled use of potentially hazardous substances, including chemical and biological materials, by us and our third-party
manufacturers. Our manufacturers are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations in the U.S. and abroad governing laboratory procedures and the use,
manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of medical and hazardous materials. Although we believe that our manufacturers’ procedures for using, handling,
storing and disposing of these materials comply with legally prescribed standards, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury resulting
from medical or hazardous materials. As a result of any such contamination or injury, we may incur liability or local, city, state or federal authorities may curtail
the use of these materials and interrupt our business operations. In the event of an accident, we could be held liable for damages or penalized with fines, and the
liability could exceed our resources. We do not have any insurance for liabilities arising from medical or hazardous materials. Although we maintain workers’
compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses, we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this
insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Compliance with applicable environmental, health and safety laws and regulations are
expensive, and current or future environmental regulations may impair our research, development and production efforts, which could harm our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

We rely and will continue to rely on collaborative partners regarding the development of our research programs and product candidates.

We are and expect to continue to be dependent on collaborations with partners relating to the development and commercialization of our existing and future
research programs and product candidates. In particular, we rely on Dong-A to provide services with respect to our development of DA-1241 and DA-1726. In
addition, we have had, have and will continue to have discussions on potential partnering opportunities with various pharmaceutical companies. If we fail to enter
into or maintain collaborative agreements on reasonable terms or at all, our ability to develop our existing or future research programs and product candidates
could be delayed, the commercial potential of our products could change, and our costs of development and commercialization could increase.

Our dependence on collaborative partners subjects us to a number of risks, including, but not limited to, the following:
e  We may not be able to control the amount or timing of resources that collaborative partners devote to our research programs and product candidates;
e  We may be required to relinquish significant rights, including intellectual property, marketing and distribution rights;

e  We rely on the information and data received from third parties regarding our research programs and product candidates and will not have control of the
process conducted by the third party in gathering and composing such data and information. We may not have formal or appropriate guarantees from our
contract parties with respect to the quality and the completeness of such data;

e A collaborative partner may develop a competing product either by itself or in collaboration with others, including one or more of our competitors;

e Our collaborative partners’ willingness or ability to complete their obligations under our collaboration arrangements may be adversely affected by
business combinations or significant changes in a collaborative partner’s business strategy; and/or

e We may experience delays in, or increases in the costs of, the development of our research programs and product candidates due to the termination or
expiration of collaborative R&D arrangements.

If, in the future, we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or to selectively enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market our
product candidates, we may not be successful in commercializing our product candidates if and when they are approved.

We do not have sales or marketing infrastructure and have no experience in the sale, marketing or distribution of pharmaceutical products. To achieve commercial
success for any approved product for which we retain sales and marketing responsibilities, we must either develop a sales and marketing organization or outsource
these functions to other third parties. In the future, we may choose to build a focused sales and marketing infrastructure to sell some of our product candidates if
and when they are approved.
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There are risks involved both with establishing our own sales and marketing capabilities and with entering into arrangements with third parties to perform these
services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any product launch. If the commercial launch of a
product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely
or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and
marketing personnel.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize our product candidates on our own include:
e  our inability to recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;

e the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or persuade adequate numbers of physicians to prescribe any future pharmaceutical
products; and

e unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing organization.

If we enter into arrangements with third parties to perform sales, marketing and distribution services, our product revenue or the profitability of these product
revenues may be lower than if we were to market and sell any products that we develop ourselves. In addition, we may not be successful in entering into
arrangements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates or may be unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us. We may have little control
over such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our products effectively. If we do not establish
sales and marketing capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be successful in commercializing our product
candidates.

Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval could be subject to marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may be
subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products.

Any pharmaceutical product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to continual requirements of and review by the FDA and other
regulatory authorities. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration and listing requirements,
c¢GMP requirements, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents and requirements regarding the distribution of samples to
physicians and recordkeeping. Even if the marketing approval of a product candidate is granted, the approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses
for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the
safety or efficacy of the medicine. The FDA closely regulates the post-approval marketing and promotion of drugs to ensure that they are marketed only for the
approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved labeling. The FDA imposes stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications
regarding off-label use and if we do not market our products for their approved indications, we may be subject to enforcement action for off-label marketing
and/or promotion.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown problems with our products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory
requirements, may result in, among other things:

e restrictions on such products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes;

e restrictions on the labeling, marketing, distribution or use of a product;

e requirements to conduct post-approval clinical trials;

e warning or untitled letters;

e withdrawal of the products from the market;

e refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
e recall of products;

e fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenue;

e suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals for the drug products;

e refusal to permit the import or export of our products;
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e  product seizure; and
e injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.
We or any potential collaborator may never receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates outside of the U.S.

The activities associated with the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical drugs are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA, other
regulatory agencies in the U.S. and by comparable authorities in other countries. Failure to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates will prevent us
or any potential collaborator from commercializing our product candidates as pharmaceutical drugs. We have not received regulatory approval to market any of
our product candidates in any jurisdiction, and we do not expect to obtain FDA or any other regulatory approvals to market any of our product candidates for the
foreseeable future, if at all. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals is expensive, often takes many years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary
substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved.

We may seek to avail ourselves of mechanisms to expedite and/or reduce the cost for development or approval of any of our product candidates or product
candidates we may pursue in the future, such as Fast Track designation or orphan drug designation, but such mechanisms may not actually lead to a faster
or less expensive development or regulatory review or approval process.

We may seek Fast Track designation, priority review, orphan drug designation, or accelerated approval for any product candidate we may pursue in the future. For
example, if a drug is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and the drug demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs
for this condition, the drug sponsor may apply for FDA Fast Track designation. However, the FDA has broad discretion with regard to these mechanisms, and
even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for any such mechanism, we cannot assure you that the FDA would decide to grant it. Even if we
obtain Fast Track or priority review designation or pursue an accelerated approval pathway, we may not experience a faster and/or less costly development
process, review or approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. The FDA may withdraw a particular designation if it believes that the designation is no
longer supported by data from our clinical development program.

Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost of obtaining marketing approval and commercialization of our product candidates and
affect the prices we may obtain.

In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system
that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product
candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. See the section titled “Government Regulation” in above Item 1. Business.

Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical
products. We cannot be sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or
what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals, if any, of our product candidates may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the
FDA's approval process may significantly delay or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing
conditions and other requirements.

Governments outside the U.S. tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if any.

In some countries, particularly the countries of the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these
countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate
to other available therapies. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business
could be materially harmed.

Our relationships with healthcare providers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and
regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings,
among other penalties and conseq es.

Healthcare providers and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidate for which we obtain
marketing approval. Our arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and
regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute any product candidate for
which we obtain
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marketing approval. Restrictions and obligations under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations are noted in “Government Regulation” in
above Item 1. Business.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is
possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving
applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental
regulations that may apply to it, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of products
from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or
other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal,
civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.

We are subject to U.S. and certain foreign export and import controls, sanctions, embargoes, anti-corruption laws, and anti-money laundering laws and
regulations. Compliance with these legal standards could impair our ability to compete in domestic and international markets. We can face criminal liability
and other serious conseq es for violations which can harm our business.

We are subject to export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, U.S. Customs regulations, various
economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act of 1977, as amended, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, and other state and
national anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in the countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit
companies and their employees, agents, contractors, and other partners from authorizing, promising, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper
payments or anything else of value to recipients in the public or private sector. We may engage third parties for clinical trials outside of the U.S. to sell our
products abroad and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations, and other regulatory approvals. We have direct or indirect interactions with
officials and employees of government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities, and other organizations. We can be held liable for the corrupt or
other illegal activities of our employees, agents, contractors, and other partners, even if it does not explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such activities.
Our violations of the laws and regulations described above may result in substantial civil and criminal fines and penalties, imprisonment, the loss of export or
import privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and other consequences.

Our ability to use our NOLs to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

In general, under Section 382 of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to
limitations on its ability to utilize carryforwards to offset future taxable income. Our existing net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards were subject to limitation
arising from an ownership change related to the Dong-A Financing and the underwritten public offering we closed on in November 2022. Future changes in our
stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in further ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code. There is also a risk that due
to regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOL carryforwards, or other unforeseen reasons, our existing and any future NOL carryforwards could
expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities.

Tax matters, including the changes in corporate tax rates, disagreements with taxing authorities and imposition of new taxes could impact the results of our
operations and financial condition.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the U.S. and our operations, plans and results are affected by tax and other initiatives. In 2017, comprehensive
changes to the Code were signed into law, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act included significant changes that could
materially impact the taxation of corporations, like us, including among other things, changes to the corporate income tax rate, limitation of the tax deduction for
interest expense to business interest income plus 30% of adjusted taxable income (except for certain small businesses), immediate deductions for certain new
investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and modifying or repealing many business deductions and credits (including changes to the
orphan drug tax credit and changes to the deductibility of research and experimental expenditures that will be effective in the future). The Tax Act also included a
limitation of the deduction for net operating losses (“NOLs”) generated in tax years beginning after 2017 to 80% of current year taxable income and the general
elimination of carrybacks of NOLs generated in taxable years ending after 2017. However, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act signed into
law in 2020, provided that NOLs generated in a taxable year beginning in 2018, 2019 or 2020, may now be carried back five years. In addition, the 80% taxable
income limitation is temporarily removed, allowing NOLSs to fully offset net taxable income. Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the
overall impact of
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the Tax Act and any future tax reform is uncertain and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected. The impact of the Tax Act and any future
tax reform on holders of our common stock is likewise uncertain and could be adverse.

We are also subject to regular reviews, examinations, and audits by the IRS and other taxing authorities with respect to our taxes. Although we believe our tax
estimates are reasonable, if a taxing authority disagrees with the positions we have taken, we could face additional tax liability, including interest and penalties.
There can be no assurance that payment of such additional amounts upon final adjudication of any disputes will not have a material impact on our results of
operations and financial position.

We also need to comply with new, evolving or revised tax laws and regulations. The enactment of or increases in tariffs, or other changes in the application or
interpretation of the Tax Act, or on specific products that we may ultimately sell or with which our products compete, may have an adverse effect on our business
or on our results of operations.

Inadequate funding of the FDA and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new
products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business
functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, the ability to
hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have
fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies on which the combined organization’s operations may rely,
including those that fund R&D activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government agencies,
which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory
agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA and other government employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown
occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business. Further, in our operations as a public company, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain
necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

Federal legislation and actions by state and local governments may permit reimportation of drugs from foreign countries into the U.S., including foreign
countries where the drugs are sold at lower prices than in the U.S., which could adversely affect our operating results.

We may face competition for our product candidates, if approved, from cheaper alternatives sourced from foreign countries that have placed price controls on
pharmaceutical products. For example, in October 2020, the FDA published a final rule that would allow for the importation of certain prescription drugs from
Canada, where there are government price controls. In January 2024, the FDA approved Florida’s request to import certain lower-priced medications from
Canada. While the full implications of the final rule are currently unknown, legislation or regulations allowing the reimportation of drugs could decrease the price
we receive for any products we may develop and adversely affect our future revenues and potential profitability.

Risks related to dependence on third parties

We have relied and will rely on third-party clinical research organizations (CROs) to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials. If these CROs do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our product
candidates and our business could be substantially harmed.

We have relied upon and plan to continue to rely upon CROs and clinical data management organizations to monitor and manage data for our ongoing preclinical
and clinical programs. Although we control only certain aspects of their activities, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in
accordance with the applicable protocol and legal, regulatory and scientific standards, and our reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory
responsibilities. We also rely on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies in accordance with Good Laboratory Practice (“GLP”) requirements and the
Laboratory Animal Welfare Act of 1966 requirements. We, our CROs and our clinical trial sites are required to comply with regulations and current GCP, and
comparable foreign requirements to ensure that the health, safety and rights of patients are protected in clinical trials, and that data integrity is assured. Regulatory
authorities ensure compliance with GCP requirements through periodic inspections of trial sponsors and trial sites. If we, any of our CROs or our clinical trial
sites fail to comply with applicable GCP requirements, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials, or a specific site may be deemed
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unreliable, and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing
applications.

Our CROs are not our employees, and except for remedies available to us under our agreements with such CROs, we cannot control whether or not they devote
sufficient time and resources to our ongoing clinical programs. If CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual obligations or meet expected timelines or if
the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols, regulatory requirements or for other
reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our
product candidates. As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and
our ability to generate revenues could be delayed.

We rely on third parties to manufacture our product candidates and preclinical and clinical drug supplies.

We have no experience manufacturing our product candidates on a large clinical or commercial scale and have no manufacturing facility. We currently have no
plans to build our own clinical or commercial scale manufacturing capabilities. We currently work exclusively with Dong-A as the sole manufacturer for the
production of DA-1241 and DA-1726. To meet our projected needs for clinical supplies to support our activities for DA-1241 and DA-1726 through regulatory
approval and commercial manufacturing, Dong-A will need to provide sufficient scale of production for these projected needs. If any issues arise in the
manufacturing and we are unable to arrange for alternative third-party manufacturing sources, we are unable to find an alternative third party capable of
reproducing the existing manufacturing method or we are unable to do so on commercially reasonable terms or in a timely manner, we may not be able to
complete the development of our product candidates, or market or distribute them.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured our product candidates and preclinical and clinical drug
supplies, including:

e reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance;

e the possibility of breach of the manufacturing agreement by the third party because of factors beyond our control (including a failure to synthesize and
manufacture our product candidates or any products that we may eventually commercialize in accordance with our specifications);

e the possibility of termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party, based on our own business priorities, at a time that is costly or damaging
to us;

e delay in, or failure to obtain, regulatory approval of any of our product candidates because of the failure by our third-party manufacturer to comply with
c¢GMP or failure to scale up manufacturing processes; and

e current manufacturer and any future manufacturers may not be able to manufacture our product candidates at a cost or in quantities or in a timely manner
necessary to make commercially successful products.

If third-party manufacturers do not successfully carry out their contractual obligations or meet expected timelines or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data
they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols, regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended,
delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our product candidates.

We may engage in future acquisitions, mergers or in-licenses and out-licenses of technology that could disrupt our business, cause dilution to the
organization’s stockholders and harm our financial condition and operating results.

We may, in the future, make acquisitions or licenses of, or investments in, companies, products or technologies that we believe are a strategic or commercial fit
with our current product candidates and business or otherwise offer opportunities for us. In connection with these acquisitions, mergers or investments, the
organization may:

e issue stock that would dilute our stockholders’ percentage of ownership;

e expend cash;

e incur debt and assume liabilities; and

e incur amortization expenses related to intangible assets or incur large and immediate write-offs.

We also may be unable to find suitable acquisition, merger or license candidates and we may not be able to complete acquisitions, mergers or licenses on
favorable terms, if at all. If we do complete an acquisition, merger or license, we cannot
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assure you that it will ultimately strengthen our competitive position or that it will not be viewed negatively by customers, financial markets or investors. Further,
future acquisitions, mergers or licenses could also pose numerous additional risks to our operations, including:

e problems integrating the purchased or licensed business, products or technologies;

® increases to our expenses;

e the failure to have discovered undisclosed liabilities of the acquired or licensed asset or company;
e diversion of management’s attention from their day-to-day responsibilities;

e harm to our operating results or financial condition;

e entrance into markets in which we have limited or no prior experience; and

e potential loss of key employees, particularly those of the acquired entity.

We may not be able to complete one or more acquisitions or mergers or effectively integrate the operations, products or personnel gained through any such
acquisition without a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may form or seek strategic alliances or enter into additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such alliances or
licensing arrangements.

We may form or seek strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations or enter into additional licensing arrangements with third parties that we believe
will complement or augment our development and commercialization efforts with respect to our products and any future product candidates that we may develop.
Any strategic alliance or collaboration may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near and long-term expenditures, issue securities that
dilute our existing stockholders or disrupt our management and business. Our likely collaborators include large and mid-size pharmaceutical companies, regional
and national pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies. If we enter into any such arrangements with any third parties, we will likely have limited
control over the amount and timing of resources that our collaborators dedicate to the development or commercialization of our products or any future product
candidate. Our ability to generate revenues from these arrangements will depend on our collaborators’ abilities to successfully perform the functions assigned to
them in these arrangements. We cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the revenue or specific net income that justifies
such transaction.

Collaborations involving our product candidates, or any future product candidate pose the following risks to us:
e collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations;
e collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;

e collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization or may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization programs
based on clinical trial results, changes in the collaborator’s strategic focus or available funding or external factors such as an acquisition that diverts
resources or creates competing priorities;

e collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat
or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

e collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our product candidates if the
collaborators believe that competitive products are more likely to be successfully developed or can be commercialized under terms that are more
economically attractive;

e a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more product candidates may not commit sufficient resources to the marketing and
distribution of any such product candidate;

e collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite
litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;
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e collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability;

e disputes may arise between the collaborators and us that result in the delay or termination of the research, development or commercialization of our
product candidate or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management’s attention and resources;

e we may lose certain valuable rights under circumstances identified in our collaborations, including if we undergo a change of control;

e collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization of
the applicable product candidates;

e collaborators may learn about our discoveries and use this knowledge to compete with us in the future;

e the results of collaborators’ preclinical or clinical studies could harm or impair other development programs;

e there may be conflicts between different collaborators that could negatively affect those collaborations and potentially others;
e the number and type of our collaborations could adversely affect our attractiveness to future collaborators or acquirers;

e collaboration agreements may not lead to the development or commercialization of our product candidate in the most efficient manner or at all. If our
present or future collaborator were to be involved in a business combination, the continued pursuit and emphasis on our product development or
commercialization program under such collaboration could be delayed, diminished or terminated; and

e collaborators may be unable to obtain the necessary marketing approvals.

If future collaboration partners fail to develop or effectively commercialize our product candidates or any future product candidate for any of these reasons, such
candidate may not be approved for sale and our sales of such product candidate, if approved, may be limited, which would have an adverse effect on our operating
results and financial condition.

Our employees, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with
regulatory standards and requir ts, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity.
Misconduct by these parties could include failures to comply with FDA regulations or similar regulations of comparable foreign regulatory authorities, to provide
accurate information to the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, to comply with manufacturing standards we have established, to comply with
federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations and similar laws and regulations established and enforced by comparable foreign regulatory
authorities, to report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements
in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws
and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other
business arrangements. Employee or third-party misconduct could also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which
could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions
we take to detect and prevent this activity, such as employee training, may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting
us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are
instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending such action or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business and
results of operations, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.

Risks related to intellectual property
If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be harmed.

We depend on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on trade secrets, patents, copyright and trademark laws, and confidentiality, licensing and
other agreements with employees and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection. Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and
maintain patent protection in the U.S. and other
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countries with respect to our proprietary technology and products. Where we have the right to do so under our license agreements, we seek to protect our
proprietary position by filing patent applications in the U.S. and abroad related to our novel technologies and products that are important to our business.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies generally are highly uncertain, involve complex legal and factual questions and have in
recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patents, including those
patent rights licensed to us by third parties, are highly uncertain.

The steps we have taken to police and protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to preclude misappropriation of our proprietary information or
infringement of our intellectual property rights, both inside and outside the U.S. The rights already granted under any of our currently issued patents and those that
may be granted under future issued patents may not provide us with the proprietary protection or competitive advantages that we are seeking. If we are unable to
obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and products, or if the scope of the patent protection obtained is not sufficient, our competitors could
develop and commercialize technology and products similar or superior to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our technology and products may
be adversely affected.

With respect to patent rights, we do not know whether any of our pending patent applications for any of our product candidates will result in the issuance of
patents that protect our technology or products, or which will effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. Our
pending applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in such applications unless and until a patent is issued from such
applications. Further, the examination process may require us or our licensors to narrow the claims, which may limit the scope of patent protection that may be
obtained. Although our license agreement with Dong-A includes a number of issued patents that are exclusively licensed to us, the issuance of a patent is not
conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, issued patents that we own or have licensed from third parties may be challenged in the courts
or patent offices in the U.S. and abroad. Such challenges may result in the loss of patent protection, the narrowing of claims in such patents, or the invalidity or
unenforceability of such patents, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products or limit
the duration of the patent protection for our technology and products. Protecting against the unauthorized use of our patented technology, trademarks and other
intellectual property rights is expensive, difficult and may, in some cases, not be possible. In some cases, it may be difficult or impossible to detect third party
infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights, even in relation to issued patent claims, and proving any such infringement may be even more
difficult.

We may not be able to protect or practice our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

In jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection, competitors may use our intellectual property to develop their own products and further, may export
otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but where it is more difficult to enforce a patent as compared to the U.S. competitor
products may compete with our product candidates, if approved, or any future product candidate in jurisdictions where we do not have issued or granted patents or
where we issued or granted patent claims or other intellectual property rights are not sufficient to prevent competitor activities in these jurisdictions. The legal
systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, make it difficult to enforce patents and such countries may not recognize other types of
intellectual property protection, particularly that relating to pharmaceuticals. This could make it difficult for us to prevent the infringement of our patents or
marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally in certain jurisdictions. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign
jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.

The laws of some jurisdictions do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws in the U.S., and many companies have encountered
significant difficulties in protecting and defending such rights in such jurisdictions. If we, or our licensors, encounter difficulties in protecting, or are otherwise
precluded from effectively protecting, the intellectual property rights important for our business in such jurisdictions, the value of these rights may be diminished,
and we may face additional competition from others in those jurisdictions. Many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be
compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors.
In these countries, the patent owner may have limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If we, or any of our licensors, are forced
to grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents relevant to our business, our competitive position in the relevant jurisdiction may be impaired and our
business and results of operations may be adversely affected.
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We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

In addition to the possibility of litigation relating to infringement claims asserted against us, we may become a party to other patent litigation and other
proceedings, including inter partes review proceedings, post-grant review proceedings, derivation proceedings declared by the USPTO and similar proceedings in
foreign countries, regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our current or future technologies or product candidates or products. The cost to us of any
patent litigation or other proceeding, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation
or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources. Patent litigation and other proceedings may also absorb
significant management time. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could impair our ability to
compete in the marketplace.

Competitors may infringe or otherwise violate our intellectual property, including patents that may be issued to or be licensed by us. As a result, we may be
required to file claims in an effort to stop third-party infringement or unauthorized use. Any such claims could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims
against us, including claims alleging that we infringe their patents or other intellectual property rights. This can be prohibitively expensive, particularly for a
company of our size, and time-consuming, and even if we are successful, any award of monetary damages or other remedy we may receive may not be
commercially valuable. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that our asserted intellectual property is not valid or is unenforceable or
may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our intellectual property does not cover our technology. An adverse
determination in any litigation or defense proceedings could put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our
patent applications at risk of not being issued.

If the breadth or strength of our patent or other intellectual property rights is compromised or threatened, it could allow third parties to commercialize our
technology or products or result in our inability to commercialize our technology and products without infringing third-party intellectual property rights. Further,
third parties may be dissuaded from collaborating with us.

Interference or derivation proceedings brought by the USPTO or its foreign counterparts may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with respect to
our patent applications, and we may also become involved in other proceedings, such as re-examination proceedings, before the USPTO or its foreign
counterparts. Due to the substantial competition in the pharmaceutical space, the number of such proceedings may increase. This could delay the prosecution of
our pending patent applications or impact the validity and enforceability of any future patents that we may obtain. In addition, any such litigation, submission or
proceeding may be resolved adversely to us and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distraction to our management.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our
confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. Moreover, intellectual property law relating to the fields in which we
operate is still evolving and, consequently, patent and other intellectual property positions in our industry are subject to change and are often uncertain. We may
not prevail in any of these suits or other efforts to protect our technology, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially valuable.
During the course of this type of litigation, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments.
If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, the market price for the combined organization’s common stock could be significantly
harmed.

Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be uncertain and
could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates, and to use our proprietary technologies
without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. We may become party to, or threatened with, future adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding
intellectual property rights with respect to our products and technology, including interference and various post grant proceedings before the USPTO or non-U.S.
opposition proceedings. Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing patents or patents that may be granted in the future.

As a result of any such infringement claims, or to avoid potential claims, we may choose or be compelled to seek intellectual property licenses from third parties.
These licenses may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we are able to obtain a license, the license would likely obligate us to pay license fees
or royalties or both, and the rights granted to us likely would be nonexclusive, which would mean that our competitors also could obtain licenses to the same
intellectual property. Ultimately, we could be prevented from commercializing a product candidate or technology or be forced to cease some aspects of our
business operations if, as a result of actual or threatened infringement claims, we are unable to enter into licenses of the relevant intellectual property on
acceptable terms. Further, if we attempt to modify a product candidate or technology or to develop alternative methods or products in response to infringement
claims or to avoid potential claims, we could incur
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substantial costs, encounter delays in product introductions or interruptions in sales. Ultimately, such efforts could be unsuccessful.
Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal responsibilities.

Litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims, with or without merit, is unpredictable and generally expensive and time consuming
and is likely to divert significant resources from our core business, including distracting our technical and management personnel from their normal
responsibilities. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some
of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results
of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a
substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock and negatively impact our ability to raise additional funds. Such litigation or proceedings could
substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution activities.

‘We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the
costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual
property portfolios. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon, misappropriating or successfully
challenging our intellectual property rights. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that our employees or we have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former
employers.

Our employees and consultants have been previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential
competitors. Although we are not aware of any claims currently pending against us, we may be subject to claims that these employees, or we have, inadvertently
or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information or intellectual property of the former employers of our employees. Litigation may be
necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a
distraction to management. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying money claims, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel.
A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize product candidates, which would adversely affect our
commercial development efforts.

Our trade secrets are difficult to protect and if we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be
harmed.

In addition to seeking patents for some of our technologies and product candidates, we also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and
other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect these trade secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and
confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract
manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties. We also enter into confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation, and invention assignment
agreements with our employees and consultants that obligate them to assign to us any inventions developed in the course of their work for us. However, we cannot
guarantee that we have executed these agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our trade secrets or that the agreements we have executed
will provide adequate protection. Despite these efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our
trade secrets, and we may not be able to seek patent protection on technology relating to our product candidates or obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. As
a result, we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they bring against us, to determine ownership of what we regard as our
intellectual property. Monitoring unauthorized disclosures is difficult and we do not know whether the procedures that we have followed to prevent such
disclosure are or will be adequate. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the U.S. may be less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets.

Furthermore, if any of the technology or information that we protect as trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we
would have no right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to, or
independently developed by, a competitor, our competitive position would be harmed.
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Our ability to obtain and maintain our p protection depends on compliance with various procedural, documentary, fee payment and other requirements
)}

imposed by gover tal patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO, and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent. The
USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other requirements
during the patent application process. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the
applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or
complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application
include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit
formal documents. If we or our licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our product candidates, our competitors might be able to
enter the market, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations, and may not
adequately protect our business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example:

e others may be able to make product candidates that are similar to our product candidates but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we
own or have exclusively licensed;

e we or our future licensors or collaborators might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent
application that we own or have exclusively licensed;

e we or our future licensors or collaborators might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our inventions;

e others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual property
rights;

e it is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;
e issued patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may be held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

e  our competitors might conduct R&D activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the information learned from such activities
to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets;

e we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; and

e the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.
Should any of these events occur, they could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects.
Risks related to operations, employee matters and managing growth

We currently have a small number of employees and c¢ It

retain and motivate qualified personnel.

and our future success depends on our ability to retain our executive officers and to attract,

Because of the specialized scientific nature of our business, we rely heavily on our ability to attract and retain qualified scientific, technical and managerial
personnel. We are highly dependent upon current members of our management and scientific team. We intend to increase our technical and management staff as
needs arise and supporting resources become available, but the loss of one or more of our senior executive officers could be detrimental to us if we cannot recruit
suitable replacements in a timely manner. The competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical field is intense and as a result, we may be unable to
continue to attract and retain qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business or to recruit suitable replacement personnel.
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We may need to increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a small number of employees, and our management systems currently in place are not likely to be
adequate to support our future growth plans. Our ability to grow and to manage our growth effectively will require us to hire, train, retain, manage and motivate
additional employees and to implement and improve our operational, financial and management systems. These demands also may require the hiring of additional
senior management personnel or the development of additional expertise by our senior management personnel. Hiring a significant number of additional
employees, particularly those at the management level, would increase our expenses significantly. Moreover, if we fail to expand and enhance our operational,
financial and management systems in conjunction with our potential future growth, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

As of December 31, 2024, we had nine full-time employees. As our development and commercialization plans and strategies develop, or as a result of any future
acquisitions, we may need additional managerial, operational, development, sales, marketing, financial and other resources. Our management, personnel and
systems currently in place may not be adequate to support our future growth. Future growth would impose significant added responsibilities on our employees,
including:

e managing our clinical trials effectively;
e identifying, recruiting, maintaining, motivating and integrating additional employees;

e managing our internal development efforts effectively while complying with our contractual obligations to licensors, contractors and other third parties;
and

e improving our managerial, development, operational and finance systems.

As our operations expand, we will need to manage additional relationships with various CROs, strategic partners, and other third parties. Our future financial
performance and our ability to commercialize our product candidates and to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to manage any future growth
effectively. To that end, we must be able to manage our development efforts and clinical trials effectively and hire, train and integrate additional management,
administrative, R&D, and sales and marketing personnel. We may not be able to accomplish these tasks, and our failure to accomplish any of them could prevent
us from successfully growing MetaVia.

We intend to market our product candidates outside of the U.S., and if we do, we will be subject to the risks of doing business outside of the U.S.

Because we intend to market our product candidates, if approved, outside of the U.S., our business is subject to risks associated with doing business outside of the
U.S. Accordingly, our business and financial results in the future could be adversely affected due to a variety of factors, including:

e failure to develop an international sales, marketing and distribution system for our products;

e changes in a specific country’s or region’s political and cultural climate or economic condition;
e unexpected changes in foreign laws and regulatory requirements;

e difficulty of effective enforcement of contractual provisions in local jurisdictions;

e inadequate intellectual property protection in foreign countries;

e inadequate data protection against unfair commercial use;

e trade-protection measures, import or export licensing requirements such as Export Administration Regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department of
Commerce and fines, penalties or suspension or revocation of export privileges;

e the effects of applicable foreign tax structures and potentially adverse tax consequences; and

e significant adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

56



The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive and is subject to rapid and significant technological change, which could render our technologies and
products obsolete or uncompetitive.

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive and is subject to rapid and significant technological change, which could render certain of our products
obsolete or uncompetitive. This is particularly true in the development of therapeutics for indications where new products and combinations of products are
rapidly being developed that change the treatment paradigm for patients. There is no assurance that our product candidates will be the most effective, have the
best safety profile, be the first to market, or be the most economical to make or use. The introduction of competitive therapies as alternatives to our product
candidates could dramatically reduce the value of those development projects or chances of successfully commercializing those product candidates, which could
have a material adverse effect on our long-term financial success.

We will compete with companies in the U.S. and internationally, including major pharmaceutical and chemical companies, specialized CROs, R&D firms,
universities and other research institutions. Many of our competitors have greater financial resources and selling and marketing capabilities, greater experience in
clinical testing and human clinical trials of pharmaceutical products and greater experience in obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals than we do. In
addition, some of our competitors may have lower development and manufacturing costs.

Risks related to our common stock

The price of our common stock may be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in sub. tial losses for holders of our common stock.

The trading price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control, including limited trading volume. In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section, these factors
include:

e adverse results or delays in preclinical studies, clinical trials, regulatory decisions or the development status of our product candidates or any product
candidates we may pursue in the future;

e our ability to raise sufficient additional funds on satisfactory terms, or at all, necessary for the continued development of our product candidates whether
through potential collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements or otherwise;

e the terms and timing of any future collaborative, licensing or other strategic arrangements that we may establish;
e our inability to comply with the minimum listing requirements of Nasdaq;

e the timing of achievement of, or failure to achieve, our, or any potential collaborator’s clinical, regulatory and other milestones, such as the
commencement of clinical development, the completion of a clinical trial or the receipt of regulatory approval;

e decisions to initiate a clinical trial, not initiate a clinical trial, or terminate an existing clinical trial;

e adverse regulatory decisions, including failure to receive regulatory approval for our product candidates or regulatory actions requiring or leading to a
delay or stoppage of any clinical trials;

e the commercial success of any product approved by the FDA or its foreign counterparts;
e changes in applicable laws, rules or regulations;
e adverse developments concerning our manufacturers, suppliers, collaborators and other third parties;

e occurrence of health epidemics or contagious diseases, and potential effects on our business, clinical trial sites, supply chain and manufacturing
facilities;

e our failure to commercialize our product candidates;
e the success of competitive drugs;

e if our patents covering our product candidates expire or are invalidated or are found to be unenforceable, or if some or all of our patent applications do
not result in issued patents or result in patents with narrow, overbroad, or unenforceable claims;
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e additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel;
e unanticipated safety concerns related to the use of any product candidates;

e our announcements or our competitor’s announcements regarding new products, enhancements, significant contracts, acquisitions or strategic
partnerships and investments;

e the size and growth of our target markets;
e our, or companies perceived to be similar to us, failure to meet external expectations, or management guidance;
e fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to us;

e publication of research reports about us or our industry, recommendations, earning results or estimates or withdrawal of research coverage by securities
analysts;

e changes in the market valuations of similar companies;

e changes in general economic, industry, political and market conditions due to military conflicts or war, inflation, increases in interest rates, health
epidemics, the imposition of tariffs by the U.S. or other countries or trade wars;

e changes in our capital structure or dividend policy, future issuances of securities, sales of common stock by officers, directors and significant
stockholders or our incurrence of debt;

e trading volume of our common stock;

e changes in accounting practices and ineffectiveness of our internal controls;
e disputes, litigation or developments relating to proprietary rights;

e timing of milestones and royalty payments; and

e other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.

In addition, the stock market in general, Nasdaq, and the stock of biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may
negatively affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been
instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities. This type of litigation, if instituted, could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of management's attention and resources, which would harm our business, operating results or financial condition.

Our largest stockholder may use its significant interest to take actions not supported by our other stockholders.

As of December 31, 2024, our largest stockholder, Dong-A beneficially owned approximately 62% of our voting rights. As a result, Dong-A is able to exert a
significant influence on the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, including mergers, share capital increases and other extraordinary items.

In addition, pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement between us and Dong-A, Dong-A has the right to appoint a number of our directors commensurate with its
percentage holding of our common stock, which may result in Dong-A controlling both the determinations of the board of directors (“Board”) and the vote of all
matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, which enables them to control all corporate decisions. This concentration of ownership may delay, deter or
prevent acts that would be favored by our other stockholders. The interests of Dong-A may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of our other
stockholders. For as long as Dong-A owns shares of our common stock and the Investor Rights Agreement is effective, Dong-A will have significant influence on
our management, business plans and policies, including the appointment and removal of members of our Board, decisions on whether to raise future capital and
amending our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, which govern the rights attached to our common stock. In particular, with a significant ownership
percentage of our stock, Dong-A will be able to cause or prevent a change of control of us or a change in the composition of our Board and could preclude any
unsolicited acquisition of us. The concentration of ownership could deprive you of an opportunity to receive a premium for your shares of common stock as part
of a sale of MetaVia and ultimately might affect the market price of our common stock. In addition, this concentration of ownership may adversely affect the
trading price of our common stock because investors may perceive disadvantages in owning shares in a company with significant stockholders.
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Dong-A and its affiliates engage in a broad spectrum of activities, including investments in the healthcare industry generally. In the ordinary course of its business
activities, Dong-A and its affiliates may engage in activities where their interests conflict with our interests or those of our other stockholders, such as investing in
or advising businesses that directly or indirectly compete with certain portions of our business or are suppliers or customers of ours. Nothing in our certificate of
incorporation provides that neither Dong-A or any of their affiliates or any director who is not employed by us (including any non-employee director who serves
as one of our officers in both her or his director and officer capacities) or its affiliates have any duty to refrain from engaging, directly or indirectly, in the same
business activities or similar business activities or lines of business in which we operate. Dong-A also may pursue acquisition opportunities that may be
complementary to our business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us. In addition, Dong-A may have an interest in pursuing
acquisitions, divestitures and other transactions that, in their judgment, could enhance its investment, even though such transactions might involve risks to our
stockholders.

We are a controlled company within the meaning of Nasdaq listing requirements and as a result, may rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance
requirements. To the extent we rely on such exemptions, you will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such
corporate governance requirements.

Because of the voting power over our Company held by Dong-A and the Investor Rights Agreement between such parties, we are considered a controlled
company for the purposes of Nasdaq listing requirements. As such, we are exempt from the corporate governance requirements that our Board, compensation
committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee meet the standard of independence established by those corporate governance requirements. The
independence standards are intended to ensure that directors who meet the independence standards are free of any conflicting interest that could influence their
actions as directors.

We do not currently utilize the exemptions afforded to a controlled company, though we are entitled to do so. To the extent we utilize these exemptions, you will
not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law may make an acquisition of MetaVia, which may be beneficial to our stockholders,
more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and the bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of us that
stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could
also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock.
In addition, because our Board is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by
stockholders to replace or remove their current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our Board. Among other things,
these provisions:

e cstablish a classified Board such that not all members of the Board are elected at one time;

e allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our Board;

e limit the manner in which our stockholders can remove directors from the Board;

e establish advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and nominations to our Board;

e require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our stockholders by written consent;
e prohibit our stockholders from calling special meetings;

e authorize our Board to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which preferred stock may include rights superior to the rights of the holders
of common stock, and which could be used to institute a shareholder rights plan, or so-called “poison pill,” that would work to dilute the stock
ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our Board; and

e require the approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to amend or repeal certain
provisions of our charter or bylaws.
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Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits
a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with it for a period of three years after the date of the transaction
in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

We may fail to comply with the continued listing requir ts of Nasdagq, such that our common stock may be delisted and the price of our common stock and
our ability to access the capital markets could be negatively impacted.

Our common stock is listed for trading on Nasdaq. We must satisfy Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements, including, among other things, a minimum closing
bid price requirement of $1.00 per share for thirty consecutive business days (the “Minimum Bid Price Requirement”). We have in the past been notified by
Nasdaq that we were not in compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, and while we have regained compliance, there can be no assurance that we
will remain compliant with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, or any other Nasdaq continued listing requirements.

The delisting of our common stock from Nasdaq could materially reduce the liquidity of our common stock and result in a corresponding material reduction in the
price of our common stock. In addition, delisting could harm our ability to raise capital through alternative financing sources on terms acceptable to us, or at all,
and may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors, employees and fewer business development opportunities.

We are a “smaller reporting company” and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to such companies could make our common
stock less attractive to investors.

We are a “smaller reporting company”, as defined in the Exchange Act. For as long as we continue to be an smaller reporting company, we may take advantage of
exemptions from various reporting requirements, including exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), only being required to provide two years of audited financial statements in our annual reports and reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements.

We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less
attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that could, if not remediated, result in material misstatements in our
financial statements or impair our ability to produce accurate and timely consolidated financial statements.

We concluded that there was a material weakness relating to our internal control over financial reporting relating to a lack of management review over clinical
trial accruals. For more information about these material weaknesses, see Part II, Item 9A. Controls and Procedures of this report. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Although we have begun to take measures to remediate this material weakness, the measures we have taken, and expect to take, to improve our internal controls
may not be sufficient to address the issues identified, to ensure that our internal controls are effective or to ensure that the identified material weakness will not
result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements. If we are unable to correct material weaknesses or deficiencies in
internal controls in a timely manner, our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information accurately and within the time periods specified in
the rules and forms of the SEC will be adversely affected. This failure could negatively affect the market price and trading liquidity of our common stock, cause
investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, subject us to civil and criminal investigations and penalties, and materially and adversely
impact our business and financial condition.

General risk factors
Our business and operations may suffer in the event of system failures or other unplanned events.

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our current and future contractors and consultants are vulnerable to
damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. While we are not aware of
any such material system failure, accident or security breach to-date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a
material disruption of our development programs and our business operations. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or future clinical trials
could result in delays in regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or
security breach was to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications,
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or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability, and the further development and commercialization of our product
candidates could be delayed.

Furthermore, any unplanned event, such as flood, fire, explosion, tornadoes, earthquake, extreme weather condition, medical epidemics, power shortage,
telecommunication failure or other natural or manmade accidents or incidents that result in us being unable to fully utilize the facilities, may have an adverse
effect on our ability to operate the business, particularly on a daily basis, and have significant negative consequences on our financial and operating conditions.
Loss of access to these facilities may result in increased costs, delays in the development of our product candidates or interruption of our business operations.

We rely significantly on information technology and any failure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that technology or loss of data, including any
cyber security incidents, may compromise sensitive information related to our busii prevent us from accessing critical information or expose us to liability
which could harm our ability to operate our business effectively and adversely affect our business and reputation.

In the ordinary course of our business, our contract research organizations and other third parties on which we rely collect and store sensitive data, including
legally protected patient health information, personally identifiable information about our employees, intellectual property, and proprietary business information.
We manage and maintain our applications and data utilizing on-site systems. These applications and data encompass a wide variety of business-critical
information, including R&D information and business and financial information.

The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information is vital to our operations and business strategy. Despite the
implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of third parties with which we contract are vulnerable to damage from cyber-
attacks, computer viruses, breaches, unauthorized access, interruptions due to employee error or malfeasance or other disruptions, or damage from natural
disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. Any such event could compromise our networks, and the information stored there could be
accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. We have measures in place that are designed to detect and respond to such security incidents
and breaches of privacy and security mandates. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under
laws that protect the privacy of personal information, government enforcement actions and regulatory penalties. Unauthorized access, loss or dissemination could
also disrupt our operations, including our ability to conduct research, development and commercialization activities, process and prepare company financial
information, manage various G&A aspects of our business and damage our reputation, in addition to possibly requiring substantial expenditures of resources to
remedy, any of which could adversely affect our business. The loss of clinical trial data could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly
increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will promptly detect any such disruption or security breach, if at
all. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential
or proprietary information, we could incur liability, and our research, development and commercialization efforts could be delayed.

An active trading market for our common stock may not be maintained.

Our common stock is currently traded on Nasdaq, but we can provide no assurance that we will be able to maintain an active trading market for our shares on
Nasdaq or any other exchange in the future. If there is no active market for our common stock, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell shares without
depressing the market price for the shares or at all.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our business, the price of our stock could
decline.

If one or more analysts cover our business and downgrade their evaluations of our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the
price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover our stock, we could lose visibility in the market for our stock, which in turn could
cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

We incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company and our g t is required to devote sub. ial time to compliance initiatives.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of the stock exchange upon which our
common stock is listed, and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including establishment and
maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount
of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more
time-consuming and costly. However, these rules and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as
a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is
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provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing
revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Stockholder activism, the current political environment and the current high level of government intervention
and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the manner
in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.

For as long as we continue to be an smaller reporting company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to
other public companies, including exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, only being
required to provide two years of audited financial statements in our annual reports and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our
periodic reports and proxy statements. If we no longer qualify as a “smaller reporting company,” we will need to comply with additional reporting requirements
that are applicable to other public companies that may be costly and require management to devote substantial time to compliance with such requirements, such as
providing an opinion from our independent registered public accounting firm on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

To achieve compliance with Section 404, we are required to engage in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is
both costly and challenging. In this regard, we must dedicate internal resources, hire additional finance and accounting personnel, potentially engage outside
consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control
processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for
internal control over financial reporting.

During the course of our review and testing, we may identify deficiencies or material weaknesses and be unable to remediate them before we must provide the
required reports. We or our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control
over financial reporting, which could harm our operating results, cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and cause the trading
price of our stock to fall.

In addition, as a public company we are required to timely file accurate quarterly and annual reports with the SEC under the Exchange Act. In order to report the
results of our operations and financial position on an accurate and timely basis, we will depend on CROs to provide timely and accurate notice of their costs to us.
Any failure to report our financial results on an accurate and timely basis could result in sanctions, lawsuits, delisting of our shares from Nasdaq or other adverse
consequences that would materially harm our business.

We do not anticipate declaring or paying, in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends and, consequently, the ability of our stockholders to achieve a return
on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our capital stock and do not currently intend to do so in the foreseeable future. We currently anticipate that
we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business. Therefore, the success of an investment in shares of our common
stock will depend upon any future appreciation in their value. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the
price at which you purchased them.

Our bylaws designate the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be
initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or
employees.

Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will generally be
the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any
of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, as amended, the certificate of incorporation or the bylaws or any other action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This
provision does not apply to claims arising under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act or any claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the
provisions of the bylaws described above. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds
favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and
employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or
proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial
condition.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity
Risk management

We recognize the importance of assessing, identifying, and managing risks associated with cybersecurity threats. These risks include, among other things,
operational risks; intellectual property theft; fraud; extortion; harm to employees, violation of privacy or security laws and other litigation and legal risk; and
reputational risks. We are committed to maintaining robust governance and oversight of these risks and to implementing mechanisms, controls, technologies, and
processes designed to help us assess, identify, and manage these risks. While we have not, as of the date of this Annual Report, experienced a cybersecurity threat
or incident that resulted in a material adverse impact to our business or operations, there can be no guarantee that we will not experience such an incident in the
future.

We aim to incorporate industry best practices throughout our cybersecurity program. Our cybersecurity strategy focuses on implementing effective and efficient
controls, technologies, and other processes to assess, identify, and manage material cybersecurity risks. Our cybersecurity program is designed to be aligned with
applicable industry standards. We work with a third-party provider to monitor threats and potential cybersecurity breaches.

We have processes in place to assess, identify, manage, and address material cybersecurity threats and incidents. These include, among other things: ongoing
security awareness training for employees; mechanisms to detect and monitor unusual network activity; and containment and incident response tools. We monitor
issues that are internally discovered or reported by our third-party monitoring service that may affect our information services and have processes to assess those
issues for potential cybersecurity impact or risk. We impose security requirements upon our suppliers and CROs, including maintaining an effective security
management program; abiding by information handling and asset management requirements; and notifying us in the event of any known or suspected cyber
incident.

Governance

Our Board has ultimate oversight of cybersecurity risk, which it manages as part of our enterprise risk management program. That program is utilized in making
decisions with respect to Company priorities, resource allocations, and oversight structures. The Board is assisted by the audit committee, which reviews our
cybersecurity program with management and reports to the Board.

The audit committee is central to the Board’s oversight of cybersecurity risks and bears the primary responsibility for this domain. The audit committee is
composed of board members with diverse expertise including risk management, technology, and finance, equipping them to oversee cybersecurity risks
effectively.

Our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and corporate controller have operational experience in assessing and managing cybersecurity risk. Our
Chief Executive Officer plays a pivotal role in informing the audit committee on cybersecurity risks. They provide comprehensive briefings to the audit
committee on a regular basis, with a minimum frequency of once per year. These briefings encompass a broad range of topics, including:

e  Current cybersecurity landscape and emerging threats;

e  Status of ongoing cybersecurity initiatives and strategies;

e Incident reports and learnings from any cybersecurity events; and
e Compliance with regulatory requirements and industry standards.

In addition to our scheduled meetings, the audit committee and Chief Executive Officer maintain an ongoing dialogue regarding emerging or potential
cybersecurity risks. Together, they receive updates on any significant developments in the cybersecurity domain, ensuring the board’s oversight is proactive and
responsive. The audit committee actively participates in strategic decisions related to cybersecurity, offering guidance and approval for major initiatives. This
involvement ensures that cybersecurity considerations are integrated into the broader strategic objectives of MetaVia.

Our Chief Financial Officer is informed by our third-party monitoring service of any cybersecurity incidents, who will then escalate the incident to our Chief
Executive Officer, if necessary. Furthermore, significant cybersecurity matters, and strategic
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risk management decisions are escalated to the Board, ensuring that they have comprehensive oversight and can provide guidance on critical cybersecurity issues.

Item 2.  Properties

We currently lease 2,441 square feet of office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts, as our corporate headquarters. The initial lease term is for three years with an
option to renew for an additional two-year term. The lease commenced in September 2023 and expires in August 2026.

We believe that our leased properties are adequate for our purposes and to pursue our strategy.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising out of our ordinary course of business. We are not currently a party to any
claims or legal proceedings that, in the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial
statements. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and
other factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market information

Our common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “MTVA.”

Stockholders

On March 17, 2025, we had 8,654,869 shares of common stock outstanding and 52 holders of record of our common stock. The transfer agent and registrar for
our common stock is Equiniti Trust Company, LLC.

Dividend policy

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock, and we do not currently intend to pay any dividends on our common stock for the
foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends on our common stock will be, subject to applicable law, at the discretion of our Board and will
depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, and contractual restrictions in loan or other agreements.

Recent sales of unregistered securities; use of proceeds from registered offerings

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not issue or sell any unregistered securities not previously disclosed in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or in
a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Purchases of equity securities by the issuer and affiliated purchasers

None.
Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the information set forth under our
consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results
may differ materially from those contained in or implied by any forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including, but not limited to, the risks
and uncertainties described under “Risk Factors” elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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Certain amounts in the following discussion and analysis may not add due to rounding, and all percentages have been calculated using unrounded amounts.
Overview

We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company focused primarily on developing novel pharmaceuticals to treat cardiometabolic diseases. MetaVia has two
programs focused primarily on the treatment of MASH and obesity.

e DA-1241 is a novel GPR119 agonist with development optionality as a standalone and/or combination therapy for both MASH and T2DM.
Agonism of GPR119 in the gut promotes the release of key gut peptides, GLP-1, GIP and PYY. These peptides play a further role in glucose
metabolism, lipid metabolism and weight loss. DA-1241 has demonstrated beneficial effects on glucose, lipid profile and liver inflammation, as
demonstrated during in-vivo preclinical studies.

e DA-1726 is a novel oxyntomodulin analogue functioning as a GLP1R and GCGR dual agonist for the treatment of obesity that is designed to be
administered once weekly subcutaneously. With the activation of the dual agonist, weight loss may be achieved by GLPIR reducing appetite while
GCGR increases energy expenditure.

While we primarily focus our financial resources and management’s attention on the development of DA-1241 and DA-1726, we also have four legacy
therapeutic programs designed to impact a range of indications in viral, neurodegenerative and cardiometabolic diseases, which we are not planning to
advance development on and have, or continue to consider for, out-licensing and divestiture opportunities. In July 2024, we entered into an exclusive out-
license agreement with MThera to provide MThera with the rights to NB-01 for the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy.

Our operations have consisted principally of performing R&D activities, which include preclinical developments and clinical trials, and raising capital. Our
activities are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, such as failing to secure additional funding before sustainable revenues and profit from operations are
achieved. For more information on our business and product candidates, see Part I, Item 1. Business of this Annual Report.

Recent developments

e December 2024: Announced positive top-line 16-week results from the two-part Phase 2a clinical trial in patients with presumed MASH.

e November 2024: Announced a strategic realignment, ahead of important clinical milestones, with a corporate name change to MetaVia Inc.

e November 2024: Announced completion of last patient last visit for Phase 2a clinical trial evaluating DA-1241 for the treatment of MASH.

e September 2024: Announced positive top-line data from the SAD Part 1 of our Phase 1 clinical trial evaluating DA-1726 for the treatment of obesity.
Key operating information

Research and development expenses
R&D expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the development of our product candidates. These expenses include:

e cmployee-related expenses, including salaries, related benefits and stock-based compensation, for employees engaged in research and development
functions;

e expenses incurred in connection with the clinical development of our product candidates, including under agreements with third parties, such as
consultants and CROs;

e the cost of manufacturing and storing drug products for use in our preclinical studies and clinical trials, including under agreements with third parties,
such as consultants and Clinical Manufacturing Organizations (“CMOs”);

e facilities, depreciation and other expenses, which include direct or allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and insurance;

e costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements; and
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e payments made under third-party licensing agreements.

We recognize external development costs based on an evaluation of the progress toward completion of specific tasks using information provided to us by our
service providers. This process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been
performed on our behalf, and estimating the level of service provided and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or
otherwise notified of actual costs. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and development
activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. Such amounts are recognized as an expense when the goods have been delivered or the services have been performed,
or when it is no longer expected that the goods will be delivered, or the services rendered.

Our direct research and development expenses consist primarily of external costs, such as fees paid to outside consultants, CROs, CMOs and research laboratories
in connection with our clinical development, quality assurance and quality control processes, manufacturing, and clinical development activities. Our direct
research and development expenses also include fees incurred under third-party license agreements. We use our employee and infrastructure resources across
multiple research and development projects. We do not allocate employee costs and costs associated with our facilities, including depreciation or other indirect
costs, to specific product candidates because these costs are deployed across multiple programs and, as such, are not separately classified. We use internal
resources to manage CMO and CRO activities. These employees work across multiple programs. We do not track our costs by product candidate.

Clinical development activities are central to our business model. We do not believe that our historical costs are indicative of the future costs associated with these
programs, nor do they represent the costs of other future programs we may initiate. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have
higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. We
have some control over the timing of these expenses, but costs may be difficult to control once clinical trials have commenced.

The successful development and commercialization of our product candidates are highly uncertain. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the
nature, timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the preclinical and clinical development of any of our product candidates. Additionally,
because of the risks inherent in novel treatment discovery and development, we cannot reasonably estimate or know:

e the timing and progress of preclinical and clinical development activities;

e the number and scope of clinical programs that we decide to pursue;

e  our ability to maintain our current development programs and to establish new ones;
e establishing an appropriate safety profile with IND-enabling studies;

e successful patient enrollment in, and the initiation and completion of, clinical trials;

e the successful completion of clinical trials with safety, tolerability and efficacy profiles that are satisfactory to the FDA or any comparable foreign
regulatory authority;

e the receipt of regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;
e the timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;
e  our ability to establish new licensing or collaboration arrangements;

e establishing agreements with third-party manufacturers for clinical supply for our clinical trials and commercial manufacturing, if any of our product
candidates is approved;

e development and timely delivery of clinical-grade and commercial-grade drug formulations that can be used in our clinical trials and for commercial
launch;

e  obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
e launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;
e maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of the product candidates following commercialization; or

e the effect of competing technological and market developments.
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A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of our product candidates could significantly change the costs and timing
associated with the development of that product candidate.

Acquired in-process research and development expenses

We include costs to acquire or in-license product candidates in-process research and development (“IPR&D”). When we acquire the right to develop and
commercialize a new product candidate, any up-front payments, or any future milestone payments that relate to the acquisition or licensing of such a right are
immediately expensed as acquired in-process research and development in the period in which they are incurred. These costs are immediately expensed provided
that the payments do not also represent processes or activities that would constitute a “business,” or provided that the product candidate has not achieved
regulatory approval for marketing and, absent obtaining such approval, has no alternative future use. Royalties owed on future sales of any licensed product will
be expensed in the period the related revenues are recognized.

General and administrative expenses

G&A expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in executive, finance and administrative
functions. G&A expenses also include direct and allocated facility-related costs as well as professional fees for legal, patent, consulting, investor and public
relations, accounting, and audit services.

We anticipate that our G&A expenses will increase in the future as a result of accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance, and director and officer insurance
costs as we pursue the development of our product pipeline, as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with being a public company.

Income taxes

We have had significant pre-tax losses since our inception, and we have not yet generated revenues and face significant challenges to becoming profitable.
Accordingly, we recorded a valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets attributable to the NOL we have incurred in each year or for our earned R&D credits.
We will continue to monitor all positive and negative evidence until we believe it is more likely than not that the valuation allowance is no longer necessary,
resulting in an income tax benefit in the period such determination is made.

We have U.S. federal NOL carryforwards and U.S. federal R&D credit carryforwards, and these carryforwards will not expire. We also have state NOL
carryforwards and state R&D credit carryforwards. Our state NOL and R&D credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2042, if not utilized.

Net loss

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception. Our ability to generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend on the
successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more of our current or future product candidates. To date, we have not generated any revenue
from product sales, collaborations with other companies, government grants or any other source, and do not expect to generate any revenue in the foreseeable
future.

Accumulated deficit

We have an accumulated deficit, and we expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for at least the next several years. We
expect that our expenses and capital requirements will increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly if and as we:

e pursue clinical development for our current product candidates;

e initiate preclinical studies and clinical trials with respect to our current product candidates and indications and any future product candidates or
indications that we may pursue;

e acquire or in-license other product candidates and/or technologies;
e develop, maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
e hire additional clinical, scientific and commercial personnel;

e establish a commercial manufacturing source and secure supply chain capacity sufficient to provide commercial quantities of any product candidates for
which we may obtain regulatory approval;

e seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

67



e establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure and/or enter into partnership arrangements to commercialize any products for which we may
obtain regulatory approval; or

e add administrative, operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development
and planned future commercialization efforts, and to support being a public reporting company.

Results of Operations
2024 compared to 2023

The following table summarizes our results of operations for 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, other than share and per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 21,553 $ 9,158

General and administrative 7,256 6,728
Total operating expenses 28,309 15,886
Loss from operations (28,809) (15,886)
Other income:

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 297 2,955

Interest income 920 461
Total other income 1,217 3,416
Loss before income taxes (27,592) (12,470)
Provision for income taxes — —
Net loss $ (27,592) % (12,470)
Loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted $ (3.56) $ (2.46)
Weighted average shares of common stock, basic and diluted 7,757,128 5,071,101

Operating expenses and loss from operations

Our total operating expenses and loss from operations for 2024 were $28.8 million, an increase of $12.9 million, or 81.3%, compared to 2023. This increase was
attributable to higher R&D and G&A expenses.

Our R&D expenses were $21.6 million for 2024, an increase of $12.4 million, or 135.3%, compared to 2023. This increase was primarily related to increased
R&D activities related to Phase 2a clinical trial for DA-1241 and Phase 1 trial for DA-1726 for 2024 as compared to 2023 when R&D activities began to ramp up
following the acquisition of DA-1241 and DA-1726 in the fourth quarter of 2022. Specifically, the increase in R&D expenses was primarily attributable to (i) $9.3
million in higher clinical trial expenditures, (ii) $2.5 million in higher expenditures for investigational drug manufacturing, non-clinical and preclinical costs
related to expenses incurred under the Shared Services Agreement with Dong-A, and (iii) $1.2 million in higher employee compensation and benefits. These
increases were partially offset by (i) $0.2 million in lower consulting expenditures and (ii) $0.4 million in lower other R&D costs.

Our G&A expenses were $7.3 million for 2024, an increase of $0.5 million, or 7.8%, compared to 2023. This increase was primarily attributable to $1.0 million in
higher employee compensation and benefits, partially offset by (i) $0.4 million in lower consulting expenditures, and (ii) $0.1 million in lower legal and
professional fees.

Other income

Our other income for 2024 was $1.2 million, a decrease of $2.2 million, or 64.4%, compared to 2023. This decrease was attributable to $2.7 million in lower gain
related to the change in fair value of warrant liabilities due to warrant exercises in 2023 and the impact of our common stock’s declining stock price during the last
few years, partially offset by $0.5 million in higher interest income due primarily to higher average invested amount in 2024.

Provision for income taxes

Our effective tax rate for 2024 and 2023 was zero percent as we have recorded a full valuation allowance for the income tax benefits attributable to our pre-tax
losses.
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Net loss

For 2024, we had a net loss of $27.6 million, or $3.56 per share of basic and diluted common stock, compared to a net loss of $12.5 million, or $2.46 per share of
basic and diluted common stock for 2023.

Going concern

As reflected in the consolidated financial statements, we had $16.0 million in cash as of December 31, 2024. We have experienced net losses and negative cash
flows from operating activities since our inception and had an accumulated deficit of $135.9 million as of December 31, 2024. We have incurred a net loss
of $27.6 million and net cash used in operating activities of $24.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Due in large part to the ongoing Phase 2a
clinical trial for DA-1241 and Phase 1 clinical trial for DA-1726, we expect to continue to incur net losses and negative cash flows from operating activities for
the foreseeable future. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year from the issuance of our
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

We believe that our existing cash will be sufficient to fund our operations into the third quarter of 2025. We plan to continue to fund our operations from equity
offerings, debt financing, or other sources, potentially including collaborations, out-licensing and other similar arrangements. However, there can be no assurance
that we will be able to obtain any sources of financing on acceptable terms, or at all, or that the Series A Warrants will be exercised. To the extent that we can raise
additional funds by issuing equity securities or in the event our existing warrants are exercised, our stockholders may experience significant dilution. Any debt
financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that impact our ability to conduct our business. If we are unable to raise additional capital, we may slow
down or stop our ongoing and planned clinical trials until such time as additional capital is raised and this may have a material adverse effect on us.

The determination as to whether we can continue as a going concern contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of
business. Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern and do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. This basis of accounting contemplates the recovery of our assets and the satisfaction of our liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Liquidity and capital resources

Our primary use of cash is to fund our R&D activities. We have funded our operations primarily through public offerings of our common stock and private
placements of equity and convertible securities. As of December 31, 2024, we had cash totaling $16.0 million. We maintain cash at financial institutions that at
times may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured limits of $0.25 million per bank. Our cash balance includes liquid insured
deposits, which are obligations of the banks in which the deposits are held and qualify for FDIC insurance protection per depositor in each recognized legal
category of account ownership in accordance with the rules of the FDIC. To date, we have not experienced any losses related to these funds.

Registered direct offering and private placement

In June 2024, we closed on a registered direct offering of 763,359 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $3.93 per share for gross proceeds of $3.0
million (the “Registered Direct Offering”) with an institutional investor. The offering of the shares was made pursuant to our effective shelf registration statement
on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-278646), initially filed with and declared effective by the SEC in April 2024, and a prospectus supplement filed with the SEC
in June 2024.

In June 2024, we closed on a private placement offering (the “Private Placement,” and together with the Registered Direct Offering, the “Offering”) with an
institutional investor and Dong-A, and received aggregate gross proceeds of $17.0 million, of which $10.0 million was received from Dong-A. The Private
Placement was comprised of (i) 2,544,530 shares of common stock, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 1,781,171 shares of common stock (the “Pre-
Funded Warrants™), (iii) Series A warrants to purchase 5,089,060 shares of common stock (the “Series A Warrants™), and (iv) Series B warrants to purchase up to
7,633,591 shares of common stock (the “Series B Warrants”). For additional information, see “Note 7. Stockholders’ equity” to the consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Report.

Cash Flows

The principal use of cash in operating activities is to fund our current expenditures in support of our R&D activities and clinical development activities. Financing
activities currently represent the principal source of our cash flow.
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The following table reflects the major categories of cash flows for each of the periods presented (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Net cash used in operating activities $ (24,710)  $ (10,799)
Net cash used in investing activities (8) (50)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 18,300 (80)
Net decrease in cash $ (6,418) § (10,929)

Net cash used in operating activities was $24.7 million for 2024 and consisted of net loss of $27.6 million, partially offset by net cash provided by change in
operating assets and liabilities of $2.6 million and non-cash charges totaling $0.3 million, which was primarily related to stock-based compensation and change in
fair value of warrant liabilities. Net cash used in operating activities was $10.8 million for 2023 and consisted of net loss of $12.5 million and non-cash credits
totaling $2.8 million, which was primarily related to change in fair value of warrant liabilities, partially offset by net cash provided by changes in operating assets
and liabilities of $4.4 million.

Net cash used in investing activities, related to the purchases of property equipment, was less than $0.1 million for 2024 and 2023.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $18.3 million for 2024 compared to net cash used in financing activities of less than $0.1 million for 2023. Net cash
provided by financing activities for 2024 primarily consisted of gross proceeds from the Offering of $20.0 million, net of payment of issuance cost of $1.7
million. Net cash used in financing activities of less than $0.1 million for 2023 was attributable to payment of financing costs related to a prior financing
transaction in 2022.

For additional details, see the consolidated statements of cash flows in the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Contractual obligations, purchase commitments and employment agreements
Contractual obligations

We entered into a non-cancelable operating lease for our corporate headquarters in Cambridge, Massachusetts. For additional information, see "Note 6.
Commitments and contingencies" to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into agreements with third parties that include indemnification provisions, which, in our judgment, are normal and
customary for companies in our industry sector. These agreements are typically with business partners, clinical sites, and suppliers. Pursuant to these agreements,
we generally agree to indemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse indemnified parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified parties with respect to our
products or product candidates, use of such products or product candidates, or other actions taken or omitted by us. The maximum potential amount of future
payments we could be required to make under these indemnification provisions is sometimes unlimited. We have not incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or
settle claims related to these indemnification provisions. As a result, the estimated fair value of liabilities relating to these provisions is minimal. Accordingly, we
have no liabilities recorded for these provisions as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

In the normal course of business, we may be confronted with issues or events that may result in contingent liability. These generally relate to lawsuits, claims,
environmental actions, or the actions of various regulatory agencies. We consult with counsel and other appropriate experts to assess the claim. If, in our opinion,
we have incurred a probable loss, an estimate is made of the loss and the appropriate accounting entries are reflected in our financial statements.

We are party to license agreements with respect to certain of our product candidates that would obligate us to pay royalties with respect to revenue from such
product candidates and milestone payments upon achievement of certain development milestones. As of the date hereof, we do not expect to achieve such
milestones in the near term, but we would have to obtain additional capital to pay such milestone payments.

Additional information regarding contingent payments and license agreements is in “Note 5. Related party” and "Note 6. Commitments and contingencies" to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report.

Purchase commitments

Information regarding purchase commitments is in "Note 6. Commitments and contingencies" to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report.
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Employment agreements

Information regarding employment agreements is in "Note 6. Commitments and contingencies" to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates in our consolidated financial statements relate to clinical trial costs and accruals,
classification of warrants as derivative liability or equity, and the fair value of stock-based compensation and warrants. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in reported results in the period in which they
become known.

Our critical accounting estimates and judgements relate to the following items: (i) cash forecast for conclusion about MetaVia’s ability to continue as a going
concern, (ii) conclusion on the classification of warrants based on the underlying warrant and transaction agreements, and (iii) clinical trial costs and accruals. Our
cash forecast for the 12-month period from the filing date of this Annual Report utilizes current cash balance less estimated payments for future clinical trials and
G&A costs plus forecasted cash inflows. Our estimates and judgements used in clinical trial costs and accruals are described below.

Accrual for research and development costs related to clinical trial activities

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to record an accrual for R&D costs related to clinical trial activities.
This process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with applicable personnel to identify services that have been performed on
our behalf and estimating the level of service provided and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified
of actual costs. Certain of our service providers invoice us in arrears for services performed, on a pre-determined schedule or when contractual milestones are met;
however, some service providers require advance payments. We make estimates of our accrued and prepaid expenses as of each balance sheet date in the
consolidated financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of these estimates with the
service providers and make adjustments, if necessary. Examples of estimated accrued R&D expenses include fees paid to:

e vendors in connection with preclinical development activities;
e CROs and investigative sites in connection with preclinical studies and clinical trials; and
e CMOs in connection with the production of preclinical and clinical trial materials.

We base the expense recorded related to external R&D on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and contracts with
multiple CMOs and CROs that supply, conduct and manage preclinical studies and clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are
subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors
will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the expense. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors such as the
successful enrollment of patients and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be
performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from the estimate,
we adjust the accrual or the amount of prepaid expenses accordingly. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually
incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services performed may vary and may result
in reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period.

Recent accounting pronouncements
Information regarding (i) adoption of new accounting standards during 2024 and (ii) accounting standards issued but not yet adopted is included in “Note 1.

Business, basis of presentation, new accounting standards and summary of significant accounting policies” to the consolidated financial statements included in
this Annual Report.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of business. Some potential market risks are discussed below:
Market risk

Strategic and operational risks arise if we fail to carry out business operations and/or raise sufficient equity and/or debt financing. These strategic opportunities or
risks arise from a range of factors that might include changing economic and political circumstances and regulatory approvals and competitor actions. The risk is
mitigated by consideration of other potential development opportunities and challenges which management may undertake.

Currency risk

Our operating results and financial position are reported in U.S. dollars. Some of our financial transactions are denominated in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. Accordingly, our results of operations are subject to currency transaction risks.

We have no hedging agreements in place with respect to foreign exchange rates. We have not entered into any agreements or purchased any instruments to hedge
possible currency risks at this time.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. Cash
bears interest at market rates.

Inflation risk
If our costs become subject to significant inflationary pressures, it could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Reference is made to the financial statements, the notes thereto, and the report thereon, commencing on page F-1 of this Annual Report, which financial
statements, notes and report are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

As required by Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) under the Exchange Act, our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer (“PEO”) and
principal financial officer (“PFO”), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Based upon that evaluation, our PEO and PFO concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were not effective as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report, as a result of the material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting, which is discussed further below.

Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of our management and Board; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. The scope
of management’s assessment regarding the Company’s internal control over financial
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reporting includes the criteria set forth by the Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based upon that assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of
December 31, 2024.

In connection with the preparation of the audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, management has identified the following
material weaknesses as of December 31, 2024: (i) logical access over the accounting software and (ii) lack of review over reconciliation of accrued clinical trial
liabilities. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. See “Remediation efforts
to address the material weaknesses” below for steps we are taking to correct these material weaknesses.

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. The
management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only the
management’s report in this Annual Report.

Remediation efforts to address the material weaknesses

We are in the process of remediating, but have not yet remediated, the material weaknesses, as described above, related to logical access over the accounting
software and lack of review over reconciliation of accrued clinical trial liabilities. Under the oversight of the audit committee, management has developed a
detailed plan and timetable for the implementation of appropriate remedial measures to address the material weaknesses. As of the date of this report, the
following actions have been taken:

e we have implemented enhanced controls relating to logical access over the accounting software, which includes (i) validation of certain financial reports
for accuracy and completeness and (ii) supervision and review over financial reporting; and

e we have implemented enhanced controls relating to lack of review over reconciliation of accrued clinical trial liabilities, which include enhanced
documentation of the reviews.

Management is working to fully remediate these material weaknesses in 2025.
Inherent limitations of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting

Our management, including our PEO and PFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will
prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that
all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls is also based in part
upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Other than the remediation activities for previously identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting discussed below, there have been no
other changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Remediation activities for previously identified material weaknesses

In connection with the preparation of the financial statements included in our Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023, management identified the
following material weaknesses: (i) lack of segregation of duties over cash disbursements and financial reporting, (ii) logical access over computer applications,
and (iii) lack of supervision and review over financial reporting. Specifically, there was a lack of segregation of duties involved in the execution of wire transfers,
preparing journal entries and review over clinical trial accruals, and certain individuals in the accounting department have administrative access to certain
financial reporting systems.
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Under the oversight of the audit committee, management has developed a detailed plan and timetable for the implementation of appropriate remedial measures to
address the previously identified material weaknesses. As of the date of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2024,
management concluded that certain previously identified material weaknesses related to (i) lack of segregation of duties over cash disbursements and (ii) logical
access over certain of the computer applications, including removing certain individuals in the accounting department with administrative access, have been
remediated. The remaining previously identified weaknesses as of September 30, 2024 were: (i) lack of segregation of duties over financial reporting, (ii) logical
access over the accounting software, and (iii) lack of supervision and review over financial reporting. We have taken the following actions to address the
remaining previously identified material weaknesses:

e we have added additional personnel to the accounting department to allow for the effective segregation of duties over financial reporting, including
preparing journal entries and review over clinical trial accruals;

e we have implemented effective controls relating to lack of supervision over financial reporting;

e we have implemented enhanced controls relating to logical access over the accounting software, which includes (i) validation of certain financial reports
for accuracy and completeness and (ii) supervision and review over financial reporting; and

e we have implemented effective controls related to lack of review over financial reporting, except for the reconciliation of accrued clinical trial liabilities.

As of the date of this Annual Report, management has concluded that the actions described above were satisfactorily implemented and have been in place for a
sufficient period of time to demonstrate that previously identified material weaknesses related to (i) lack of segregation of duties over financial reporting, (ii) lack
of supervision over financial reporting, and (iii) lack of review over financial reporting, except for the reconciliation of accrued clinical trial liabilities, have been
remediated. We are in the process of remediating, but have not yet remediated, the material weaknesses related to (i) logical access over the accounting software
and (ii) lack of review over reconciliation of accrued clinical trial liabilities.

Item 9B. Other Information

Trading Plans

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or Section 16 officers adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for
the purchase or sale of Company securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) of the Exchange Act or any “non-
Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement.”

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevents Inspections
None.

Part I11
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Directors and executive officers

The Board is divided into three classes. Members of each class serve staggered three-year term. The terms of directors in Class I, Class II and Class III expire at
the annual meetings of stockholders to be held in 2026, 2027 and 2025, respectively.

The following table provides information as to each person who is, as of the filing hereof, a director and/or executive officer of MetaVia.

Name Position(s) Age
Mark A. Glickman Class III Director 59
Jason L. Groves Class II Director 54
Hyung Heon Kim Chief Executive Officer, President and Class II Director 49
Andrew 1. Koven Class II Director and Chair of the Board 67
Michael Salsbury Class III Director 75
D. Gordon Strickland Class I Director 78
James P. Tursi Class I Director 60
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Marshall H. Woodworth Chief Financial Officer 67

Business experience and background of directors and executive officers

Mr. Mark A. Glickman has served as a member of the Board since May 2023. Mr. Glickman has also served as a member of the board of Otsuka Precision Health
since March 2024. Since December 2023, Mr. Glickman has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of BioFlorida Inc., an association representing life
sciences and research organizations based in Florida. Previously, Mr. Glickman served as the Co-Chief Executive Officer for TherapeuticsMD, Inc. (“TXMD”)
(Nasdaq: TXMD), a women’s healthcare product company, from September 2022 through the sale of the assets of TXMD, Inc. to Mayne Therapeutics (now
Mayne Pharma Group Ltd) in January 2023. Mr. Glickman also served as Chief Business Officer, Commercial of TXMD, since June 2021 through the sale of
assets of TXMD. Previously, Mr. Glickman served as the Chief Commercial Officer for Esperion Therapeutics, Inc. (Nasdaq: ESPR) from 2018 until December
2020, where he developed and led the commercial division in the launch of the company’s first cardiovascular prescription therapy. From June 2015 to March
2018, Mr. Glickman served as the Chief Commercial Officer for Aralez Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Aralez”), a public specialty pharmaceutical company, where he
built out and led the first commercial effort for a previously clinical organization. Prior to June 2015, Mr. Glickman was Executive Vice President of Sales and
Marketing for Auxilium Pharmaceuticals Inc., which was acquired by Endo International plc (“Endo”) in January 2015, where he led all commercial efforts for a
portfolio of thirteen pharmaceutical products. Mr. Glickman's previous positions include Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing and Vice President of
Medical Devices for Otsuka America Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Marketing Head, Regional Sales Director and Vice President of Sales and Operations at Kos
Pharmaceuticals (Abbott Laboratories, now AbbVie Inc. (NYSE: ABBV)), where he expanded his skills in the commercial products area. Mr. Glickman received
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science from S.UN.Y Oswego, and a Master of Business Administration in Finance and International Management from
the N.Y.U. Stern School of Business. The Board believes that Mr. Glickman’s 30 years of experience in the pharmaceutical and medical device industry qualifies
him to serve as a director.

Mpr. Jason L. Groves, Esq. has served as a member of the Board since December 2019. Since July 2022, Mr. Groves has served as the Chief Legal Officer and
Corporate Secretary of Medifast, Inc. (“Medifast”) (NYSE: MED), a publicly-held leading manufacturer and distributor of clinically-proven, healthy-living
products and programs. After joining Medifast in 2009, Mr. Groves has held several executive management positions, most recently serving as Executive Vice
President and General Counsel of Medifast, Inc. from 2011 to July 2022. Mr. Groves was a Medifast director from 2009 to 2015, serving on the audit committee
from 2009 to 2011. Prior to joining Medifast, Mr. Groves was Assistant Vice President of Government Affairs for Verizon Maryland, a telecommunications
company, where he was responsible for the company’s legislative policy and government affairs. A U.S. Army veteran, Mr. Groves was a direct-commissioned
Judge Advocate in the U.S. Army Judge Advocate General’s (JAG) Corps. As a JAG officer, he practiced law and had the distinction of prosecuting criminal
cases in the District Court of Maryland as a Special Assistant U.S. Attorney. Over the course of three years, he received two Army Achievement Medals and one
Army Commendation Medal. Mr. Groves completed nine years with the Anne Arundel Medical Center Board of Trustees, chairing their international captive
insurance company board for eight years. Mr. Groves received his Bachelor of Science degree, cum laude, in Hospitality Management from Bethune-Cookman
University, and obtained his Juris Doctor from North Carolina Central University School of Law. The Board believes that Mr. Grove’s experience serving as an
independent director, audit committee member, and chief legal officer of a large public corporation while assisting with the initial international introduction of
such corporation’s products qualifies him to serve as a director.

My. Hyung Heon Kim has served as a member of the Board since July 2021 and was appointed as our President and Chief Executive Officer in August 2023.
Previously, Mr. Kim was the General Counsel and a Vice President of Dong-A ST and Dong-A Socio Group, a Korean-based group of companies mainly
engaged in the research, development, production and sale of pharmaceuticals, medical devices and APis. Mr. Kim served as General Counsel of Dong-A ST from
January 2018 until August 2023 and as a Vice President of Dong-A ST from December 2020 until August 2023. Mr. Kim previously served as Executive Director
of Dong-A ST from January 2018 through December 2020. Prior to his roles with Dong-A ST, Mr. Kim was Head of International Legal Affairs for Dong-A
Socio Holdings Co., Ltd., a Korean-based holdings company for the Dong-A Socio group of companies from 2012 to 2018. Since April 2021, Mr. Kim has served
as a director of AnaPath Services GmbH, a private Swiss-based provider of scientific research and development services, and STP America Research Corp, a
private New Jersey-based research and development company. Prior to joining Dong-A Socio Group, Mr. Kim served as legal counsel to SK Energy Co., Ltd. and
SK Innovation Co., Ltd. from 2008 to 2011. Mr. Kim received his Bachelor of Law degree from Soongshil University in Korea, and obtained his Juris Doctor
from Washington University School of Law. The Board believes that Mr. Kim’s experiences gained as General Counsel and Head of International Legal Affairs to
an established pharmaceutical group of companies qualify him to serve as a director. In addition, his day-to-day leadership of MetaVia gives him critical insights
into our operations, strategy and competition, and he facilitates the Board’s ability to perform its oversight function.
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Mr. Andrew I. Koven has served as a member of the Board since July 2021, and Chair of the Board since January 2022. Mr. Koven is the Lead Independent
Director of Kala Bio, Inc. (“Kala”) (Nasdaq: KALA), a public biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of
innovative therapies for diseases of the eye. He has served as the Lead Independent Director of Kala since December 2018 and as a member of the Kala board of
directors since September 2017. Mr. Koven serves as Chair of Kala’s compensation committee and is a member of the audit committee. Mr. Koven was, until his
retirement in January 2019, the President and Chief Business Officer of Aralez and served in that role with the company’s predecessor, Pozen Inc. (“Pozen”),
commencing in June 2015. Prior to joining Pozen, Mr. Koven served as Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer and General Counsel of Auxilium
Pharmaceuticals Inc., a public specialty biopharmaceutical company, from February 2012 until January 2015, when it was acquired by Endo. Mr. Koven served as
President and Chief Administrative Officer and a member of the board of directors of Neurologix, Inc. (“Neurologix™), a company focused on the development of
multiple innovative gene therapy development programs, from September 2011 to November 2011. Before Neurologix, Mr. Koven served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Administrative and Legal Officer of Inspire Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a public specialty pharmaceutical company, from July 2010 until May 2011
when it was acquired by Merck & Co., Inc. (NYSE: MRK). Previously, Mr. Koven served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
of Sepracor Inc. (now Sunovion), a public specialty pharmaceutical company, from March 2007 until February 2010 when it was acquired by Dainippon
Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. Prior to joining Sepracor, Mr. Koven served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Kos
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a public specialty pharmaceutical company, from August 2003 until its acquisition by Abbott Laboratories (now AbbVie) in December
2006. Mr. Koven began his career in the pharmaceutical industry first as an Assistant General Counsel and then as Associate General Counsel at Warner-Lambert
Company from 1993 to 2000, followed by his role as Senior Vice President and General Counsel at Lavipharm Corporation from 2000 to 2003. From 1986 to
1992, he was a corporate associate at Cahill, Gordon & Reindel in New York. From 1992 to 1993, he served as Counsel, Corporate and Investment Division, at
The Equitable Life Assurance Society of the U.S. Mr. Koven holds a Master of Laws (LL.M.) Degree from Columbia University School of Law and a Bachelor of
Laws (LL.B.) Degree and B.A. Degree in Political Science from Dalhousie University. The Board believes that Mr. Koven’s extensive experience in the
pharmaceutical industry qualifies him to serve as a director.

Myr. Michael Salsbury has served as a member of the Board since December 2019. From May 2021 to August 2024, Mr. Salsbury served as Counsel to Current
Health Inc., a provider of remote care management services and products. Current Health was acquired by Best Buy Co., Inc. (NYSE: BBY) in November 2021.
From September 2017 to May 2022, Mr. Salsbury served as Counsel to Verisma Systems, Inc., a provider of cloud-based automated disclosure management
systems; and from February 2013 to July 2017, he served as Secretary and General Counsel to Best Doctors, Inc., a provider of expert medical opinions. Best
Doctors was acquired by Teladoc Health, Inc. (NYSE: TDOC) in July 2017. Mr. Salsbury has more than 25 years’ experience as a senior executive with public
and private companies and at a private law practice. Mr. Salsbury received a J.D. and M.B.A. from the University of Virginia and a B.A. from Dartmouth College.
The Board believes that Mr. Salsbury’s legal expertise and his experience serving as general counsel and secretary of a Fortune 100 corporation qualifies him to
serve as a director.

Myr. D. Gordon Strickland has served as a member of the Board since January 2022. He served as Chair of Ampex Corporation (“Ampex”), a technology
company that was previously listed on Nasdaq, from March 2012 until June 2019. He also served as Ampex’s Chief Executive Officer from February 2007 to
March 2012. Prior to Ampex, he served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Cardiff Holdings, a privately held producer of credit, debit, loyalty and other
cards by Brookside Equity Partners from March 2012 to August 2013. Prior to Cardiff Holdings, Mr. Strickland was the Chair of Medical Resources, a public
operator of diagnostic imaging centers. Mr. Strickland was also president and CEO of MCSi, Inc., a technical integrator of audio-visual products, from March
2003 until March 2004. Prior to MCSi, Mr. Strickland was the president and CEO of Capitol Wire, Inc, an internet-based news and information service provider
from September 1999 until August 2002 and had leadership roles with Kerr Group, a manufacturer of glass containers and plastic packaging, from June 1986 until
August 1997, including serving as the president and CEO, and as Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Strickland has over 35 years of
experience as a senior executive and board member with public and private companies. Mr. Strickland received an M.B.A. from the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania and a B.A from Yale University. The Board believes that Mr. Strickland’s experience serving as Chair and Chief Executive Officer of
a publicly-traded company, Ampex, qualifies him to serve as a director.

Dr. James P. Tursi was appointed to the Board in November 2023. Dr. Tursi has served as Executive Vice President — Global R&D for Endo since January 2022.
From April 2020 until January 2022, Dr. Tursi served as Chief Scientific Officer U.S. for Ferring Pharmaceuticals. From August 2018 until April 2020, Dr. Tursi
served as Executive Vice President, R&D for Antares Pharma Inc. (Nasdaq: ATRS). Prior to August 2018, Dr. Tursi served as Chief Medical Officer at Aralez,
Chief Medical Officer and Vice President of Clinical R&D for Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and held positions of increasing responsibility at GlaxoSmithKline
(NYSE: GSK) and Procter & Gamble Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Tursi practiced medicine and surgery for over 10
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years and created a medical education company, I Will Pass®, which assisted physicians in the process of board certification. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Chemistry and Biology from Ursinus College; a Doctor of Medicine from Medical College of Pennsylvania and performed his residency in Gynecology
and Obstetrics at the Johns Hopkins Hospital. The Board believes Dr. Tursi’s pharmaceutical industry and senior leadership experience qualifies him to serve as a
director.

Myr. Marshall Woodworth served as our Acting Chief Financial Officer from October 25, 2023 until his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer on March 1,
2024. Previously, Mr. Woodworth served as the Chief Financial Officer of Nevakar Inc. and its respective subsidiaries (Nevakar Injectables Inc. and Vyluma Inc.)
from May 2017 through May 2023, where Mr. Woodworth was responsible for the accounting, financing, legal and human resources functions. From October
2015 through October 2016, Mr. Woodworth served as the Chief Financial Officer of Braeburn Pharmaceuticals Inc., where Mr. Woodworth led and coordinated
the accounting, finance and treasury functions. From May 2014 to July 2015, Mr. Woodworth served as the Chief Financial Officer of Aerocrine AB, where Mr.
‘Woodworth had responsibility for directing and coordinating the accounting and finance, FRS (Swedish SEC) reporting, investor relations, human resources and
legal aspects of the company. From January 2010 through February 2014, Mr. Woodworth served as Chief Financial Officer of Furiex Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Nasdaq: FURX), where Mr. Woodworth led a multi-disciplinary team and managed accounting, finance, SEC reporting, financial planning, analysis and
reporting, and treasury functions. Mr. Woodworth received a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Maryland and a Master of Business
Administration degree in Finance from Indiana University.

Family relationships
None of our directors or executive officers has a family relationship as defined in Item 401 of Regulation S-K.

Involvement in certain previous legal proceedings

Mr. Glickman served as Chief Commercial Officer at Aralez from June 2016 to March 2018, Mr. Koven served as President and Chief Business Officer of
Aralez’s predecessor, Pozen, and then at Aralez from June 2015 to January 2019, and Dr. Tursi served as Chief Medical Officer of Pozen and then Aralez from
2015 until August 2018, and has served as Executive Vice President — Global R&D for Endo since January 2022. Each of Aralez and Endo and certain of their
respective affiliates filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code on August 10, 2018 and August 16, 2022, respectively.

Code of business conduct and ethics

Our Board has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and other executive officers, as applicable. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our code of business conduct
and ethics, or waivers of these provisions, on our website. The full text of our code of conduct is posted on the investor relations section of our website at
http://metaviatx.com under “Investors & News-Corporate Governance-Highlights”.

Insider Trading Policy

Our Board has adopted an Insider Trading Compliance Policy (“Insider Trading Policy”) governing the purchase, sale, and/or other dispositions of our securities
by directors, officers, employees and other specified persons. Our Insider Trading Policy is designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws by
informing, educating and creating reasonable processes to prevent the Company and its directors, officers, employees and other specified persons from insider
trading violations and the appearance of any related improper conduct. The policy prohibits the trading of our securities on the basis on material nonpublic
information, establishes regular blackout periods when directors, executive officers and other specified persons are prohibited from trading in our securities, and
requires legal compliance for any insider trading plans intended to rely on the affirmative defense against insider trading liability in accordance with Rule 10b5-1
under the Exchange Act. Additionally, the policy specifically prohibits all directors, officers, employees and other specified persons from speculative trading and
hedging transactions involving our common stock, including short sales, transactions in put or call options, and other speculative transactions.

Audit committee

Our Board has established an audit committee, which is comprised of Mr. Strickland, Mr. Koven and Mr. Glickman, with Mr. Strickland serving as chair of the
committee. Each member of our audit committee meets the requirements for independence under the current Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations and is
financially literate. In addition, our Board has determined that Messrs. Glickman and Strickland each qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined
in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act based on his serving as chief executive officer of multiple companies as
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described above. This designation does not impose on either of them any duties, obligations or liabilities that are greater than are generally imposed on members
of our audit committee and our Board.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
Executive officer compensation
Summary compensation table for 2024 and 2023

The following table presents summary information regarding the total compensation for services rendered in all capacities that were earned by our named
executive officers for 2024 and 2023.

Stock Awards All Other

Salary Bonus 1) Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position Year ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Hyung Heon Kim, President and 2024 460,125 220,163 — 36,116 @ 716,404
Chief Executive Officer 2023 174,009 55,000 386,915 48,131 @ 664,055
Marshall H. Woodworth, Chief 2024 316,667 120,663 209,015 128,354 @ 774,699
Financial Officer ®) 2023 — — — 154,500 &) 154,500

(" Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock units (“RSUs™) in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The grant date fair
value was determined based on the closing sales price of our common stock as reported on Nasdaq on the date of grant multiplied by the number of
shares of common stock subject to the RSU award. The amounts shown exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting
conditions.

@ Other compensation for 2024 was related to health and welfare benefits paid by MetaVia.

3) Mr. Woodworth was appointed as our Acting Chief Financial Officer in October 2023 and was appointed as Chief Financial Officer in March 2024.
While serving as our Acting Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Woodworth was employed by WhiteCap Search Holdings, LLC (“WhiteCap™) and was
contracted to us from October 2023 until March 2024. Other compensation for 2024 included $118,422 of consulting fees paid to WhiteCap for Mr.
Woodworth’s services in 2024 and health and welfare benefits paid by MetaVia.

Narrative disclosure to summary compensation table
Agreements with our named executive officers

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Kim in connection with his appointment as our President and Chief Executive Officer in August 2023. In
October 2023, Mr. Woodworth was appointed as the Acting Chief Financial Officer of MetaVia, pursuant to an engagement agreement with WhiteCap. In March
2024, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Woodworth in connection with his appointment as Chief Financial Officer of MetaVia (the “Woodworth
Employment Agreement”).

Hyung Heon Kim

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Kim in connection with his appointment as our Chief Executive Officer and President in August 2023 (the
“Kim Employment Agreement”). Under the terms of Kim Employment Agreement, we agreed to provide Mr. Kim: (i) an annual base salary of $450,000,
reviewed annually; (ii) an annual discretionary bonus targeted at 50% of his base salary, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board or committee thereof;
(iii) the right to participate in the benefit programs and arrangements that we make available to our employees, including paid vacation and sick leave,
contributory and non-contributory welfare and benefit plans, disability plans, and medical, death benefit and life insurance plans for which Mr. Kim is eligible
under the terms of those plans; and (iv) a RSU award for 625,064 shares of our common stock pursuant to the terms of a RSU grant notice and form award
agreement (the “Kim RSU Award”) under our Amended and Restated 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”). The Kim RSU Award vested as to 50% of the
shares underlying the Kim RSU Award on the first anniversary of Mr. Kim’s employment with MetaVia and, the remaining shares subject to the Kim RSU Award,
shall vest and become exercisable in equal monthly installments on the last day of each full month over the twelve (12) months following the first anniversary of
Mr. Kim’s employment with us.

In the event of Mr. Kim’s death during the employment period or a termination due to disability, Mr. Kim or his beneficiaries or legal representatives shall be
entitled to receive (i) any annual base salary earned, but unpaid, for services rendered to MetaVia on or prior to the date on which the employment period ends, (ii)
unreimbursed expenses and (iii) certain other benefits provided for in the employment agreement (the “Kim Unconditional Entitlements”). In the event of
termination for cause by
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MetaVia or the termination of employment as a result of resignation without good reason, Mr. Kim shall be provided the Kim Unconditional Entitlements.

In the event of a resignation by Mr. Kim for good reason or the exercise by MetaVia of its right to terminate Mr. Kim other than for cause, death or disability, Mr.
Kim will receive the Kim Unconditional Entitlements and, subject to Mr. Kim signing and delivering to us and not revoking a general release of claims in favor of
MetaVia and certain related parties, we shall pay a severance amount to Mr. Kim equal to fifty percent (50%) of Mr. Kim’s then-current base salary (the
“Severance Amount”) and pay for Mr. Kim’s continued health insurance coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as
amended (known as COBRA) for a period of six (6) months following Mr. Kim’s termination (the “Kim Conditional Benefits”).

In the event of a resignation by Mr. Kim for good reason, the exercise by MetaVia of its right to terminate Mr. Kim other than for cause, death or disability, in
each case, within twelve (12) months following or three (3) months prior to the effective date of a change in control, Mr. Kim will receive the following: (i) the
Kim Unconditional Entitlements and the Kim Conditional Benefits less the Severance Amount; (ii) an amount equal to the product of 1.0 times the sum of Mr.
Kim’s annual base salary and target annual cash bonus, less the Non-Compete Amount (as defined in the Kim Employment Agreement, if applicable); and (iii)
accelerated vesting of all equity awards that were assumed, continued or substituted by the surviving or acquiring corporation in the change in control and remain
subject to time-based vesting conditions, if any.

In addition, Mr. Kim entered into an Employee Proprietary Information and Invention Assignment Agreement that applies during the term of Mr. Kim’s
employment and thereafter.

Marshall H. Woodworth

In October 2023, Mr. Woodworth was appointed as the Acting Chief Financial Officer of MetaVia, pursuant to an engagement agreement with WhiteCap, dated
February 3, 2023. Mr. Woodworth received his compensation and benefits from WhiteCap. In connection with the appointment of Mr. Woodworth as our Acting
Chief Financial Officer, we paid WhiteCap approximately $375.00 per hour under the engagement agreement for services rendered to MetaVia by Mr.
Woodworth.

In March 2024, we entered into the Woodworth Employment Agreement with Mr. Woodworth in connection with his appointment as Chief Financial Officer of
MetaVia. The Woodworth Employment Agreement has an initial term of two (2) years beginning on March 1, 2024 (“Initial Term”) and automatically renews for
an additional one-year period at the end of the Initial Term and each anniversary thereafter (“Renewal Term”) provided that at least 60 days prior to the expiration
of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term the Board does not notify Mr. Woodworth of its intention not to renew.

Under the terms of Woodworth Employment Agreement, we agreed to provide Mr. Woodworth: (i) an annual base salary of $380,000, reviewed annually; (ii) an
annual discretionary bonus targeted at 40% of his base salary, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board or committee thereof; (iii) the right to participate in
the benefit programs and arrangements that we make available to our employees, including paid vacation and sick leave, contributory and non-contributory
welfare and benefit plans, disability plans, and medical, death benefit and life insurance plans for which Mr. Woodworth is eligible under the terms of those plans;
and (iv) a RSU award for 33,496 shares of our common stock pursuant to the terms of a RSU grant notice and form award agreement (the “Woodworth RSU
Award”) under our 2022 Plan. The Woodworth RSU Award vests as follows: (i) 30% of the shares underlying the Woodworth RSU Award on the first anniversary
of the grant; (i) 30% of the shares underlying the Woodworth RSU Award on the second anniversary of the grant date; and (iii) the remaining shares subject to the
Woodworth RSU Award, shall vest and become exercisable in equal monthly installments on the last day of each full month over the twelve (12) months
following the first anniversary of grant date.

If during the period Mr. Woodworth is employed by MetaVia, we consummate a change in control (as defined in the Woodworth Employment Agreement) and the
Woodworth RSU Award is not assumed, continued or substituted by the surviving corporation or acquiring corporation (or the surviving or acquiring
corporation’s parent company) in such change in control in the manner contemplated by the 2022 Plan, then 100% of the unvested portion of the Woodworth RSU
Award shall fully vest immediately prior to the effectiveness of such change in control.

In the event of Mr. Woodworth’s death during the employment period or a termination due to disability, Mr. Woodworth or his beneficiaries or legal
representatives shall be entitled to receive any annual base salary earned, but unpaid, for services rendered to MetaVia on or prior to the date on which the
employment period ends, unreimbursed expenses and certain other benefits provided for in the Woodworth Employment Agreement (the “Unconditional
Entitlements”). In the event of termination for cause by MetaVia or the termination of employment as a result of resignation without good reason, Mr. Woodworth
shall be provided the Unconditional Entitlements.
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In the event of a resignation by Mr. Woodworth for good reason or the exercise by MetaVia of its right to terminate Mr. Woodworth other than for cause, death or
disability, Mr. Woodworth will receive the Unconditional Entitlements and, subject to Mr. Woodworth signing and delivering to MetaVia and not revoking a
general release of claims in favor of the MetaVia and certain related parties, we shall pay a severance amount to Mr. Woodworth equal to twenty-five percent
(25%) of Mr. Woodworth’s then-current annual base salary and pay for Mr. Woodworth’s continued health insurance coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (known as COBRA) for a period of three (3) months (the “Conditional Benefits”).

In the event of a resignation by Mr. Woodworth for good reason or the exercise by MetaVia of its right to terminate Mr. Woodworth other than for cause, death or
disability, in each case, within twelve (12) months following or three (3) months prior to the effective date of a change in Control, Mr. Woodworth will receive the
following: (i) the Unconditional Entitlements and the Conditional Benefits less the Severance Amount; (ii) an amount equal to the product of 0.50 times the sum
of Mr. Woodworth’s annual base salary and target annual cash bonus, less the Non-Compete Amount (as defined in the Woodworth Employment Agreement, if
applicable); and (iii) accelerated vesting of all equity awards that were assumed, continued or substituted by the surviving or acquiring corporation in the Change
in Control and remain subject to time-based vesting conditions, if any.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2024

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding stock option and RSU awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2024:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Market
Securities Number of Value of
Underlying Share of Share of
Unexercised Option Stock That Stock That
Options Exercise Option Have Have
(Exercisable) Price Expiration Not Vested Not Vested (D)
Name Grant Date (#) &) Date #) (%)
Hyung Heon Kim June 9, 2022 83 14.18 June 9, 2032 — —
Hyung Heon Kim August 11, 2023 — — — 29,298 (D 59,475
Marshall Woodworth March 1, 2024 — — — 33,496 @ 67,997

(1) This column shows the market value of the unvested RSUs held by our named executive officers based on $2.03 per share, the closing price of our Common
Stock on December 31, 2024, the last trading day of 2024.

() The RSUs will vest in equal monthly installments on the last day of each full month following August 11, 2024, subject to continuing service.
() 30% of the RSUs will vest on March 1, 2025, 30% will vest on March 1, 2026 and 40% vest in twelve equal installments on the last day of each full month

following March 1, 2026, subject to continuing service.

Policy on Timing of Option Grants

During 2024, we did not grant stock options to our executive officers, directors or employees. Our compensation committee has not established policies and
practices regarding the timing of stock option grants in relation to the release of material nonpublic information and does not take material non-public information
into account when determining the timing and terms of stock option awards to executive officers. We do not time the disclosure of material non-public
information for the purpose of affecting the value of executive compensation.

Non-employee director compensation

Our non-employee directors receive a mix of cash and share-based compensation intended to encourage non-employee directors to continue to serve on the Board,
further align the interests of the directors and stockholders, and attract new non-employee directors with outstanding qualifications. Directors who are employees
or officers of MetaVia do not receive any additional compensation for Board service.
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The following table provides compensation information for 2024 for each non-employee member of the Board.

Fees Earned

or Paid Stock
in Cash (D Awards @ Total
Name ($) (%) (&)
Mark A. Glickman 55,000 19,850 74,850
Jason Groves 45,000 19,850 64,850
Andrew 1. Koven 94,000 19,850 113,850
Michael Salsbury 52,000 19,850 71,850
D. Gordon Strickland 64,000 19,850 83,850
James P. Tursi 45,000 19,850 64,850

(" The amounts in this column represent the value of annual cash earned from retainers by directors serving on the Board and committees of
the Board in 2024.

=

Amounts reported reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of 5,051 RSUs granted to each of our directors for service in 2024, whose grant
date fair value was determined based on the closing sales price of our common stock as reported on Nasdaq on the date of grant. The
amounts shown exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.

Non-employee director compensation policy

In May 2024, the compensation committee recommended, and the Board approved our Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (as
further amended in November 2024, the “Amended Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy”). Under the Amended Non-Employee Director Compensation
Policy, all of our non-employee directors receive an annual cash retainer of $40,000 for Board service except for the Non-Executive Chair of the Board who
receives an annual cash retainer of $75,000. Additionally, directors receive an additional cash retainer for serving as a committee chair or member as follows:

Nominating
and Corporate
Audit Compensation Governance
Committee Committee Committee
® ® ®
Committee chair 18,000 12,000 10,000
Committee member (other than the chair) 9,000 6,000 5,000

Initial grant: For each non-employee director who is first elected or appointed to the Board on or following the effective date of the Amended Non-Employee
Director Compensation Policy, at the close of business on the date of such non-employee director’s initial election or appointment to the Board, such non-
employee director will be automatically, and without further action by the Board or the compensation committee, granted an RSU award covering a number of
RSUs equal to (a) $40,000 divided by (b) the average fair market value of a share of our common stock for the 30 consecutive market trading days ending on and
including the last market trading day prior to the grant date of such RSU award, rounded down to the nearest whole unit (each, an “Initial Grant”). 50% of each
Initial Grant will vest as of the date of grant and the remainder will vest in two equal installments on each subsequent anniversary of the date of grant, subject to
the non-employee director’s continuous service on each vesting date

Annual grant and prorated annual grant: At the close of business after the first annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders following the effective date of
the Amended Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy and on the date of each subsequent annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders held following the
initial annual meeting of stockholders (each, an “Annual Meeting”), each person who is then a non-employee director will be automatically, and without further
action by the Board or the compensation committee, granted an RSU award covering a number of RSUs equal to (i) $20,000 divided by (ii) the average fair
market value of a share of common stock for the 30 consecutive market trading days ending on and including the last market trading day prior to the grant date of
such RSU award, rounded down to the nearest whole unit (each, an “Annual Grant”).

In addition, for each non-employee director who is first elected or appointed to the Board after the first Annual Meeting of the Company’s stockholders following
the effective date on a date other than the date of an Annual Meeting of the Company’s stockholders, at the close of business on the thirtieth (30™) day following
such non-employee director’s initial election or appointment to the Board, such non-employee director will be automatically, and without further action by the
Board or the
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compensation committee, granted an RSU award covering a number of RSUs equal to (i) $20,000 divided by (ii) the average fair market value of a share of
common stock for the 30 consecutive market trading days ending on and including the last market trading day prior to the grant date of such RSU award,
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which equals 365 minus the total number of days, as of the grant date of such RSU award, that have occurred since the
last Annual Meeting and the denominator of which equals 365, rounded down to the nearest whole unit (each, a “Prorated Annual Grant”).

Each Annual Grant and Prorated Annual Grant will vest in full on the earlier of the (i) one-year anniversary of the grant date of the Annual Grant or Prorated
Annual Grant, as applicable, and (ii) date immediately prior to the date of the Annual Meeting following the grant date of such Annual Grant or Prorated Annual
Grant, as applicable, subject to the non-employee director’s continuous service on the vesting date.

Retainer grant: Each non-employee director may elect to forego receiving payment of all (but not less than all) of the annual cash retainers described above that
he is otherwise eligible to receive for the period during the Company’s fiscal year that the election applies commencing on the first day of such fiscal year (or if
the non-employee director makes the election in the Company’s fiscal year that the election applies, on the first day of the Company’s fiscal quarter next
following the Company’s fiscal quarter in which the election is made) and ending on the last day of such fiscal year and instead receive an RSU award
(the “Retainer Grant”), provided such election is timely made and complies with certain other requirements specified in the Amended Non-Employee Director
Compensation Policy. If a non-employee director timely makes the election described above in accordance with the Amended Non-Employee Director
Compensation Policy, on the first day of the Company’s fiscal year that the election applies (or if the non-employee director makes the election in the Company’s
fiscal year that the election applies, on the first day of the Company’s fiscal quarter following the Company’s fiscal quarter in which the election is made), the
non-employee director will be automatically granted a Retainer Grant covering a number of RSUs equal to the (i) aggregate amount of the annual cash retainers
that the non-employee director is eligible to receive under the Amended Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy for the applicable period to which the
election applies divided by (ii) average fair market value of a share of the Company’s common stock for the 30 consecutive market trading days ending on and
including the last market trading day prior to the grant date of such Retainer Grant, rounded down to the nearest whole unit. Each Retainer Grant will vest in equal
quarterly installments over the period commencing on the grant date of the Retainer Grant and ending on the last day of the fiscal year in which the Retainer Grant
is granted, subject to the non-employee director’s continued service on each vesting date.

Deferral of settlement of RSU awards: Each non-employee director may elect to defer the delivery of shares in settlement of any RSU award granted under the
Amended Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy that would otherwise be delivered to such non-employee director on or following the date such award
vests pursuant to the terms of a deferral election such non-employee director makes in accordance with the Amended Non-Employee Director Compensation
Policy.

Change of Control; Death; Disability: Each RSU award held by a non-employee director that is granted under the Amended Non-Employee Director
Compensation Policy, including the awards described above, will fully vest upon such non-employee director’s death or disability (as defined in the Company’s
2022 Plan), or immediately prior to the consummation of a change in control (as defined in the Company’s 2022 Plan), in each case to extent such award is
outstanding immediately prior to the occurrence of such event.

Ne iployee director comp tion limit: The aggregate value of all compensation granted or paid, to any non-employee director with respect to any fiscal

year of the Company, including awards granted and cash fees paid by the Company to such non-employee director, will not exceed the limits set forth in the
Company’s 2022 Plan, currently, (1) $750,000 in total value or (2) if such non-employee director first joins the Board during such fiscal year, $1,000,000 in total
value.

All RSU awards shall be issued pursuant to the terms of the Company’s 2022 Plan.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock, as of March 17, 2025 by:
e cach person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock;
e each of our named executive officers;
e each of our directors; and

e all of our current executive officers and directors as a group.
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The table lists the applicable percentage of ownership based on an aggregate of 8,654,869 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 17, 2024. In addition,
the rules provide for the inclusion of shares of our common stock issuable pursuant to the vesting and settlement of RSUs and the exercise of stock options and
warrants that are either immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 17, 2025. These shares of common stock are deemed to be outstanding
and beneficially owned by the person holding those RSUs, options or warrants for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person, but they are
not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. These rules generally attribute beneficial ownership of securities to persons
who possess sole or shared voting power or investment power with respect to those securities. Unless otherwise indicated, the persons or entities identified in this
table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to applicable community property laws.

Except as otherwise noted below, the address for each person or entity listed in the table is c/o MetaVia Inc., 545 Concord Avenue, Suite 210, Cambridge,
Massachusetts, 02138.

Shares
Beneficially
Owned (D Percent (@)

Name of Beneficial Owner #) (%)
Greater than 5% stockholders

Dong-A ST Co., Ltd. ® 5,347,792 62%

Armistice Capital, LLC 4 848,000 10%
Directors and Named Executive Officers

Mark A. Glickman 3,907 *

Jason Groves (5 10,100 *

Andrew 1. Koven (©) 10,100 2

Hyung Heon Kim () 48,067 *

Michael Salsbury () 10,100 *

D. Gordon Strickland ® 10,016 *

James P. Tursi, Director 4,021 *

Marshall H. Woodworth 6,632 *
All current executive officers and directors as a group (8 persons) 102,943 o

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent.
a
@

Includes shares underlying (i) options that are exercisable and (ii) RSUs that are vested or will become vested, in each case, within 60 days of March 25, 2024.

Applicable percentage of ownership is based on 8,654,869 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 17, 2025, as adjusted for each stockholder.
©

Represents shares of common stock owned by Dong-A, a South Korean corporation, with an address of Dong-A ST Co., Ltd. is 64, Cheonho-daero,
Dongdaemun-gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea.

*) Based on information disclosed, as of February 14, 2025, in a Schedule 13G, as filed with the SEC, Armistice Capital, LLC (“Armistice Capital”), 510 Madison
Avenue, 7th Floor, New York, New York 10022. Armistice Capital is the investment manager of Armistice Capital Master Fund Ltd. (the "Master Fund"), the
direct holder of the Shares, and pursuant to an Investment Management Agreement, Armistice Capital exercises voting and investment power over the securities
of the Issuer held by the Master Fund and thus may be deemed to beneficially own the securities of the Issuer held by the Master Fund. Mr. Boyd, as the
managing member of Armistice Capital, may be deemed to beneficially own the securities of the Issuer held by the Master Fund. The Master Fund specifically
disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities of the Issuer directly held by it by virtue of its inability to vote or dispose of such securities as a result of its
Investment Management Agreement with Armistice Capital.

G

Includes 333 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options within 60 days of March 17, 2025.
6

Includes (i) 333 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options within 60 days of March 17, 2025 and (ii) 9,767 of vested RSUs whose
common stock issuance was deferred under the terms of the RSU award.

3

Includes (i) 83 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options within 60 days of March 17, 2025 and (ii) 6,510 of RSUs that will vest
within 60 days of March 17, 2025.
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®) Includes 250 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options within 60 days of March 17, 2025.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans

The following table presents information as of December 31, 2024 with respect to compensation plans under which shares of our common stock may be issued.

(a) ®) (©)

Number of
securities
remaining

Number of available for
securities to be Weighted future issuance
issued upon average under equity
exercise of exercise price compensation
outstanding of outstanding  plans (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants and warrants and reflected in
rights rights column (a))
Plan Category (#) ($) #)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 179,786 398.30 356,992 (V@)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — 4,166
Total 179,786 398.30 361,158

(O]
2)

3)

The number of shares of common stock remaining available for future issuance represents shares available for issuance under the 2022 Plan.

The 2022 Plan provides that the number of shares that may be issued under the 2022 Plan shall be increased on the first day of each fiscal year by an amount equal to
the lesser of (i) 5% of the number of outstanding shares of common stock on such date and (ii) an amount determined by the plan administrator.

Our only equity compensation plan not approved by our security holders is our 2021 Inducement Plan. A total of 4,166 shares of our common stock have been
reserved for issuance under the Inducement Plan, subject to adjustment for stock dividends, stock splits, or other changes in our common stock or capital structure.
The Inducement Plan was approved by the compensation committee without stockholder approval pursuant to Nasdaq Stock Market Listing Rule 5635(c)(4), and is
to be utilized exclusively for the grant of stock awards to individuals who were not previously an employee or non-employee director of MetaVia (or following a
bona fide period of non-employment with MetaVia) as an inducement material to such individual’s entry into employment with MetaVia, within the meaning of
Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4). The 2021 Inducement Plan is administered by the Board. Stock awards under the Inducement Plan may only be granted by: (i) the
compensation committee or (ii) another committee of the Board composed solely of at least two members of the Board who meet the requirements for independence
under the Nasdaq Stock Market Listing Rules (the foregoing subsections (i) and (ii) are collectively referred to as the “Committee”). Under the 2021 Inducement
Plan, the Committee may choose to grant (i) non-statutory stock options, (ii) stock appreciation rights, (iii) restricted stock awards, (iv) restricted stock unit awards,
(v) performance stock awards, (vi) performance cash awards, and (vii) other stock awards to eligible recipients, with each grant to be evidenced by an award
agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of the grant as determined by the compensation committee in accordance with the terms of the Inducement Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The following includes a summary of transactions since January 1, 2023 to which we have been a party, in which the amount involved in the transaction exceeded
the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years, and in which any of our directors, nominees for
director, executive officers or, to our knowledge, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our capital stock or any member of the immediate family of any of the
foregoing persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Private placement

On June 23, 2024, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”) with Dong-A and another institutional investor (the
“2024 Private Placement”). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, we issued to Dong-A 2,544,530 shares of our Common Stock, Series A Warrants to
purchase up to 2,544,530 shares of our Common Stock,
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and Series B Warrants to purchase up to 3,816,795 shares of our Common Stock in a private placement pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) and Regulation D promulgated
under the Securities Act. The Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants have an exercise price of $3.93 per share and became exercisable as of September 18,
2024, which is the effective date of stockholder approval received at the Company’s special meeting of stockholders for the issuance of the shares upon exercise
of the Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants (the “Stockholder Approval Date”). In connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement, Dong-A entered
into a voting agreement, whereby it agreed to vote all shares of Common Stock that it or its affiliate beneficially owned with respect to any proposals presented to
stockholders for approval on the Stockholder Approval Date. The Series A Warrants will expire on the earlier of the twelve month anniversary of the Stockholder
Approval Date and within 60 days following the public announcement of MetaVia receiving positive Phase 1 MAD data readout for DA-1726, and the Series B
Warrants will expire on the earlier of the five years anniversary of the Stockholder Approval Date and within six months following the public announcement of
MetaVia receiving positive Phase 1 Part 3 data readout for DA-1726.

In connection with the 2024 Private Placement, on June 23, 2024, we entered into the Registration Rights Agreement with Dong-A and another institutional
investor, pursuant to which, among other things, we were required to prepare and file with the SEC one or more registration statements to register for resale the
shares of common stock sold in the 2024 Private Placement to Dong-A, as well as the shares issued to the other institutional investor in the 2024 Private
Placement and in the registered direct offering (including the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants issued in such offerings). On July 18,
2024, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 to register such securities (the “Resale Registration Statement”). The Resale Registration Statement was
declared effective by the SEC on July 24, 2024.

Director independence

Our common stock is listed on Nasdaq. Because Dong-A ST Co., Ltd. holds a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock, we are a
“controlled company” under the listing rules of Nasdaq. As a controlled company, we are exempt from certain Nasdaq governance requirements that would
otherwise apply to the composition and function of our Board. For example, we are not required to comply with certain rules that would otherwise require, among
other things, (i) our Board to have a majority of independent directors, (ii) the compensation of our executive officers to be determined by a majority of the
independent directors or a committee of independent directors, and (iii) director nominees to be selected or recommended either by a majority of the independent
directors or a committee of independent directors. Notwithstanding our status as a controlled company, we remain subject to the requirements that our
independent directors hold regular executive sessions and that our audit committee consist entirely of independent directors. Under the rules of Nasdaq, a director
will only qualify as an “independent director” if, in the opinion of that company’s board of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere
with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

Audit committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. In order to be considered independent for
purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the audit committee, the
board of directors or any other board of directors committee: (i) accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the listed
company or any of its subsidiaries; or (ii) be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.

Notwithstanding our status as a controlled company, the Board has undertaken a review of the independence of each director and considered whether each director
has a material relationship with us that could compromise his ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his responsibilities. As a result of this
review, the Board affirmatively determined that Mark A. Glickman, Jason Groves, Andrew 1. Koven, Michael Salsbury, D. Gordon Strickland, and James P. Tursi,
M.D., are “independent directors” as defined under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing requirements and rules of Nasdaq. The Board
determined that Hyung Heon Kim, our Chief Executive Officer and President, who serves as a director, is not an “independent director” as defined under the
applicable regulations of the SEC and the listing requirements and rules of Nasdaq. In making this determination, the Board considered the current and prior
relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances that the Board deemed relevant in determining each non-employee
director’s independence, including the participation by our non-employee directors, or their affiliates, in certain financing transactions by us and the beneficial
ownership of the common stock by each non-employee director. See “Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions” and “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management.”

Additionally, all of our committees are comprised solely of independent directors under the current Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations, with Messrs.
Glickman, Koven and Strickland serving on our audit committee, Messrs. Glickman, Salsbury and Strickland serving on our compensation committee, and
Messrs. Groves, Koven and Tursi serving on our nominating and corporate governance committee.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Service fees paid to the independent registered public accounting firms

The audit committee has considered the scope and fee arrangements for all services provided by BDO USA, P.C. (“BDO”), taking into account whether the
provision of non-audit-related services is compatible with maintaining BDO independence.

The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by BDO for the audit of the annual financial statements for 2024 and 2023 (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Audit fees $ 508 $ 451
Audit-related fees — —
Tax fees — 42
All other fees — —
Net decrease in cash $ 508 $ 493

Audit fees consist of fees billed for services relating to the audit of our annual financial statement and review of our quarterly financial statements, and services
that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements, comfort letters, reports on an issuer's internal controls, and review
of documents to be filed with the SEC (e.g. periodic filings, registration statements, and company responses to SEC comment letters).

Tax fees relate to permissible services for technical tax advice related to federal and state income tax matters.
Policy on audit committee pre-approval of audit and permissible non-audit services of independent registered public accounting firm

Our audit committee generally pre-approves all audit and permitted non-audit and tax services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm. Pre-
approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is generally subject to a specific budget. The independent registered public accounting
firm and management are required to periodically report to the audit committee regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public
accounting firm in accordance with this pre-approval, and the fees for the services performed to date. Our audit committee may also pre-approve particular
services on a case-by-case basis. All of the services relating to the fees described in the table above were approved by our audit committee.

Part 1V
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial statements and financial statements schedules
(1) Financial Statements are listed in the Index to Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report.

(2) No financial statement schedules are included because such schedules are not applicable, are not required, or because required information is included in
the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

2. 1+++ Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 31, 2020, by and among the Registrant, Shelby Merger Sub 1, Inc., Shelby
Merger Sub 2, LLC, ANA Therapeutics, Inc. and Akash Bakshi (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 6, 2021).

3.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 10, 2016).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment (Reverse Stock Split) to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 31, 2019).
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33

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

4.1

42

4.3

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

49

4.10

4.12%
10.1#*
10.2
10.3#

10.4#

Certificate of Amendment (Name Change) to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 31, 2019).
Certificate of Amendment (Reverse Stock Split) to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 12, 2022).
Certificate of Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 19, 2023).

Certificate of Amendment (Name Change) to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 18, 2024).
Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 18, 2024).

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations, filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on November 4, 2022,
with respect to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations, filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on November 4, 2022,
with respect to the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Amendment No. 1 to
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on June 13, 2016).

Warrant to Purchase Stock, dated July 31, 2018, by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8- K, filed with the SEC on August 6, 2018).

Form of Placement Agent’s Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on April 15, 2020).

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on January 21, 2021).

Form of Warrant to Purchase shares of Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 4, 2021).

Form of Series B Warrant to purchase shares of common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

Warrant Agency Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2022, by and between the Registrant and American Stock Transfer and Trust
Company LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
November 8, 2022).

Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on June 25, 2024).

Form of Series A Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC
on June 25, 2024).

Form of Series B Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC
on June 25, 2024).

Form of Placement Agent Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on June 25, 2024).

Description of Securities.

Form of Indemnification Agreement.

Lease Agreement, dated as of August 23, 2023, by and between Alewife Properties LLC and the Registrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023).

Employment Agreement entered into on August 11, 2023 by and between the Registrant and Hyung Heon Kim (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2023).

Employment Agreement entered into on March 1, 2024 by and between the Registrant and Marshall H. Woodworth (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 4, 2024).
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10.5#*

10.6#*

10.7#*

10.8#

10.97*

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15+

10.16+++

10.17++

10.18

10.19

19.1*
21.1*
23.1*

24.1*
31.1%

31.2%

32.1%*

8RS

97.1%

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH*

101.CAL*
101.DEF*

2019 Equity Incentive Plan of the Registrant and forms of award
agreements.

Amended and Restated 2021 Inducement Plan of the Registrant and form
of award agreements.

Amended and Restated 2022 Equity Incentive Plan of the Registrant, as
amended November 29, 2024, and forms of award agreements.

Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy,
dated June 27, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 29, 2023).
Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy,
dated May 7, 2024, as amended November 29, 2024.

License Agreement, dated September 14, 2022, by and between Dong-A
ST Co., Ltd. and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC
on September 14, 2022).

Shared Services Agreement, dated September 14, 2022, by and between
Dong-A ST Co., Ltd. and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on September 14, 2022).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated September 14, 2022, by and
among Dong-A ST Co., Ltd., The E&Healthcare Investment Fund II, The
E&Healthcare Investment Fund No. 6, The E&Healthcare Investment
Fund No. 7 and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
September 14, 2022).

Investor Rights Agreement, dated September 14, 2022, by and between
Dong-A ST Co., Ltd. and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on September 14, 2022).

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement (NB-02 formerly DA-9803), dated
as of June 7, 2020, by and between Dong-A ST Co., Ltd. and the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on August 11, 2020).
Amended and Restated License Agreement, effective as of August 2,
2018, by and between the Registrant and Pfizer Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on August 6, 2018).

License and Collaboration Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2019, by and
between the Registrant and Beijing SL Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 25, 2019).

Contingent Value Rights Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2019, by
and among the Registrant, Grand Rapids Holders Representative, LLC,
Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 31, 2019).

First Amendment to Contingent Value Rights Agreement, dated as of
December 30, 2019, by and among the Registrant, Grand Rapids Holders
Representative, LLC, Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust
Company, N.A., dated as of March 23, 2021 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the SEC on March 24, 2021).

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2024, by
and among the Registrant and the Purchasers identified on the signature
pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 25,
2024).

Insider Trading Compliance Policy.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (BDO USA,
P.C.).

Power of Attorney (reference is made to the signature page hereto).
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or
15d-14(a).

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or
15d-14(a).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation, dated
November 3, 2023, as amended on November 29, 2024.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
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101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104% Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101).
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Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.

Registrant has omitted and filed separately with the SEC portions of the exhibit pursuant to a confidential treatment request under
Rule 406 promulgated under the Securities Act.

Certain schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or
exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request.

Certain schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or
exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request. Certain portions of the exhibits that are not material and would be competitively
harmful if publicly disclosed have been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. Copies of the unredacted exhibits
will be furnished to the SEC upon request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 20, 2025.

MetaVia Inc.

/s/ Hyung Heon Kim
Hyung Heon Kim
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Marshall H. Woodworth
Marshall H. Woodworth
Chief Financial Officer

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Hyung Heon Kim and Marshall H.
Woodworth, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in
his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report and to file the same, with any exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents, or their or his substitutes, may lawfully do or cause
to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities
indicated on March 20, 2025.

Signature Title
/s/ Hyung Heon Kim President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Hyung Heon Kim (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Marshall H. Woodworth Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer
Marshall H. Woodworth and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Mark A. Glickman Director
Mark A. Glickman
/s/ Jason L. Groves Director
Jason L. Groves
/s/ Andrew 1. Koven Chair of the Board
Andrew 1. Koven
/s/ Michael Salsbury Director
Michael Salsbury
/s/ D. Gordon Strickland Director
D. Gordon Strickland
/s/ James P. Tursi Director

James P. Tursi
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
MetaVia Inc
Cambridge, Massachusetts

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MetaVia, Inc (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes. In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Going Concern Uncertainty

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations and has an accumulated deficit that
raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Estimation of Clinical Trial Accrued Liabilities
As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company records clinical trial accrued liabilities for expenses associated with particular

activities performed by contract research organizations, investigative sites in connection with clinical trials and contract manufacturing organizations. Expenses
incurred for certain research and development activities



are recognized based on an evaluation of the progress or completion of specific tasks using either time-based measures or data such as information provided to the
Company by its vendors on actual activities completed or costs incurred. As of December 31, 2024, the Company recorded $1.7 million of clinical trial accrued
liabilities, which was included on the consolidated balance sheet.

We identified the estimation of the clinical trial accrued liabilities as a critical audit matter. When estimating clinical trial accrued liabilities, the Company applies
judgement in estimating the services received and the progress of activities performed by external vendors. Auditing these elements involved especially
challenging auditor judgment due to the nature and extent of audit effort required to address this matter.

The primary procedures we performed to address the critical audit matter included:

e For certain contract research organizations, inspecting, on a sample basis, invoices received from, and payments made to such organizations in the
development of the clinical trial accrued liabilities.

e For certain clinical trial studies, assessing the Company's estimates of the activities completed to date through (i) inspection of original contract terms,
change orders and the expected timeline for the related study, (ii) discussion of the current status of the clinical trials with certain members of
management and project teams (iii) confirmation of patient enrollment information (iv) confirmation of amounts due to certain closed clinical sites
and (iv) evaluation of the payments made and the invoices received after December 31, 2024 for proper application in the determination of the
accruals.

e Testing the completeness of the Company’s clinical trial accruals by reviewing i) the Company’s press releases and public databases that track clinical
trials and ii) board of directors’ materials regarding the status of clinical trials.

Accounting for the Offering

As discussed in Note 7, the Company entered into a financing transaction in June 2024 that included the issuance common stock and warrants (the “Offering”).
We identified the accounting for the Offering, including the evaluation for the classification of the warrants as a critical audit matter. The application of the
accounting guidance to the Offering is complex, and therefore, applying such guidance to the contract terms requires significant management judgment. Auditing
these elements involved especially complex auditor judgment due to the nature of the terms of the financing transaction and the effort required to address these
matters, including the use of firm personnel with expertise in technical accounting.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

e Reviewing the agreements associated with the financing transaction and evaluating the completeness and accuracy of the Company’s technical
accounting analysis and application of the relevant accounting literature.

e  Utilizing firm personnel with expertise in the relevant technical accounting to assist in evaluating i) the appropriateness of the Company’s application of
the relevant technical accounting guidance and conclusions reached and ii) the classification of the related warrants in the financial statements.

/s/ BDO USA, P.C.

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2019.

Boston, Massachusetts
March 20, 2025



MetaVia Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

As of December 31,
2024 2023
Assets
Current assets
Cash $ 16,017 22,435
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 55 77
Total current assets 16,072 22,512
Property and equipment, net 34 46
Right-of-use asset 133 202
Other assets 21 21
Total assets $ 16,260 22,781
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3,879 821
Clinical trial accrued liabilities 1,696 3,033
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 785 592
Warrant liabilities 361 658
Related party payable 1,472 789
Lease liability, short-term 78 67
Total current liabilities 8,271 5,960
Lease liability, long-term 58 136
Total liabilities 8,329 6,096
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; 10,000 shares authorized and no shares issued or outstanding
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share, 100,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and
2023; 8,637 and 4,906 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively 9 5
Additional paid—in capital 143,779 124,945
Accumulated deficit (135,857) (108,265)
Total stockholders’ equity 7,931 16,685
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 16,260 22,781

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MetaVia Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Operating expenses

Research and development 21,553 $ 9,158

General and administrative 7,256 6,728
Total operating expenses 28,809 15,886
Loss from operations (28,809) (15,886)
Other income

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 297 2,955

Interest income 920 461
Total other income 1,217 3,416
Loss before income taxes (27,592) (12,470)
Provision for income taxes — —
Net loss and comprehensive net loss (27,592) (12,470)
Loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted (3.56) $ (2.46)
Weighted average shares of common stock, basic and diluted 7,757,128 5,071,101

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MetaVia Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands)

Additional
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Total
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity
As of January 1, 2023 3,179  § 38 117,542 § (95,795) $ 21,750
Issuance of stock from exercise of warrants 1,702 2 7,181 — 7,183
Issuance of stock for vested restricted stock units 25 — — — —
Stock-based compensation — — 222 — 222
Net loss — — — (12,470) (12,470
As of December 31, 2023 4,906 5 124,945 (108,265) 16,685
Issuance of common stock and warrants under the securities
purchase agreements, net of issuance costs of $1,960 3,308 3 18,035 — 18,038
Issuance of placement agent warrants — — 309 — 309
Issuance of stock from exercise of warrants 351 1 — — 1
Issuance of stock for vested restricted stock units, net of shares
withheld for withholding taxes 72 — (48) — (48)
Stock-based compensation — — 538 — 538
Net loss — — — (27,592) (27,592)
As of December 31, 2024 8,637 8 9 % 143,779  $ (135,857)  $ 7,931

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MetaVia Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Operating activities
Net loss $ (27,592) $ (12,470)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 538 222
Non-cash lease expense 4 1
Depreciation 20 6
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 297) (2,955)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets 20 70
Accounts payable 3,058 113
Accrued and other liabilities (461) 4,214
Net cash used in operating activities (24,710) (10,799)
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (8) (50)
Net cash used in investing activities ®) (50)
Financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock and warrants under the securities purchase agreements 19,998 —
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 1 —
Payments of issuance costs in connection with the securities purchase agreements (1,651) (80)
Payment of employee withholding taxes related to shares withheld from issuance for vested restricted stock units (48)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 18,300 (80)
Net decrease in cash (6,418) (10,929)
Cash at beginning of period 22,435 33,364
Cash at end of period $ 16,017 § 22,435
Supplemental non-cash investing and financing transactions:
Fair value of warrants issued to placement agent $ 309 S =
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ — 8 223
Reclassification of warrant liabilities upon exercise of warrants $ — 8 7,183

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MetaVia Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Business, basis of presentation, new accounting standards and summary of significant accounting policies
General

MetaVia Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries are referred to collectively in these notes to the financial statements of the Company
as “MetaVia,” “we,” “our” and “us.” Prior to the Company’s legal name change in November 2024, the Company was formerly known as NeuroBo
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company focused primarily on developing novel pharmaceuticals to treat cardiometabolic
diseases. MetaVia has two programs focused primarily on the treatment of metabolic dysfunction-associated steatohepatitis (“MASH”) and obesity, DA-
1241 and DA-1726.

While we primarily focus our financial resources and management’s attention on the development of DA-1241 and DA-1726, we also have four legacy
therapeutic programs designed to impact a range of indications in viral, neurodegenerative and cardiometabolic diseases which we are not planning to
advance development on and have, or continue to consider for, out-licensing and divestiture opportunities. In July 2024, we entered into an exclusive out-
license agreement with MThera Pharma Co., LTD. (“MThera”) to provide MThera with the rights to NB-01 for the treatment of painful diabetic
neuropathy.

Our operations have consisted principally of performing research and development (“R&D?”) activities, which include preclinical developments and clinical trials,
and raising capital. Our activities are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including failing to secure additional funding before sustainable revenues and
profit from operations are achieved.

Going concern

As reflected in the consolidated financial statements, we had $16.0 million in cash as of December 31, 2024. We have experienced net losses and negative cash
flows from operating activities since our inception and had an accumulated deficit of $135.9 million as of December 31, 2024. We have incurred a net loss
of $27.6 million and net cash used in operating activities of $24.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Due in large part to the ongoing Phase 2a
clinical trial for DA-1241 and Phase 1 clinical trial for DA-1726, we expect to continue to incur net losses and negative cash flows from operating activities for
the foreseeable future. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year from the issuance of these
consolidated financial statements.

We plan to continue to fund our operations from equity offerings, debt financing, or other sources, potentially including collaborations, out-licensing and other
similar arrangements. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain any sources of financing on acceptable terms, or at all, or that the Series A
Warrants will be exercised. To the extent that we can raise additional funds by issuing equity securities or in the event our existing warrants are exercised, our
stockholders may experience significant dilution. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that impact our ability to conduct our
business. If we are unable to raise additional capital, we may slow down or stop our ongoing and planned clinical trials until such time as additional capital is
raised and this may have a material adverse effect on us.

The determination as to whether we can continue as a going concern contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of
business. Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern and do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. This basis of accounting contemplates the recovery of our assets and the satisfaction of our liabilities in the
normal course of business.

A. Basis of presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include a South Korean wholly owned subsidiary, which was dissolved and liquidated in June 2023. The accompanying
financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Our fiscal year-end is
as of and for the year ended December 31st for each year presented. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the
preparation of the financial statements.

B. New accounting standards
Adoption of new accounting standards

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures to improve disclosure requirements



MetaVia Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

about reportable segments and address requests from investors for additional, more detailed information about a reportable segment’s expenses. This ASU
requires that a public entity that has a single reportable segment provide all the disclosures required by the amendments in this ASU and all existing segment
disclosures in Topic 280. Additionally, this ASU requires disclosures of significant segment expenses provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM")
and included in reported measures of segment profit and loss. Disclosure of the title and position of the CODM is required. This ASU requires interim and annual
disclosures about a reportable segment's profit or loss and assets. Furthermore, this ASU requires disclosure of other segment items by reportable segment
including a description of its composition. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, on a retrospective basis. We adopted ASU 2023-07 in 2024. See below I. Segment reporting and Note 8. Significant segment
expenses for additional information.

Other new accounting standards or accounting standards updates were assessed and determined to be either not applicable or did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements or processes.

Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures to improve the transparency of income
tax disclosures by amending the required rate reconciliation disclosures as well as requiring disclosure of income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. As
amended, the rate reconciliation disclosure will be required to be presented in both percentages and reporting currency amounts, with consistent categories and
greater disaggregation of information. This ASU also includes amendments intended to improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures and eliminate certain
existing disclosure requirements related to uncertain tax positions and unrecognized deferred tax liabilities. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2024 and should be applied prospectively. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU to our notes to
the consolidated financial statements and processes.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-
40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses to improve financial reporting by requiring that public business entities disclose additional information about
specific expense categories in the notes to financial statements at interim and annual reporting periods. The amendments in this ASU do not change or remove
current expense disclosure requirements; however, the amendments affect where such information appears in the notes to financial statements because entities are
required to include certain current disclosures in the same tabular format disclosure as the other disaggregation requirements in the amendments. In January 2025,
the FASB issued ASU 225-01, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Clarifying the
Effective Date. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods within annual reporting
period beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU to our notes to the
consolidated financial statements and processes.

Other recently issued accounting standards not yet adopted by us are not expected, upon adoption, to have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

C. Estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates in our consolidated financial statements relate to clinical trial costs and accruals,
classification of warrants as derivative liability or equity, and the fair value of stock-based compensation and warrants. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in reported results in the period in which they
become known.

D. Cash

We maintain cash at financial institutions that at times may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured limits of $0.25 million per bank.
Our cash balance includes liquid insured deposits, which are obligations of the banks in which the deposits are held and qualify for FDIC insurance protection per
depositor in each recognized legal category of account ownership in accordance with the rules of the FDIC. To date, we have not experienced any losses related to
these funds.



MetaVia Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

E. Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and reduced by accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is recognized over the estimated useful lives of the
assets using the straight-line method. The estimated useful life for property and equipment ranges from three to five years. Tangible assets acquired for R&D
activities and that have an alternative use are capitalized over the useful life of the acquired asset. Estimated useful lives are periodically reviewed, and when
appropriate, changes are made prospectively. When certain events or changes in operating conditions occur, asset lives may be adjusted and an impairment
assessment may be performed on the recoverability of the carrying amounts. Maintenance and repairs are charged directly to expense as incurred.

F. Leases

We assess our contracts at inception to determine whether the contract contains a lease, including evaluation of whether the contract conveys the right to control
an explicitly or implicitly identified asset for a period of time. We have recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities that represent the net present value of
future operating lease payments utilizing a discount rate corresponding to our incremental borrowing rate and amortized over the remaining terms of the leases.
For operating leases of a short-term nature, i.e., those with a term of less than twelve months, we recognize lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the remaining lease term.

G. Warrant liabilities

Warrants are accounted for as liabilities at their fair value if equity accounting treatment is precluded due to provisions existing within the warrant agreements.
The change in fair value of the warrant liabilities is recognized as a fair value change in warrant liabilities in the consolidated statements of operations and as an
operating item in the statement of cash flows. Additionally, issuance costs associated with warrants initially classified as liabilities are expensed as incurred and
reflected as financing costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

H. Fair value of financial instruments

Our financial instruments principally include cash, prepaid expenses, right of use assets, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, lease liabilities and warrant
liabilities. The carrying amounts of cash, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair
value because of the short maturity of these items.

I. Segment reporting

We manage and operate as one reportable segment, which is principally the business of development of pharmaceutical products, with one geographic location.
We do not operate separate lines of business with respect each pharmaceutical product being studied in a clinical environment, and we do not prepare discrete
financial information with respect to our pharmaceutical products. Our CODM is our chief executive officer. The measure of performance used by the CODM to
assess segment performance is reported on the consolidated statements of operations as loss from operations and net loss. Since the Company only have one
reportable segment, our CODM does not need to decide on how to allocate resources between segments. The measure of segment assets is reported on the
consolidated balance sheets as total assets.

J. Research and development costs

R&D expenditures for clinical development, including upfront licensing fees and milestone payments associated with products that have not yet been approved by
the United States Food and Drug Administration, are charged to R&D expense as incurred. These expenses consist of costs incurred in performing development
activities, including salaries and benefits, equity-based compensation expense, preclinical expenses, clinical trial and related clinical manufacturing expenses,
contract services and other outside expenses.

Expenses incurred for certain R&D activities, including expenses associated with particular activities performed by contract research organizations, investigative
sites in connection with clinical trials and contract manufacturing organizations, are recognized based on an evaluation of the progress or completion of specific
tasks using either time-based measures or data such as information provided to us by our vendors on actual activities completed or costs incurred. Payments for
these activities are based on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may differ from the pattern of expense recognition. Expenses for R&D activities
incurred that have yet to be invoiced by the vendors that perform the related activities are reflected as clinical trial accrued liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. Advance payments, if any, for goods or services to be received in the future for R&D activities are deferred and capitalized as
prepaid expenses and other current assets in the



MetaVia Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The capitalized amounts are expensed as the related goods are delivered or the services are performed.
K. Acquired in-process research and development

We include costs to acquire or in-license product candidates in acquired in-process R&D (“IPR&D”). When we acquire the right to develop and commercialize a
new product candidate, any up-front payments, or any future milestone payments that relate to the acquisition or licensing of such a right are immediately
expensed as acquired IPR&D in the period in which they are incurred. These costs are immediately expensed provided that the payments do not also represent
processes or activities that would constitute a “business” as defined under GAAP, or provided that the product candidate has not achieved regulatory approval for
marketing and absent obtaining such approval, has no alternative future use. Royalties owed on future sales of any licensed product will be expensed in the period
the related revenues are recognized.

L. General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs, including salaries and stock-based compensation costs, for personnel in
functions not directly associated with R&D activities. Other significant costs include legal fees related to intellectual property and corporate matters and
professional fees for accounting and other services.

M. Patent costs

Costs related to filing and pursuing patent applications are expensed as incurred, as recoverability of such expenditures is uncertain. These costs are included in
general and administrative expenses.

N. Stock-based compensation

Compensation costs related to equity instruments granted are recognized at the grant-date fair value, which is amortized as compensation expense on a straight-
line basis over the requisite service period (generally, the vesting period) for both graded and cliff vesting awards. We have elected to account for forfeitures as
they occur.

O. Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and
operating loss and income tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
income tax rates is recorded as a component of the income tax provision in the period that includes the enactment date.

Regular assessments are made on the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from our future taxable income. Our evaluation is based on
estimates, assumptions, and includes an analysis of available positive and negative evidence, giving weight based on the evidence’s relative objectivity. Sources of
positive evidence include estimates of future taxable income, future reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, taxable income in carryback years, and
available tax planning strategies. Sources of negative evidence include current and cumulative losses in recent years, losses expected in early future years, any
history of operating losses or tax credit carryforwards expiring unused, and unsettled circumstances that, if unfavorably resolved, would adversely affect future
profit levels.

The remaining carrying value of our deferred tax assets, after recording the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets, is based on our present belief that it is
more likely than not that we will be able to generate sufficient future taxable income to utilize such deferred tax assets. The amount of the remaining deferred tax
assets considered recoverable could be adjusted if our estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period change favorably or unfavorably. To the
extent we believe that it is more likely than not that some or all the remaining deferred tax assets will not be realized, we must establish a valuation allowance
against those deferred tax assets, resulting in additional income tax expense in the period such determination is made. To the extent a valuation allowance
currently exists, we will continue to monitor all positive and negative evidence until we believe it is more likely than not that it is no longer necessary, resulting in
an income tax benefit in the period such determination is made.

Our policy is to recognize both interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of the income tax provision. A significant judgment is required in
evaluating our tax positions, and in determining our provisions for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded
against our net deferred tax assets. We establish reserves when,



MetaVia Inc.
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despite our belief that the income tax return positions are fully supportable, certain positions are likely to be challenged and we may ultimately not prevail in
defending those positions.

P. Foreign currency translation

Our foreign subsidiary, dissolved and liquidated in June 2023, used the South Korean Won (KRW) as its functional currency. We translated the assets and
liabilities of our foreign operation into United States (“U.S.”) dollars based on the rates of exchange in effect as of the transaction date. The resulting adjustments
from the translation process are included in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Certain transactions are settled in foreign currency and are thus translated to U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the end of each month. Gains and
losses resulting from the translation are included in other income or expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Q. Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and other comprehensive income or loss. Comprehensive loss includes net loss as well as other changes in
stockholders' equity that result from transactions and economic events other than those with stockholders. Comprehensive loss currently consists of net loss and
changes in foreign currency translation adjustments.

R. Loss per share of common stock

Basic earnings or loss per share of common stock is computed by dividing net income or loss available to stockholders of common stock by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock. Diluted earnings per share of common stock is computed by dividing net income or loss available to stockholders of common
stock by the sum of the weighted average number of shares of common stock and the number of additional shares of common stock that would have been
outstanding if our outstanding potentially dilutive securities had been issued. Potentially dilutive securities include convertible preferred stock, outstanding stock
options, non-vested restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and outstanding warrants. The dilutive effect of potentially dilutive securities is reflected in diluted earnings
per share of common stock by application of the treasury stock method, except if its impact is anti-dilutive. Under the treasury stock method, an increase in the
fair market value of our common stock can result in a greater dilutive effect from potentially dilutive securities. For additional information, see Note 10. Loss per
share of common stock.

S. Concentrations
Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist of cash. As of December 31, 2024, our cash is held by one financial
institution in the U.S., and we believe that the financial institution is financially sound. Accordingly, minimal credit risk exists with the financial institution.

Supplier Risk

In 2022, we entered into an exclusive license agreement (the “2022 License Agreement”) with Dong-A ST Co., Ltd. (“Dong-A”), a related party, which requires
Dong-A to be the sole manufacturer for the production of DA-1241 and DA-1726. If any issues arise in the manufacturing and we are unable to arrange for
alternative third-party manufacturing sources, or unable to find an alternative third party capable of reproducing the existing manufacturing method or unable to
do so on commercially reasonable terms or in a timely manner, we may not be able to complete the development of DA-1241 or DA-1726.

T. Loss contingencies

In determining whether an accrual for a loss contingency is required, we first assess the likelihood of occurrence of the future event or events that will confirm the
loss. When a loss is probable (the future event or events are likely to occur) and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, the estimated loss is accrued.
If the reasonable estimate of the loss is a range and an amount within the range appears to be a better estimate than any other amount within the range, that amount
should be accrued. However, if no amount within the range is a better estimate, the minimum amount in the range should be accrued.

When a loss is reasonably possible (the chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less than likely), no accrual is recognized.
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U. Reclassification of prior year presentation

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. Adjustments have been made to the consolidated balance
sheets to reclassify the presentation of certain current liabilities related to clinical trial accrued liabilities of $3.0 million and related party payable of $0.8 million
from accrued expenses and other current liabilities. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported total current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

2. Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2024 2023
Insurance $ 5 $ —
Deposits 16 39
Other prepaid expenses 34 38
Total $ 55 $ 77
3. Property and equipment, net
Property and equipment, net consist of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2024 2023
Office equipment $ 88 $ 80
Less accumulated depreciation (54) (34)
Property and equipment, net $ 34 $ 46

We recorded depreciation expense of $20 thousand and $6 thousand for 2024 and 2023, respectively, which was included in general and administrative operating
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

4. Current liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2024 2023
Employee related costs $ 713 $ 118
Professional service fees 17 308
Other 55 166
Total $ 785 $ 592
Warrant liabilities
Changes to our warrant liabilities are summarized as follows (in thousands):
Total
As of January 1, 2023 $ 10,796
Reclassification of warrant liabilities upon exercise of warrants (7,183)
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (2,955)
As of December 31, 2023 658
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (297)
As of December 31, 2024 $ 361

Our warrant liabilities relate to the 2022 Series A warrants and 2022 Series B warrants, both of which were issued in November 2022. These warrants are
considered to be derivative instruments; accordingly, we recorded their estimated fair value as warrant
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liabilities. We estimated the fair value of these warrants using the trading market price of our common stock due to a cashless exercise provision of these warrants
whereby eight warrants can be exercised for one share of common stock for no additional consideration, which results in the warrant exercise price to be zero.

5. Related party
License agreement with Dong-A for DA-1241 and DA-1726

In September 2022, we entered into the 2022 License Agreement with Dong-A pursuant to which we received an exclusive global license (except for the territory
of the Republic of Korea) for two proprietary compounds for specified indications upon meeting certain financing milestones. The 2022 License Agreement
covers the rights to DA-1241 for treatment of MASH and DA-1726 for treatment of obesity and MASH. The 2022 License Agreement also provides that we may
develop DA-1241 for the treatment of T2DM.

In connection with the 2022 License Agreement, we entered into a shared services agreement with Dong-A (the “Shared Services Agreement”), relating to DA-
1241 and DA-1726, pursuant to which Dong-A may provide technical support, preclinical development, and clinical trial support services on terms and conditions
acceptable to both parties. In addition, the Shared Services Agreement provides that Dong-A will manufacture all of our clinical requirements of DA-1241 and
DA-1726 under the terms provided in the Shared Services Agreement.

Under the terms of the 2022 License Agreement, we had previously expensed $8.2 million of IPR&D in 2022 as the 2022 License Agreement did not include any
processes or activities constituting a “business” acquired since none of the rights underlying the Dong-A License Agreement had alternative future uses or had
reached a stage of technological feasibility. Also, Dong-A will be eligible to receive (i) regulatory milestone payments of up to $178 million for DA-1726 and
$138 million for DA-1241, dependent upon the achievement of specific regulatory developments; (ii) commercial-based milestone payments, dependent upon the
achievement of specific commercial developments; and (iii) single digit royalties on net sales received by us from the commercial sale of products covering DA-
1241 or DA-1726. The term of the 2022 License Agreement continues on a product-by-product and country-by country basis until the later of (i) the fifth
anniversary of the first commercial sale of such product in such country, (ii) the expiration or termination of the last valid patent claim that covers a product in
such country and (iii) the loss of regulatory exclusivity for such product in such jurisdiction. Either Dong-A or MetaVia may terminate the 2022 License
Agreement (i) if the other party is in material breach of the agreement and has not cured or started to cure the breach within 60 days of notice of such breach;
provided that if the breach cannot be cured within the 60-day period and the breaching party started to remedy the breach, if such breach is not cured within 90
days of receipt of written notice, or (ii) if the other party is subject to a bankruptcy or insolvency event (subject to a 30-day cure period in the case of a petition for
bankruptcy).

As of December 31, 2024, there were no potential milestones under the 2022 License Agreement that were yet considered probable; therefore, no liabilities were
recorded.

As of December 31, 2024, Dong-A owns approximately 62% of our outstanding common stock.
Shared services agreement with Dong-A

In September 2022, in conjunction with the 2022 License Agreement, we entered into the Shared Services Agreement with Dong-A, relating to DA-1241 and DA-
1726. The Shared Services Agreement provides that Dong-A may provide technical support, preclinical development, and clinical trial support services on terms
and conditions acceptable to both parties. In addition, the Shared Services Agreement provides that Dong-A will manufacture all of our clinical requirements of
DA-1241 and DA-1726 under the terms provided in the Shared Services Agreement.

Either party may terminate the Shared Services Agreement for the other party’s material breach that is not cured within 30 days of notice. Dong-A may also
terminate the Shared Services Agreement in part on a service-by-service or product-by-product basis upon a breach by us which is not cured within 30 days.

We incurred R&D expenses of $4.9 million and $2.4 million for 2024 and 2023, respectively, under the Shared Services Agreement, which are included in
operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we have amounts payable to Dong-A of $1.5
million and $0.8 million, respectively, under the Shared Services Agreement, which is included in related party payable in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. We did not incur any expenses or liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement in 2022.
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License agreement with Dong-A for NB-01 (a legacy therapeutic program)

In January 2018, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Dong-A, (the “2018 License Agreement”) which agreement was amended in April 2018 and
July 2019. Under the terms of the 2018 License Agreement, we obtained an exclusive, royalty-bearing, worldwide (except for the Republic of Korea) license to
make, use, offer to sell, sell and import products covered by certain Dong-A intellectual property rights in its proprietary compound designated as DA-9801 (NB-
01). Our license rights cover any and all applications and markets for the therapeutic, health, nutrition or well-being of humans. We may grant sublicenses to any
affiliate or third party. We are responsible for all future patent prosecution costs.

6. Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease

In August 2023, we entered into a non-cancelable operating lease for our corporate headquarters in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The initial lease term is for three
years with an option to renew for an additional two-year term. The lease commenced in September 2023 and expires in August 2026. We recorded lease rental
expenses of $0.1 million and $29 thousand for 2024 and 2023, respectively, and made lease cash payments of $0.1 million and $28 thousand for 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

The following table reconciles the undiscounted lease liabilities to the total lease liabilities recognized on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024
(in thousands):

Operating
Lease

2025 $ 89
2026 60
Total lease payments 149
Less effect of discounting (13)

Total 136
Short-term portion 78
Long-term portion $ 58

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our lease liability, which represents the net present value of future lease payments, was calculated utilizing a discount rate of
11%, which corresponds to our estimated incremental borrowing rate.

Additionally, in January 2024, we terminated a short-term operating lease for our former corporate headquarters located in Boston, Massachusetts. There were no
lease rental expense or lease cash payment for 2024 for our former corporate headquarters and we recorded a lease rental expense and made lease cash payments
of $22 thousand for 2023.

Contingent payments and license agreements

We have certain contractual contingent payments under various merger or license agreements executed between 2019 and 2020 for our legacy therapeutic
programs. Since we have discontinued the clinical development of our legacy therapeutic programs, we believe any contractual payments to be paid by us or to
be received by us under these agreements are remote. Therefore, as of December 31, 2024, no liabilities or assets were recorded in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for our legacy therapeutic programs.

Legal proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising out of our ordinary course of business. We are not currently a party to any
claims or legal proceedings that, in the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial
statements. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources
and other factors.

Purchase commitments

We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with various third parties for clinical trials, preclinical research studies, and testing, manufacturing, and
other services and products for operating purposes. These contracts provide for termination upon notice. Payments due upon cancellation generally consist only of
payments for services provided or expenses incurred, including non-cancellable obligations of our service providers, up to the date of cancellation. There are no
minimum purchase requirements under these contracts.
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Employment agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executives that provide for compensation and certain other benefits. Under certain
circumstances, including a change in control, some of these agreements provide for severance or other payments, if those circumstances occur during the term of
the employment agreement.

Employee benefit plan

We adopted a 401(k) defined contribution plan in November 2018, which became effective in January 2019, for all employees over age 21. Employees can defer
up to 90% of their compensation through payroll withholdings into the plan subject to federal law limits. Discretionary employer matches vest over a six-year
period beginning on the second anniversary of an employee’s date of hire. Employee contributions and any employer matching contributions made to satisfy
certain non-discrimination tests required by the Internal Revenue Code are 100% vested upon contribution. No matching contributions were made for 2024 and
2023.

7. Stockholders’ equity
Common stock

The voting, dividend, and liquidation rights of the holders of the common stock are subject to and qualified by the rights, powers, and preferences of the holders
of the preferred stock when outstanding. The holders of the common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held at all meetings of
stockholders. Common stockholders are entitled to receive dividends at the sole discretion of our Board. There have been no dividends declared on common stock
to date as of December 31, 2024. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of MetaVia, the holders of common stock shall be entitled to share in
the remaining assets of MetaVia available for distribution post preferential distributions made to any holders of our preferred stock.

The Offering
Securities purchase agreements

In June 2024, we entered into and closed on two securities purchase agreements (the “Offering”) with an institutional investor and Dong-A, and received
aggregate gross proceeds of $20.0 million, of which $10.0 million was received from Dong-A. The Offering was comprised of (i) 3,307,889 shares of common
stock at a purchase price of $3.93 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 1,781,171 shares of common (the “Pre-Funded Warrants™) at a purchase
price of $3.929 per warrant, (iii) Series A warrants to purchase 5,089,060 shares of common stock (the “Series A Warrants”), and (iv) Series B warrants to
purchase up to 7,633,591 shares of common stock (the “Series B Warrants”). Collectively, the Series A Warrants and the Series B Warrants are referred to as
“PIPE Common Warrants.” Of the total shares of common stock issued in the Offering, 763,359 shares were sold to an institutional investor.

The Pre-Funded Warrants have an exercise price of $0.001 per share and are immediately exercisable and will expire when exercised in full and the PIPE
Common Warrants have an exercise price of $3.93 per share and are exercisable as of September 18, 2024, which is the effective date of the stockholder approval
received at the Special Meeting of Stockholders for the issuance of the shares upon exercise of the warrants (the “Stockholder Approval Date”).

The Series A Warrants will expire on the earlier of the twelve month anniversary of the Stockholder Approval Date and within 60 days following the public
announcement of the Company receiving positive Phase 1 multiple ascending dose (“MAD”) data readout for DA-1726, and the Series B Warrants will expire on
the earlier of the five-year anniversary of the Stockholder Approval Date and within six months following the public announcement of the Company receiving
positive Phase 1 Part 3 data readout for DA-1726. Based on the terms of the PIPE Common Warrants, we have concluded that the accounting classification of the
PIPE Common Warrants is to be stockholders’ equity.

Under the terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants and the PIPE Common Warrants issued to the institutional investor, we may not affect the exercise of any such Pre-
Funded Warrants or PIPE Common Warrants, and the holder will not be entitled to exercise any portion of any Pre-Funded Warrants or PIPE Common Warrants,
if, upon giving effect to such exercise, the aggregate number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by the holder (together with its affiliates, other
persons acting or who could be deemed to be acting as a group together with the holder or any of the holder’s affiliates, and any other persons whose beneficial
ownership of common stock would or could be aggregated with the holder’s or any of the holder’s affiliates) would exceed 9.99% (in the case of the Pre-Funded
Warrants) or 4.99% (in the case of the PIPE Common Warrants) of the number of shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock immediately after giving
effect to the exercise (the “Beneficial
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Ownership Limitation”), as such percentage ownership is calculated in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and the applicable regulations of the
SEC. A holder of the Pre-Funded Warrants or PIPE Common Warrants that were issued to the institutional investor may increase or decrease the Beneficial
Ownership Limitation to a higher or lower percentage (not to exceed 9.99%), effective 61 days after written notice to us. Any such increase or decrease will apply
only to that holder and not to any other holder of the Pre-Funded Warrants or PIPE Common Warrants.

Placement agent

We paid the placement agent a cash fee equal to 7.0% of the gross proceeds of the Offering received from a certain institutional investor and $0.1 million for non-
accountable expenses and clearing costs. In addition, we issued warrants to the placement agent’s designees (“Placement Agent Warrants”) to purchase up
to 127,227 shares of common stock (which represents 5% of the sum of the shares of common stock and Pre-Funded Warrants sold to the institutional investor in
the Offering) at an exercise price of $4.9125 per share (which represents a premium of 125% of the offering price per share of common stock in the Offering). The
Placement Agent Warrants will be exercisable beginning on the effective date of the Stockholder Approval Date and will expire on the earlier of (i) two years after
the date that the shares of common stock underlying the Placement Agent Warrants are registered pursuant to an effective registration statement filed pursuant to
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which occurred on July 24, 2024, and (ii) June 23, 2029. The grant date fair value of the Placement Agent Warrants
was $0.3 million, which represents a non-cash issuance cost. The weighted average grant date fair value per share of these Placement Agent Warrants was $2.73,
which was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Based on the terms of the Placement Agreement Warrants, we have concluded that the
accounting classification of the Placement Agent Warrants is stockholders’ equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Upon the exercise for cash of any PIPE Common Warrants issued to a certain institutional investor, we shall pay the placement agent (i) a cash fee of 7.0% of the
aggregate gross exercise price paid in cash with respect thereto and (ii) a non-cash fee in the form of additional warrants to purchase the number of shares of
common stock equal to 5.0% of the aggregate number of such shares of common stock underlying such warrants. The cash fee payable to the placement agent for
any PIPE Common Warrants exercised by the institutional investor is accounted for as a contingent commitment and will be recorded as an offset to any gross
proceeds received from any future exercises of PIPE Common Warrants by the institutional investor. The non-cash fee payable to the placement agent for any
PIPE Common Warrants exercised by the institutional investor is accounted for as contingent warrants (“Placement Agent Contingent Warrants”) to purchase up
to 318,067 shares of common stock, which is subject to performance criteria of the institutional investor regarding any exercise for cash of any PIPE Common
Warrants with an assumed grant date of the Offering closing date, and an exercise price of $4.9125 per share. The weighted average grant date fair value per share
of these Placement Agent Contingent Warrants was $3.43, which was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Based on the terms of the
placement agent engagement letter, we have concluded that the accounting classification of the Placement Agent Contingent Warrants is to be stockholders’
equity. On each balance sheet reporting date, we will need to assess whether it is probable for us to issue warrants to the placement agent based on whether it is
probable for any PIPE Common Warrants to be exercised by the institutional investor. As of December 31, 2024, we determined that the issuance of additional
warrants to the placement agent is not yet probable; accordingly, the Placement Agent Contingent Warrants had no impact on the consolidated balance sheets.

Warrants
The following warrants were outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Shares of Common Stock Issuable
for Outstanding Warrants

As of December 31, Exercise Expiration
Warrant Issuance 2024 2023 Price Date
July 2018 6 6 $  44,820.00 July 2028
April 2020 (D 159 159 $ 3,000.00 April 2025
January 2021 () 10,421 10,421  § 1,447.20 July 2026
October 2021 () 15,390 15390 § 900.00 April 2025
November 2022 Series B @ 177,938 177,938  $ 0.00 December 2027
June 2024 Placement Agent ®) 127,227 — S 4.91 July 2026
June 2024 Pre-Funded (9 1,430,000 — 0.00 no expiration date
June 2024 Series A () 5,089,060 — S 3.93 September 2025 (latest date)
June 2024 Series B ©) 7,633,591 — 3 3.93 September 2029 (latest date)
Total 14,483,792 203,914
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(1) The number of outstanding and exercisable warrants is equal to the number of shares of common stock issuable for outstanding warrants.

() The number of outstanding and exercisable warrants of 1,423,504 represent eight times the number of shares of common stock issuable for these warrants.
These warrants have a cashless exercise provision whereby eight warrants can be exercised for one share of common stock for no additional consideration,
which renders the $3.00 per warrant exercise price to be zero. In 2023, 6,843,666 Series B warrants issued in November 2022 were exercised for 855,458
shares of our common stock.

() These warrants are exercisable at any time from the Stockholder Approval Date and expire two years after a resale registration statement covering the shares
of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the warrants hereunder becomes effective with the SEC. In July 2024, a resale registration statement was
filed with the SEC and became effective.

(4 These warrants are exercisable immediately upon their issuance in June 2024 and are considered to be perpetual warrants without any expiration date.
Additionally, in the third quarter of 2024, 351,171 Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised for an equivalent number of shares of our common stock.

(5)  These warrants are exercisable at any time from the Stockholder Approval Date and expire earlier of (i) the twelve months anniversary of the Stockholder
Approval Date, and (ii) the 60th day following the date on which the Company publicly announces the receiving of positive Phase 1 MAD data readout for
DA-1726.

(©)  These warrants are exercisable at any time from the Stockholder Approval Date and expire on the earlier of (i) the five-year anniversary of the Stockholder
Approval Date and (ii) the six months anniversary following the date on which the Company publicly announce the receiving of positive Phase 1, Part 3 data
readout for DA-1726.

Additionally, on a cashless basis, 6,768,837 Series A warrants issued in November 2022 were exercised in 2023 for 846,105 shares of our common stock. As of
December 31, 2023, all Series A warrants were fully exercised for shares of our common stock.

Stock-based compensation

Stock-based compensation expense was included in general and administrative and research and development as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
General and administrative $ 366 $ 178
Research and development 172 44
Total stock-based compensation $ 538 $ 222

Stock-based award plans

In December 2019, in connection with a merger, we adopted the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan™). Additionally, we adopted the 2021 Inducement
Plan in November 2021 and the Amended and Restated 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”) in December 2022. The 2019 Plan, 2021 Inducement Plan
and 2022 Plan provide for the grant of stock options, restricted stock, RSUs and other equity awards of our common stock to employees, officers, consultants, and
directors. Stock options granted under any of these plans expire within a period of not more than ten years from the date of grant.

With the adoption of the 2022 Plan, no additional shares may be added to or granted from the 2019 Plan, and any shares related to forfeited awards are carryover
to the 2022 Plan. In June 2024, in connection with the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, our stockholders approved an amendment (the “Amendment”) to
our 2022 Plan. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Amendment, the 2022 Plan was amended to:

e automatically increase on January 1st of each year for a period of eight years commencing on January 1, 2025 and ending on (and including) January 1,
2032, the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards (as defined in the 2022 Plan) to an amount equal to 10%
of the Fully Diluted Shares (as defined in the 2022 Plan) as of the last day of the preceding calendar year, provided, however that the Board may act
prior to the effective date of any such annual increase to provide that the increase for such year will be a lesser number of shares of common stock; and

e increase the aggregate maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of
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Incentive Stock Options (as defined in the 2022 Plan) to 1 million shares of the common stock plus the amount of any increase in the number of shares
that may be available for issuance pursuant to the annual increase described above, but in no event more than 15 million shares of the common stock
issued as incentive stock options.

The following table summarizes the outstanding awards issued pursuant to our stock-based award plans and inducement grants as of December 31, 2024 and the
remaining shares of common stock available for future issuance:

Remaining shares of

Stock common stock available
Plan Name Options RSUs for future issuance
2019 Plan 1,575 — —
2022 Plan 3,125 175,086 356,992
2021 Inducement Plan — — 4,166
Total 4,700 175,086 361,158

For stock options and RSUs granted under the 2019 Plan and 2022 Plan as of December 31, 2024, unrecognized stock-based compensation costs totaled $0.6
million. The unrecognized stock-based costs are expected to be recognized as an expense over a weighted average period of 1.7 years.

RSUs

The following table summarizes the status of our RSUs and related transactions for the period presented (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Outstanding Vested and Deferred Release
Shares of Average Shares of Average
Common Stock Grant Date Aggregate Common Stock Grant Date Aggregate
Issuable Fair Value Fair Issuable Fair Value Intrinsic
for RSUs Price Value for RSUs Price Value
As of January 1, 2023 — 3 — 9 — — — —
Granted 173,395 4.45
Forfeited/cancelled (7,032) 4.04
Vested and released (25,002) 3.99 100
Vested and deferred release 5,469 4.02
As of December 31, 2023 141,361 4.55 523 5,469 4.02 20
Granted 120,129 4.56
Vested and released (86,404) 431 284
Vested and deferred release 7,554 4.44
As of December 31, 2024 175,086 $ 4.68 $ 355 13,023 § 426 $ 26

Stock options

The following table summarizes the status of our outstanding and exercisable options and related transactions for the period presented (in thousands, except share
and per share amounts):

Outstanding Exercisable
Shares of Weighted Shares of Weighted
Common Weighted Average Common Weighted Average
Stock Average Remaining Stock Average Remaining
Issuable Exercise Contractual Issuable Exercise Contractual
for Options Price Term (years) for Options Price Term (years)
As of January 1, 2023 4,560 $ 796.96 8.5 2,238 $ 1,173.60 8.1
Granted 3,125 5.36
Forfeited and cancelled (2,985) 596.32
As of December 31, 2023 4,700 398.30 8.6 4,577 391.04 8.6
As of December 31, 2024 4,700 $ 398.30 7.5 4,695 $ 398.46 7.5

The aggregate intrinsic value of our outstanding and exercisable options was zero as of January 1, 2023 and December 31,
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2023 and 2024.

Grant date fair value of RSUs, stock options and warrants

We estimated the grant date fair value of RSUs granted to employees, consultants, and directors based on the closing sales price of our common stock as reported
on Nasdaq on the date of grant. We estimated the grant date fair value of stock options and warrants granted to employees, consultants, and directors using the

Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The following table sets forth the fair value per share of Placement Agent Warrants granted in 2024 and the weighted average fair value per share of stock options

granted in 2023 and the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model:

Placement Agent

Contingent Stock
Warrants Warrants Options
Granted in Granted in Granted in
June 2024 June 2024 March 2023
Weighted average fair value $ 2.73 3.43 3.63
Expected stock price volatility 140.0 % 127.0 % 82.9 %
Expected term (years) 2.1 5.7 5.0
Expected dividend yield — % — % — %
Risk-free interest rate 4.63 % 431 % 3.54 %
8. Significant segment expenses
The following table sets forth the significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to our CODM:
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Operating expenses
Research and development
Clinical trial 14,441 5,100
Costs under the Shared Services Agreement with Dong-A (related
party) 4,930 2,438
Employee compensation and benefits 1,606 461
Consulting 288 483
Other (D 288 676
Total research and development 21,553 9,158
General and administrative
Legal and professional fees 2,864 3,007
Consulting 1,533 1,961
Employee compensation and benefits 1,659 620
Other @ 1,200 1,140
Total general and administrative 7,256 6,728
Total operating expenses $ 28,809 $ 15,886
(1) Other R&D expenses include non-clinical and preclinical services and other R&D expenditures.
(2) Other G&A expenses include insurance, software license fees, non-income state taxes, lease rental expenses and other G&A expenditures.
9. Income taxes
Our loss before income taxes is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
United States $ (27,592) $ (12,468)
Foreign — 2)
Loss before income taxes $ (27,592) $ (12,470)
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The components of our income tax provision are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Income tax (benefit) expense:
Current

United States $ — $ —

Foreign — —
Total current income tax (benefit) expense — —
Deferred

United States (8,401) (3,424)

Foreign — 176
Total deferred income tax (benefit) expense (8,401) (3,248)
Change in valuation allowance - United States 8,401 3,424
Change in valuation allowance - Foreign — (176)
Provision for income taxes $ — $ —

Our effective tax rate for 2024 and 2023 was zero percent. A reconciliation between income tax computed at the statutory U.S. federal statutory rate and the
consolidated effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Income taxes at federal statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit 6.0 3.0
Change in state tax rate 2.5 (1.4)
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 0.3 5.7
Other 0.6 (0.8)
Valuation allowance (30.4) (27.5)
Effective tax rate — % — %
The significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2024 2023
Gross deferred income tax assets:
Federal and state operating loss carryforwards $ 4,959 $ 2,107
Acquired intangibles 3,000 2,803
Stock-based compensation 458 392
Lease liability 37 49
Capitalized R&D expenses 7,516 2,315
Other 118 34
R&D credit carryforwards 26 26
Total gross deferred income tax assets 16,114 7,726
Valuation allowance - U.S. federal (16,077) (7,676)
Gross deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 37 50
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
ROU asset (36) (49)
Other [€)) [@))
Gross deferred income tax liabilities (37) (50)
Deferred income tax assets, net $ — $ —

The realization of our deferred income tax assets is primarily dependent upon future taxable income, if any, and such income is uncertain in both amount and
timing. We have had significant pre-tax losses since our inception, and we have not yet generated revenues and face significant challenges to becoming profitable.
Accordingly, we have recorded a valuation allowance of $16.1 million and $7.7 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. U.S. federal deferred
income tax assets will continue to require a valuation allowance until we can demonstrate their realizability through sustained profitability or another source of
income.

F-21



MetaVia Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our U.S. federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards were $18.5 million and $8.8 million, respectively. We had $24
thousand of U.S. federal R&D credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had state NOL carryforwards of
$17.4 million and $4.4 million. We had $2 thousand of state R&D credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Since our U.S. federal net operating
losses were incurred after December 31, 2017, our U.S NOL will not expire. Our state NOL and U.S federal and R&D credit carryforwards will begin to expire in
2042, if not utilized. Lastly, since the foreign subsidiary that generated the foreign losses was dissolved and liquidated in June 2023, the recorded value of foreign
NOL and related deferred tax asset have been reduced to zero as of December 31, 2023.

Our ability to utilize our NOL and R&D credit carryforwards have been and may be substantially limited due to the ownership changes that have occurred or that
could occur in the future, as provided by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), and similar state provisions. These
ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL and R&D credit carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively.
In general, an “ownership change,” as defined by Section 382 of the Code, results from a transaction or series of transactions over a three-year period resulting in
an ownership change of more than 50 percent of the outstanding stock of a company by certain stockholders or public groups.

We recognize interest and/or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. There were no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2024
and 2023, and as such, no interest or penalties were recorded to income tax expense.

Our U.S. corporate tax returns are subject to examination beginning with the 2019 tax year for U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, and beginning with the 2019
tax year for one foreign jurisdiction.

10. Loss per share of common stock

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share of common stock (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Numerator:
Net loss $ (27,592) $ (12,470)
Denominator:
Weighted average shares of common stock, basic 7,757,128 5,071,101
Effect of dilutive securities — —
Weighted average shares of common stock, diluted 7,757,128 5,071,101
Loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted $ (3.56) $ (2.46)

For each of the periods presented in the above table, our basic weighted average shares of common stock include any outstanding (i) November 2022 Series A
warrants, (ii) November 2022 Series B warrants, (ii) June 2024 Pre-Funded Warrants and (iii) vested RSUs in which their release was deferred in accordance with
the respective award agreement during the respective period.

Since we reported a net loss for 2024 and 2023, our potentially dilutive securities are deemed to be anti-dilutive, accordingly, there was no effect of dilutive
securities. Therefore, our basic and diluted loss per share of common stock and our basic and diluted weighted average shares of common stock are the same for
2024 and 2023.

The following table sets forth the outstanding securities as of the periods presented which were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share of
common stock for 2024 and 2023:

As of December 31,

2024 2023
Stock options 4,700 4,700
RSUs 162,063 141,361
Warrants 12,875,854 25,976
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11. Fair value measurements

Fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity specific measurement and is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.” Fair value measurements are defined on a three-level hierarchy:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable,
whether directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect our own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability in
which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date.

The following table sets forth our financial assets and liabilities, subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis, by level within the fair value
hierarchy (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023
Description Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities:
Warrant liabilities $ 361 § — $ 361 § — $ 658 § — $ 658 8§ —
Total $ 361 $ — $ 361 § — $ 658 § — $ 658 $ —

We estimated the fair value of our warrant liabilities using the trading market price of our common stock due to a cashless exercise provision of these warrants
whereby eight warrants can be exercised for one share of common stock for no additional consideration, which results in the warrant exercise price to be zero.
Accordingly, our warrant liabilities were considered to be Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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